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Dear Shareholders,

2006 was a pivotal year for XM. Our financial metrics headed in the right direction as our revenues increased and marketing
costs declined, and we had positive cash flow from operations in the fourth quarter, although, as expected, we did have a
significant loss in 2006. The automeobile segment emerged as o key cofalyst for satellite radio’s future growth, validating XM's
early automotive-centric distribution strategy. XM is in an ideal position 1o take advantage of this frend through its relationships
with the nafion’s largest and fastest-growing automakers. And, of course, we announced the proposed merger with Sirius.

Merger Agreement with Sirius: The satellite radio indusiry took @ major step forward an February 19, 2007 when we
announced that XM had signed an agreement to merge with Sirius in a 513 billion merger of equals. '

" The combined company will become the nation’s premier provider of audio entertainment. it will be abte fo offer more value to
consumers by creating on even greater portfolio of programming choices and technologicat innovation. the merger will also
create o combination with the long-term financial strength to compete more effectively against the meny existing end emerging
competitors in the gudio entertainment market.

The companies wifl be merged in G tax-free, all-stock merger. Under the terms of the agreement, XM shareholders will receive
a fixed exchange ratio of 4.6 shares of Sirius commean stock for each share of XM they own, XM and Sirius shareholders will
each own approximately 50 percent of the combined company.

We are now working 1o secure the necessary regulatery approval to cemplete the process, but we cannot assure you that the
merger can be successfully completed. We currently expect to accomplish the merger by the end of this year.

We wan! to emphasize that XM ond Sirius today continue to operate as separate businesses, and will continue fo do so until th
merger is completed, XM customers will continue to receive our great programming after the merger. Indeed, ofter the merger,
existing XM radios wiil be able fo receive a mix of programming from both services.

While we are excited about the merger and the synergies it will create, we stili have a billion-dollar business to run and o
responsibility to deliver the strongest financial results we can. This report focuses on XM and the company’s financials for the
calendar year 2006.

Revenue and Subscriber Growth; Positive Cash Flow in Fourth Quarter: XM's 2006 revenue increased year over year by 67
percent to $933 million. For the first fime, XM exceeded the 51 billion revenue mark on an annualized basis. In the fourth quarte
of 2006, we generaled 543 million of positive cash flow from operations, our largest positive cash flow in any qudrier to date.
XM added over 3.8 million new gross subscribers in 2006 - the most gross subscriber additiens in satellite radie. We added
approximately 1.7 million new net subscribers in 2006 and ended the year with over 7.6 million subscribers.

Successful Balance Sheet Restructuring: XM successfully restructured its balance sheet in 2006. By leveraging the company’s
improving credit profile, we jransitioned fo a largely unsacured capital structure, reduced interest expense by refinancing the
debt issved earlier in the company's development, extended debt maturities and enhanced our liquidity position. The company
" established o secured $250 million revolving credit facility maturing in 2009 with a syndicate of blue chip banks and increased
the size of the credit facility with GM to 5150 million.

in February 2007, the company entered inlo a sale-leaseback of the transporders on the XM-4 satellite generating $288.3
million of net proceeds of which 544 million was used to retire outstanding merigages.

Automotive Segment Posts Record Customer Gains: XM has established strategic partnerships with Genera! Motors, Honda,
Toyota, Nissan, Hyundai and Porsche, which represent approximately 60 percent of the U.S. auto market. 2006 marked the firs
year that XM added more net new customers through its automotive pariners than at retail. XM had nearly 2.1 million OEM
gross additions and 884,000 net additions for the year. XM also expanded its penetration into a wider selection of more
maderately priced vehicles, a clear indication that XM has broad appeal across vehicle segments. GM, the world's largest
automaker and the leading automotive provider of sateliite radio, plans to build mere than 1.8 million vehicles with factory-
installed XM in 2007. XM’s recent fen-year contract extensions with Toyeta and Honda, among the fastest-growing car makers,
add to our momentum in the new car segment, Honda plans to equip more than 650,000 vehicles with faciory XM radios for
2007. Toyota is expected to produce more than cne million vehicles with factory-instolled XM radios annually by 2010
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Retail Strotegy Boosted by New Ad Campaign: XM continues to work at driving more subscriptions from thé retail segment.
Retail sales of aftermarket radios are a key companent in profitably growing XM subscribers. But the goal of growing retail
sales in 2006 was, of course, balanced with our goal of reaching positive cash flow in the fourth quarter. Withinew packaging
and merchandising, as well os XM’s new brand cdverfising, we made improvements in markeling our service and devices. In
fact our od compaign was named among the best ads of the year by USA Today and Adweek. While discount% were not as
steep as in previous years and the number of new radios sold was not as high as in 2005, our percentage of radio sales that
converfed inlo actual subscriptions increased in 2006, helping 1o improve our financial performance, as reflected in our lower
cost per gross additional subscriber. We added nearly 1.8 million retail gross subscribers and over 811,000 reu';il net
subscribers in 2006. This will be a key area of focus in 2007,

XM Expands Programming Choices and Data Services: The XM program lineup grew to more than 170 chahnels in 2006.
Oprah Winfrey [aunched the talk and lifestyle radio channel "Oproh & Friends.™ XM premiered Bob Dylan’s weekly show
“Theme Time Rodio Hour" to rave review and country legend Willie Nelson took the reins of XM's traditional cobmry music
channel "Willie's Place.” College sports fons celebraled as XM added Big East games in 2006 and SEC games that start in
2007. Meanwhile, XM data services gained in popularily as Lexus, Nissan, and Infiniti became the iatest outmlnakers to offer
the recl-time traffic navigation service XM NavTroffic® and XM unveiled plans to offer real-time weather trccki["lg for vehicles
and portable navigation devices.

New Satellite System Completed: XM began broadcasting through its XM-4 satellite (known as “Blues™ in D.:ecember 2006.
The combination of “Rhythm.,” the XM-3 satellite launched in February 2005, and “Blues” provides a solid foundation 1o deliver
o full complement of digital broadcasts for ot least the next 15 years.

In conclusien, XM’s balance sheet and liquidity were strongly enhanced in 2006, end our available funds sign‘ﬁconny
increased with the recent XM-4 sale-leaseback. Subscriber additions in the aufomotive channel are expected to grow as car-
makers ramp up production of XM-equipped vehicles, The retail segment remains important, and we are attacking it with
improved messaging focused on our strength in programming content.

While we look forward fo closing our merger with Sirius later this year, even without @ merger, XM is well positloned to be o
strong and enduring leader in the audio entertainment marketplace.

W

Gary Parsons Hugh Panero Nate Davis
Chairman CEOQ President & COO
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Exclusive Performances...Live Events...The Most Music

From the XM exclusive, ariginal music series to live concerts and events, XM continued to bring music fans the
very best in entertainment. Bob Dylan’s Theme Time Radio Hour premiered to fremendous critical-acclaim and
has quickly become appoiniment listening for XM subscribers from coast te coast. Artisf Confidential® XM's
signature concert and inferview series, showcased exclusive live performances and inferviews in the XM
Performance Theater by Sting, Ludacris, The Dixie Chicks, fohn Mayer, Pink Floyd’s David Gilmour, The Pretenders,
Natalie Cole, Andrea Bocelli, Art Garfunkel, Pink and many other important artists {rom every genre.

XM also created ariginal series hosted by Ludacris, Tom Petty, Wynton Marsalis, Quincy Jones, Chamillionaire,
Snoop Dogg and Graham Nash. And, as olways, XV went to where the music happened with live broadcasts
from The GRAMMY?® Awards, South By Southwest, Bonnaroo, Farm Aid, Willie's Nelson’s July 4th Picnic and
Mozart's 250th Birthday Commemoration Concert live from Salzburg, Austrig, plus a special salute to Black History
Month, With 69 commercial-free music channels, XM offers something for every music fan in the XM Nation.

ludecris notalie cote wynton marsalis
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THE GAME IS ON

Live Play-by-Play...Sports Talk...Exclusive Shows

XM aired over 5,000 live sporting events in 2006 on 42 dedicated Sports channels. XM is the exclusive satellite radio
home of Major teague Baseball? broadcasting every team and every game, plus our 24-hour MLB Home Plate™
channel for Baseball talk and news. We are aiso proud to feature National Hockey Leogue games, cmld wili become
1he exclusive satellite radio home for the NHL later this year, at the start of the 2007/2008 seoson. For'Golf fans, XM
has more PGA TOUR? pluy-by-play coverage than cny other brocdcaster, with live, on-site broadcasts from the first
round to the final hole.

XM is also the leader in college sports on the radio, bringing fans the Big Ten, Pac-10, ACC, Big East and the SEC.

And XM is the exclusive satellite radio heme for IndyCar® series racing, including the Indy 500" and U,S. Open®
Tennis. Plus, XM was proud to celebrate last summer’s FIFA° World Cup™ Soccer with coveroge in botthninsh and
Spanish, Including play-by-play by legendary soccer ennouncer Andrés Cantor. And XM launched o nlew, 24-hour
Sports talk channel last August ~ XM Sports Nation,” featuring exclusive shows hosted by many of the|biggest stars of
Racing, Baseball and Sports Talk.

derek |eter col rpken, jr

dale earnhardt, jr . ondreti grepn racing
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NEWS & TALK ARE ON

All-Star Talk Shows...The Biggest Names in News

XM is proud to feature the most diverse lineup of Talk ond News talent on the radio. Last fall, XM lounched Oprah &
Friends.” an exclusive channel featuring programs hosted by Oprah Winfrey's mos! trusted experts and friends, all of
whom appear regularly on "The Oprah Winfrey Show” and "Q, The Oprah Magazine.” XM listeners can callin and ge!
advice on a wide range of topics, from nutrition, fitness and health to self-improvement, home decor, money
management and current events. Plus Oprah hosts an exclusive weekly show, Talk fo Me, where she takes calls and
speaks from the hears about what's on her mind. '

XM's award-winning The Bob Edwards Show, the flagship program on XM Public Radio” continues to bring
outstanding journalism to the XM airwaves, XM Public Radio recently added the fremendausly popular A Prairie
Home Compaonion hosted by Garrison Keillor and the business/finance program Marketplace. And XM's five comedy
channels are among the most listened to channels on our lineup, including stand-up comedy clips on XM Comedy”
and popular radio personalities Opie & anthony on The Virus. ‘

And XM keeps listeners informed with a full roster of the leading news networks, from FOX News to CNN, ABC News
& Talk to CNBC, BBC to C-5PAN Radio and more.

bob edwards gnderson cooper

ood morning america radé

ggob Edwards e“eﬁ CJ\CNN] AMNTMS’;
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XM PARTNERS

Available in Over 140 New Vehicles
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

“Safe Harbor” Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: This Form 10-K contains forward-
looking statements intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Without limitation, the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“will” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All statements that address operating
performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future — including statements relating to
growth, expected levels of expenditures and statements expressing general optimism about future operating resulis — are
forward-looking statements. Similarly, statements that describe the Company’s business strategy, outlook, objectives, plans,
intentions or goals also are forward-looking statements. All such forward-looking statements including those presented
elsewhere by our management from time to time are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to,
those described in Part 1, “liem 1A. Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K. These cautionary statements should not be construed by
you to be exhaustive and are made only as of the date of this filing. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.




EXPLANATORY NOTE

This annual report on Form 10-K is a combined report being filed by two separate registrants: XM Satellite Radio Holdings
Inc. (the “Company”, “Holdings”, or “XM”) and XM Satellite Radio Inc. (“Inc.”). Holdings’ principal wholly owned
subsidiary is Inc., and as such, the information presented in this report regarding Inc. also applies to Holdings. Unless the
context requires otherwise, the terms “we,” “our,” “us,” refers to Holdings. Holdings fully and unconditionally guarantees
Inc.’s registered debt securities. The combined report includes Holdings’ Consolidated Financial Statements as the only set
of financial statements; an explanation of the differences between the companies is in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements; and condensed consolidating financial information regarding Inc. The management’s discussion and analysis
section has also been combined, focusing on the financial condition and results of operations of Holdings, which is consistent
with the inclusion in the combined report-of one set of financial statements.

We make available certain reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (*SEC”) that can be accessed, free of
charge, through our website at http:/www.xmradio.com/investor/investor_financiai_and_company.html, as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC.



PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We are America’s leading satellite radio service company, providing music, news, talk, information, entertainment and sports
programming for reception by vehicle, home and portable radios nationwide and over the Internet to over 7.7 million
subscribers. Our basic monthly subscription fee is $12.95. We believe XM Radio appeals to consumers because of our
innovative and diverse programming, nationwide coverage, many commercial-free music channels and digital sound quality.

Our channel lineup includes more than 170 digital channels of choice from coast to coast. We breadeast from our studios in
Washington, DC, New York City, including Jazz at Lincoln Center, and the Couniry Music Hall of Fame in Nashville. We
have added new and innovative programming to our core channel categories of music, sports, news, talk and entertainment.
Also included in the XM Radio service, at no additional charge, are the XM customizable sports and stock tickers available
to users of certain receivers and other online services.

Our target market includes the more than 240 million registered vehicles including the 16.5 million new cars sold each year
as well as the over 110 million households in the United States. [n addition, some of our recent and upcoming product
offerings focus on the portable and wearable audio segments. Broad distribution of XM Radio through new antomobiles and
through mass market retailers is central to our business strategy. We are the leader in satellite-delivered entertainment and
data services for new automobiles through partnerships with General Motors, Honda/Acura, Toyota/Lexus/Scion, Hyundai,
Nissan/Infiniti, Porsche, Suzuki and Isuzu and available in more than 140 different vehicle models for model year 2007. XM
radios are available under the Delphi, Pioneer, Samsung, Alpine, Audiovox, Sony, Polk and other brand names at national
consumer electronics retailers, such as Best Buy, Circuit City, Wal-Mart, Target and other national and regional retailers.
These mass market retailers support our expanded line of car stereo, home stereo, plug and play and portable handheld
products. According to Greystone Communications, we have one of the fastest growing consumer electronics products
having reached 5 million subscribers faster than new technology introductions such as cable television, Internet, cell phones
and MP3 players.

Proposed Merger

On February 19, 2007, XM and Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. (“SIRIUS”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the
“Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which XM and SIRIUS will combine our businesses through a merger of XM and a newly -

formed, wholly owned subsidiary of SIRIUS (the “Merger”). The Merger is discussed more fully below under the caption
“Proposed Merger with SIRIUS.”

Our Programming

The full XM channel lineup as of January 31, 2007 includes over 170 channels, featuring 69 commercial-free music
channels; 5 commercial music channels, 37 news, talk and entertainment channels; 38 sports channels; 21 Instant Traffic &
Weather channels; and one emergency alert channel. We broadcast from our studios in Washington, DC, New York City,
including Jazz at Lincoln Center, and the Country Music Hall of Fame in Nashville. Our programming includes channels
designed to appeal to different segments, including urban and rural listeners of different demographics and to specific groups
that our research has shown are most likely to subscribe to our service, thereby aggregating a large potential audience for our

service. In addition to providing radio formats that are appealing to different groups, in every format we deliver wa strive to

provide an entertaining or informative listening experience and make XM the audio service of choice for consumers. We

continue to add new and innovative programming to our core channel categories of music, sports, news, talk and .
entertainment. Also includéd in the XM Radio service, at no additional charge, are the XM customizable sports and stock

tickers available to users of certain receivers.

Hallmarks of our programming include:

Broad range of commercial-free music genres and live radio entertainment. XM offers commercial-free music
channels covering genres including Decades, Country, Pop & Hits, Christian, Rock, Hip-Hop/Urban, Jazz & Blues,

1




Lifestyle, Dance, Latin, World, Classical and Kids. Qur programming includes the most popular hits, as well as deep
and eclectic playlists. We also offer music programming featuring celebrity talent. Bob Dylan hosts the popular “Theme
Time Radio Hour,” a weekly program highlighting the golden age of radio with music hand selected by Bob Dylan.
Snoop Dogg is executive producer of our classic hip-hop channel The Rhyme. Other shows include Ludacris’s Open
Mic and SongStories with Graham Nash.

Musical formats unavailable in many terrestrial radio markets. XM Radio offers many music formats that are popular
but currently unavailable in many markets on radio. More than 70% of all Americans listening to terrestrial radio are
listening to primarily six programming formats: news/talk/sports, adult contemporary, contemporary hits, urban,
Hispanic and country. Furthermore, terrestrial radio continues to reduce, and in some cases eliminate, formats available
to many consumers in their local market in comparison to the over 170 channels we offer on a nationwide basis. We
offer many types of music with significant popularity, as measured by recorded music sales and concert revenues, which
are unavailable in many traditional AM/FM radio markets. Such music includes classical recordings and popular blues
music that have retail appeal but are not commonly played on traditional AM/FM radio. We have channels devoted to
all of these formats and many other popular musical styles that are not currently broadcast in many smali and medium
sized markets, such as heavy metal, modem electronic dance, disco and jazz.

Superserve popular music formats. We offer more specific programming choices than traditional AM/FM radio
generally offers for even the most popular listening formats. For example, on traditional AM/FM radio oldies music is
often aggregated on a single format. We segment this category by offering several channels devoted to the music of
each decade from the 1940s to the 1990s.

Live Music Programming. We offer diverse original content and live programming for our listeners. Our Artist
Confidential series showcasing performances and interviews from artists such as Paul McCartney, Sting, Dixie Chicks,
Ludacris, Coldplay, Santana, Phil Collins, Bonnie Raitt, Willie Nelson and Wynton Marsalis, in our studios in front of a
live avdience. We have hosted more than 1,000 live performances at XM. We also broadcast live from major music
events such as The Grammy Awards and Farm Aid.

Sports Programming. XM'’s sports category provides the most sports talk and live sports coverage in radio. Our lineup
features Major League Baseball®, National Hockey League®, Indy Racing League, college sports from the Atlantic
Coast Conference, Pacific-10 Conference, Big Ten Conference and Big East Conference, PGA Tour®, US Open Tennis,
XM Deportivo including the 2006 FIFA World Cup™, and is complemented by ESPN Radio, ESPN News, Fox Sports,
and XM’s own XM Sports Nation (XMSN). ESPN Radio offers coverage of certain NBA play-by-play. We also
broadcast the 2007 college football Bow] Championship Series play-by-play.

We are the Official Satellite Radio Network of Major League Baseball® (“MLB") and offer our 24x7 MLB Home
Plate channel, as well as play-by-play channels, and Spanish-language broadcasts. Through the 2012 baseball
season, we will carry both the regular season and the post-season MLB schedule of games, including the World
Series. Our MLB Home Plate channel features live call-in programs hosted by former players and personalities
such as Cal Ripken, Kevin Kennedy, and Rob Dibble. MLB Home Plate provides an inside look at teams, players,
the league, classic MLB games and other archived MLB material, as well as XM-produced MLB specialty
programming, including our Baseball Confidential series.

We have a multi-year agreement with the National Hockey League® (“NHL”) to broadcast NHL games live and to
become the Official Satellite Radio provider of the NHL. XM is the exclusive satellite radio network of the NHL
beginning with the 2007-2008 season. In addition to providing live play-by-play coverage of more than 1,000
games per season, we feature Home Ice, a 24x7 hockey talk channel dedicated to providing an inside look at teams,
players and the league.

Our ACC, PAC-10 and Big Ten channels offer college football and basketball games. In February 2006, we
announced an agreement with the Big East to provide coverage of men’s and women’s Basketball Championships
as well as select regular season basketball and football games.

On August 28, 2006, XM launched XM Sports Nation (XMSN), an XM-produced 24x7 sports news and talk
channel dedicated to coliege sports, motorsports, fantasy sports and more. Programming on XMSN includes
existing XM-produced series as well as popular content from Sporting News Radio. We also carry the Indy Racing
League ("IRL”) races.




XM Deportivo, our 24x7 Hispanic sports channel, provided exclusive coverage of the 2006 FIFA World Cup™. We
also offer PGA Tour and Majors golf play-by-play and analysis on our PGA Tour® Network channel, including
2006 Ryder Cup coverage.

News/Talk/information/Entertainment Programming. In September 2006, we launched our Oprah & Friends channel,
which features Oprah Winfrey’s live weekly call-in radio program “Talk to Me.” The channel also includes regular
segments hosted by Gayle King, Bob Green, Dr. Mehmet 0z, Jean Chatzky, Dr. Robin Smith and Dr. Maya Angelou.
The channel also includes weekly hightights from The Oprah Winfrey TV Show, and daily and weekly features and
highlights. Oprah & Friends is also available on XM Online. Oprah & Friends complements our current women'’s
interest channel, Take Five, which features the Ellen DeGeneres Show, the Tyra Banks Show, the Food Network,
HGTV and the Good Moming America Radio Show.

We offer premium news/talk/information programming including Fox News, Fox Talk, CNN, CNN Headline News
and ABC News & Talk. We feature business news from CNBC and Bloomberg as well as public affairs
programming on our XM Public Radio channel, featuring The Bob Edwards Show, BBC Worldservice and
C-SPAN. We serve the African American audience with The Power and Hispanic audience with CNN en Espafiol.
We offer four comedy channels, including the recent launch of National Lampoon Radio, as well as The Virus,
which features The Opie & Anthony Show.

Local Traffic and Weather Programming. Our Instant Traffic & Weather service consists of 21 audic channels
dedicated to keeping listeners informed with real-time in-depth updates on traffic and weather conditions in major
metropolitan markets. Each market is served by a dedicated channel. These channels repeat weather and traffic
information and issue traffic alerts in a pattern familiar to listeners. We create the audio for the channels from our
headquarters facility in Washington, DC. The data is provided by Traffic.com for traffic information and by The
Weather Channel for weather information. We believe this is a valuable part of our service offering and that it offers
several key advantages over what is currently available on terrestrial radio. These advantages include greater in-depth
updates, near instant availability due to the pattern of repeating information frequently, 24x7 availability of the service,
certain major interstate corridor and beach traffic reports and wider availability as compared to terrestrial droadcasts
available only to drivers within the coverage area.

A wide range of popular talk radio stars. Over the last two decades taik radio has emerged as a major component of
radio listening. We showcase many well-known talk radio personalities on our channels, including Bob Edwards, Larry |
King, Paula Zahn, Anderson Cooper, Bill O’Reilly, Sean Hannity, Alan Colmes, G. Gordon Liddy, Dr. Laura
Schlessinger, Greta Van Susteren, Michael Reagan, Bob Costas, Laura Ingraham, and many others.

State-of-the-art facilities. We create and distribute XM-original and third party content for satellite broadcast,

streaming and other new distribution platforms from our studio facilities in Washington, DC, locations in midtown

Manhattan in New York City, including Jazz at Lincoln Center, in Nashville at the Country Music Hall of Fame, and in
Chicago at Harpo Productions. These interconnected facilities comprise an all digital radio complex that is one of the

world's largest, with over 90 sound-proof studios of different configurations. We produce most of our music channels

and many of our sports, talk and entertainment channels from these facilities. From these studios, our music

programmers tap a centralized digital database of over 250,000 CDs and more than 2 million recordings. We also have

two performance studios at our Washington, DC facilities, and utilize the performance venues at Jazz at Lincoln Center

in New York City, for visiting artist interviews and performances.

Superior digital sound quality. Our digital signal transmitied via satellite and our terrestrial repeater network provides
nationwide, virtually uninterrupted coverage. Through a partnership with Neural Audic Corporation, a leading provider
of digital signal processing and surround sound technology for the broadcast industry, we broadcast select channels in
5.1 Surround Sound twenty-four hours a day. XM HD Surround provides our listeners with six discrete channels of
digital full fidelity audio. In addition, a variety of special shows and live musical performances at the XM studios are
broadcast in XM HD Surround.

Channel updates. 'We regularly review and update our channel line up to revise our overall offerings. In 2006, we
added certain new channels, including additional commercial-free music channels, to slightly increase our total number
of commercial-free music channels. In addition, commercial advertisements resumed on music programming currently
provided to us by Clear Channel.




Our Strategy
Automotive

Broad distribution of XM Radio through the new automobile market is a central element of our business strategy. We are the
leader in satellite-delivered entertainment and data services for the automobile market through partnerships with General
Motors, Honda/Acura, Toyota/Lexus/Scion, Hyundai, Nissan/Infiniti, Porsche, Subaru, Suzuki, Tsuzu, Lotus, and Harley-
Davidson. XM Radio is available as original equipment in over 140 vehicle models for 2007.

Exclusive Distribution Agreement with General Motors. Under our agreement with General Motors, for a 12-year period
ending in September 2013, General Motors will exclusively distribute and market the XM Radio service and install XM
radios in General Motors vehicles. General Motors has announced that it will build more than 1.8 million vehicles with
factory-installed XM Radio in 2007. General Motors sold over 4 million automobiles in 2006, which represented
approximatety 25% of the United States automobile market. General Motors currently offers XM Radio in over 60 models of
the 2607 model year, including passenger cars, light trucks and SUVs. GM factory-installs the XM Radio option in Buick,
Cadillac, Chevrolet, GMC, HUMMER, Pontiac, Saab and Saturn brand vehicles. General Motors has made XM radios
available in diverse price categories, ranging from the Chevy Cobalt to the Cadillac Escalade. Under this agreement, we have
substantial payment obligations to General Motors, including substantial guaranteed fixed payment obligations (2007 to
2009), which we prepaid in May 2006. General Motors is an investor in our company.

Honda. In January 2007, we announced a 10-year exiension to our arrangement with American Honda Motor Co., to be its
supplier of satellite radic and related data services in Honda and Acura vehicles. Honda currently offers XM Radio in 17
models as a factory-insialled feature or dealer-installed option. Purchasers of XM-equipped Honda and Acura vehicles
generally receive a three-month trial subscription to the XM satellite radio service. In November 2006, we announced that
American Honda plans to factory-install over 650,000 of its 2007 models with XM Radio. Acural.ink TM, which utilizes
XM’s NavTraffic service to provide drivers real time traffic information for freeways in 44 major metropolitan areas, is a
factory-installed option on most 2007 Acura models, In October, 2006, we and Acura announced a complimentary XM Radio
service program for Certified Pre-Owned vehicles, under which Acura offers three months of complimentary XM Radio
service to purchasers of Certified Pre-Owned Acura vehicles with factory-installed XM radios. The same program was
launched with Honda Certified Used Cars in January 2007. XM's partnership with American Honda's Certified Programs
will make XM available in more than 35,000 of these cenified vehicles in 2007, and grow to more than 55,000 vehicles in
2008. American Honda is an investor in our Company.

Toyota. In January 2007 Toyota announced a new 10-year agreement with XM as its factory-installed satellite radio
provider for Toyota and Lexus vehicle models. The new agreement extends the current arrangement to January 2017; Toyota,
Lexus and Scion would offer XM Radio and traffic data services as a factory-installed option, Purchasers of XM-equipped
Toyota, Lexus or Scion vehicles would generally receive a three-month trial subscription to the XM satellite radio service.
The October 2006 launch of the 2007 Lexus LS was the first factory installed Lexus vehicle and the first to offer XM
NavTraffic, and will be followed in 2007 by the all new LS Hybrid. In addition, Toyota offers XM Radio as a port-installed
or dealer-installed option in 21 of its 2007 models. In 2006, Scion produced the first Toyota vehicles with XM as a standard
feature beginning with the February launch of Scion xB Release Series 3.0.

Hyundai. In 2005, we and Hyundai Motor America announced that Hyundai will be the first automaker to launch XM as
standard, factory-instatled equipment in every radio-equipped vehicle across its entire model line-up. Beginning with all
October 2006 production orders, XM radios are factory standard in several Hyundai models.

Nissan. In 2005, Nissan chose XM to supply satellite-delivered data and telematics services, such as in-vehicle messaging
and XM NavTraffic, and later in the year, announced it would use XM as its exclusive satellite radio provider beginning in
the 2008 model year. Currently, XM is available on 17 Nissan and Infiniti model cars as a factory or dealer-installed option.
Nissan and Infiniti also offer XM NavTraffic as a factory-installed feature on versions of the 2007 G35 Sedans and Altimas
equipped with a Navigation System.

Porsche. In October 2006, Porsche Cars of North America, Inc., announced a new long-term agreement with us to equip
Porsche vehicles for the U.S. market with XM radios. The arrangement begins in January 2007, XM has been available as a
factory-installed feature for Cayenne models since 2005 and will be a factory installed feature on the Cayenne and other
Porsche sports cars though 2013.




Harley-Davidson. In 2003, we entered into the motorcycle market with Harley-Davidson’s exclusive 2006 FLHTCUSE
Screamin’ Eagle Ultra Classic Electra Glide, the first ever motorcycle model equipped with a standard XM Satellite Radio,
and continve 10 be installed on the 2007 model. Our service can also be added as an accessory feature on 12 other Harley-
Davidson bikes in its 2007 touring lineup.

Other Automobile and Truck Manufacturers. Isuzu, Lotus, Subaru, and Suzuki offer XM Radio as either a deater and/or
factory-installed option in numerous popular makes and models. We are educating automobile dealers about XM Radio to
develop sales and promotional campaigns that promote XM radios to new car buyers. In addition, we have relationships with
Freightliner Corporation and Pana Pacific, and XM radios are available in Freightliner and Peterbilt trucks.

Aftermarket

XM radios are available in the aftermarket under the Audiovox, Delphi, Pioneer, AGT, Alpine, Sony, Polk, and etér/Grundig
brand names at national consumer electronics retailers, such as Best Buy, Circuit City, Wal-Mart and other national and
regional retailers. These mass market retailers support our expanded line of car stereo, home stereo, plug and play and
portable handheld products. We develop in-store merchandising materials, including end-aisle displays for several retailers,
and train the sales forces of all major retailers.

We further expanded our product Jine in 2006:

XM2go Portable, Handheld Products. 1n 2006, we and Pioneer introduced the Pioneer Inno™, the next-generation
portable XM2go satellite radio that plays live satellite radio “on the go” and both MP3s and WMAs. The Inno™
includes a feature that allows the user to “bookmark” songs heard on XM, connect the Inno™ to a personal computer,
and instantly purchase the songs from the XM + Napster online service. In 2005, Pioneer and Tao each introduced new
XM?2go models to follow up on the 2004 introduction of the XM Delphi XM2go MyFi, the first personal, portable
satellite radio. The XM2go hand-held models enable users to enjoy XM Radio in two ways: a “live” listening mode that
enables users 1o listen live to all of XM's channels and a “memory” mode that allows users to store five hours or more
of XM content, even when the unit is not in use. XM2go models also feature customizable sports and stock tickers, as
well as a clock and alarm.

Piug-and-Play XM Radios. 1n August 2005, we introduced the Roady XT, a small, lightweight unit with a built-in FM
transmitter that can make any FM radio an XM radio by wirelessly transmitting XM Satellite Radio to any one of its 100
FM radio frequencies. The Roady XT has a customizable sports ticker that displays the latest scores and schedules for
professional and college sports. It also has a customizable stock ticker for keeping track of up to 20 stocks, and the
popular TuneSelect feature, which alerts the listener when favorite songs and artists are played on any XM channel. The.
Audiovox Xpress is the smallest satellite radio to offer a five-line display screen and also features customizable sports'
and stock tickers. The Delpbi SkyFi2 has an innovative pause and replay function, a customizable sports and stock
ticker and TuneSelect with a built-in FM transmitter. In the fall of 2006, we introduced the Delphi SkyFi3, the next
generation in the SkyFi family. While providing similar features to that of the SkyFi2, the SkyFi3 is more compact and
provides for 10 hours of storage of XM programming. ‘

Connect-and-Play and Passport Technologies. Our “Connect-and-Play” and “Passport” technologies integrate into a
broad range of home devices such as stereo receivers and DVD players by allowing the listener to simply plug an XM
Connect-and-Play antenna into an XM-ready receiver. Yamaha offers XM-ready products including home receivers and
home theater systems. Other manufacturers of our Connect-and-Play home equipment include etén/Grundig, Pioneer,
Denon, Harmon Kardon, LG Electronics, Onkyo, Thomson/RCA, Polk Audio and Boston Acoustics.

Advanced Applications. In addition to TuneSelect and the customizable sports and stock tickers, we also offer XM
NavTraffic, the nation’s first satellite traffic data service, which provides continuously updated real-time traffic
information for 44 major metropolitan cities across the United States for a monthly fee. For aviation and marine, the
XM WX satellite weather service provides real-time graphical weather data for advanced situational awareness in
prevailing weather conditions. At the 2007 International Consumer Electronics Show (“CES”), XM demonstrated the
next steps in advanced applications featuring XM WeatherLink, providing real time weather information for vehicle and
portable navigation systems (including a preview of the Bushnell ONIX 400, the first handheld device to feature the
service), XM ParkingLink for dynamic parking space availability information for navigation systems, conversational
speech interaction and video technology.

To facilitate attractive pricing for retail radio and automobile consumers, we have financial arrangements with certain radio
manufacturers that include our subsidizing of certain radio component parts. We are pursuing additional arrangements for the
manufacture and distribution of XM radios for the home and portable markets.
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Marketing

Our marketing strategy is designed to build awarcness and demand among potential subscribers and the advertising
community. Our strategy also includes providing potential subscribers with the opportunity to experience the XM service,
because it is available to new car prospects during vehicle test drives of XM-enabled General Motors, Honda/Acura, Toyota/
Lexus/Scion, Hyundai, Nissan/Infiniti, Porsche, Subaru, Suzuki, and Isuzu vehicles, on AVIS, Alamo, National and Zipcar
rental cars and on AirTran, United, and JetBlue airplanes. In addition, we have partnered with Starbucks, AOL, Napster and
DIRECTV® to build awareness of XM among their customer bases.

We promote XM Radio as the leader in the satellite radio category, offering appealing features compared to traditional radio.
Our ongoing advertising and promotional activities include television, radio, print and Internet advertising and distributing
sample programming and marketing malterials at retail outlets, concert venues, motor sports events, and on the Internet to
generate consumer interest. General Motors, Honda and Hyundai sponsor national and local print and television advertising
that features the XM logo and message. Our current “Are You On?"’ marketing campaign features TV spots and print ads.

Since 2005, we have been leveraging our exlensive sports broadcasting offerings and exclusive relationships with Major
League Baseball®, the PGA Tour® and the Indy Racing League to attract new subscribers. We promole our “every team, all
season long” coverage of Major League Baseball® 1o highlight the more than 2,500 spring training, regular season and
playoff games we broadcast during the season. We promote our exclusive relationship with the PGA Tour® by offering
handheld radios for rental and purchase at PGA events. We have a mulii-year agreement with Andretti Green Racing
(“AGR”) to be a major associate sponsor of the race car driven by IndyCar Series superstar Danica Patrick.

XM Radio promotes subscriber acquisition activities with both automobile original equipment and aftermarket radio
manufacturers. These include:

»  promotional campaigns directed towards automobile manufacturers and dealers;,

* in-store promotional campaigns, including displays located in electronics, music and other retail stores, rental car
agencies and automobile dealerships;

» incentive programs for retailers; and

+ jointly funded local advertising campaigns with retailers.

Brand Awareness and Other Distribution Arrangements

XM Canada. 1In November 2005, Canadian Satellite Radio (“XM Canada”), our exclusive Canadian licensee, launched its
satellite radio service in Canada for a monthly subscription fee currently set at CDN$14.99. XM Canada’s 100 channel
line-up includes XM's digital-quality commercial-free music, National Hockey League® play-by-play coverage of more than
40 games per week plus 24x7 sports talk channel “Home Ice,” and eight exclusive Canadian channels highlighting Canadian
music artists and composers and Canadian news programming, as mandated by the terms of the license granted to XM
Canada by the Canadian regulatory authority.

DIRECTV®, We have partnered with DIRECTV® (o offer up to 72 channels of XM’s music, children’s and talk
programming to DIRECTV®'s customers.

Web-based Offerings. While we make certain channels available to current subscribers via XM Online, we have partnered
with a number of companies to enhance the listening experience of current subscribers and expand our visibility to potential
subscribers via various web-based offerings.

XM Online, We offer a subset of our satellite radio service on XM Online, our Internet offering, that is included
as part of our basic radio subscription service price of $12.95 per month (radio required); XM Quline can also be
purchased as a standalone service for $7.99 per month. Of our total 94 channel lineup on XM Online, 76
commercial-free music channels are XM originals which are also broadcast on our satellite radio service (7 are
exclusively programmed for XM Online), 10 are AOL music channels, and 8 are XM original news/talk/
information channels (including XM Kids, The Bob Edwards Show, XM Comedy, Laugh USA, Special X,
Oprah & Friends, and The Virus, featuring Opie & Anthony):

America Online (“AOQL"”). We and America Qaline have created an online radio service. The co-branded service
includes a free, web radio offering and an enhanced premier radio offering that is available to AOL members at no
additional charge. We also integrate select AOL original programs, such as AOL Sessions, into our programming,
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XM + Napster. We have a long-term, strategic partnership with Napster. “XM + Napster” provides a single
interface for accessing, purchasing and managing music from XM and Napster. Listeners can purchase music heard
on XM Radio from Napster to listen to on their XM Satellite/MP3 players for a portable listening experience.

Audible. With our 2005 partnership with Audible, we launched the This is Audibte Show on Sonic Theatre as
well as The XM Audible Store, which offers audio books and other programs for individual purchase or computer-
based download subscription, including XM programming from The Bob Edwards Show and Opie & Anthony.

Airplanes. XM Radio is now available on centain AirTran, JetBlue and United airplanes,

Rental Cars. XM Radio is available nationwide at participating Avis, National, Alamo and Zipcar car rental locations.

Subscriber and Advertising Revenue

We primarily derive revenues from subscriber fees for our sateilite radio service. We charge subscribers a monthly fee for
over 170 channels of our programming. We offer family plan discounts to subscribers who have multiple XM radios. We
also offer pre-paid annual and multi-year subscription discounts. The family, annual and multi-year subscriptions are popular
with our subscribers.

We derive some reveaues from advertising. Our non-commercial free channels, including our wraffic and weather channels,
provide what we believe is an attractive advertising medium for national advertisers. We have advertising sales offices in
several major media markets to sell directly to advertising agencies and media buying groups. We have sold advertising
programs and sponsorships to hundreds of advertisers and agencies, including many Fortune 500 companies.

Qur System

Our system provides satellite radio to the continental United States and coastal waters using radio frequencies atlocated by
the FCC for satellite radio. These radio frequencies are within a range of frequencies called the S-Band. The XM Radio
system is capable of providing high quality satellite services to XM radios in automobiles, trucks, recreation vehicles,
airplanes, and pleasure craft, as well as to fixed or portable XM radios in the home, office or other fixed locations. The XM
Radio system extends to other platforms that include the Internet for our streaming service as well as other platforms such as
DIRECTV® and Napster. The XM Radio system uses a network consisting of high-power satellites, an uplink facility, and
ground-based repeaters primarily in dense urban areas to provide coverage where the satellite signal is obstructed.

Consumer Hardware

XM Radios. We transmit XM content throughout the continental United States to vehicle, portable, home and
plug-and-play radios. Certain of our radios are capable of receiving both XM content and traditional AM/FM stations. Our
advancing chipset design has spawned a broad array of XM Radio products. Many XM radios now feature customizable
sports and stock tickers as well as TuneSelect, which notifies the listener when a favorite artist or song is playing on any XM
channel. We plan to continue to expand our product offerings in 2007 with the XM Connect-and-Play techrology, new
XM2go portable products and other offerings. The Pioneer nno™, which offers MP3 music and live satellite radio on the go,
was awarded Popular Science’s “Best of What's New 2006” Award in the Gadgets category. The XM Mini-Tuner, a portable
cartridge that delivers XM to any compatible player, was honored in the Home Entertainment category. The XM Mini-Tuner
is distributed by Audiovox. Five XM products were recognized as honorees for the Innovations 2006 Awards, which are
sponsored by the Consumer Electronics Association and honor excellence in consumer technology design and 2ngineernng.
At the 2006 International Consumer Electronics Show in Las Vegas, the Pioneer Inno™ XM2go radio was selected as Best of
CES 2006 People’s Voice Award hosted by CNET.

Space Segment

Satellite System. Boeing Satellite Systems (“BSS”), has built, launched and delivered in-orbit four Boeing 702 high-power
satellites for the XM Radio system. The satellites were launched on March 18, 2001, May 8, 2001, February 28, 2005 and
October 30, 2006, respectively, and XM-3 and XM-4 are now transmitting the XM signal.

Our first two satellites, XM-1 and XM-2, experienced progressive solar array degradation issues and serve as in-orbit spares
in their current capacity. We launched our third satellite, XM-3, in February 2005, at 85° West Longitude orbital location,
and our fourth satellite, XM-4, in October 2006, at 115° West Longitude orbital location, to mitigate the issues with Xerl
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and XM-2. We have a contract to construct a spare satellite, XM-5, expected to be completed by year-end 2007/early 2008.
Our commitments regarding XM-3, XM-4 and XM-5 are described under "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Future Operating Liguidity and Capital Resource Requirements.”

In July 2004, we reached agreement with insurers covering 80% of the aggregate sum insured of $400 million relating to the
progressive solar array power degradation problem with XM-1 and XM-2. We received a settlement rate equal to 44.5% of
the proportionate amount covered by each of these insurers, representing a total recovery of approximately $142 million,
This settlement resolves any issues about the amount of loss sustained, includes a waiver by the settling insurance companies
of any reductions based on salvage value, terminates any further risk to the settling insurers under the policies and ends any
other rights the settling insurers might have with regard to XM-1 and XM-2 or revenues generated by our continuing use of
those satellites. We have collected all amounts due under the settlement. The portion of the insurance proceeds related to
claim payments, totaling $133.9 million, was recorded as a reduction to the carrying values of XM-1 and XM-2. In August
2004, we filed for arbitration to collect the remaining 20% of the sum insured utilizing the third-party dispute resolution
procedures under the policy. Dunng 2006 we were notified that we were not successful in our arbitration claim against the
remaining insurers, and will not receive any further insurance proceeds with regard to this issue. The result of this arbitration
did not affect our July 2004 agreements with respect to the 80% of the aggregate sum insured.

Satellite Transmission. Our satellites are deployed at 85° West Longitude and 115° West Longitude. At their designated
orbital locations, the satellites receive audio signals from our programming center and retransmit the signals across the
continental United States. The satellites are 30° apart in longitude in order to enhance the probability of clear line-of-sight
communication between the satellites and XM mobile radios.

The transmission coverage areas, or footprints, of our satellites encompass the 48 contiguous states, nearby coastal waters
and the densely populated regions of Canada. We have tailored these footprints to provide nearly uniform availability over
the United States and to minimize transmission spillage across the United States borders into Mexico, XM Canada, our
exclusive Canadian licensee, holds a broadcast license in Canada.

Our satellites transmit audio programming within a 12.5 Megahentz (“MHz") bandwidth operating in the S-Band radio
frequency spectrum that the FCC has allocated for our exclusive use. Megahertz is a unit of measurement of frequency. This
12.5 MHz bandwidth is subdivided into six carrier transmission signals, four signals transmitted from our satellites and two
signals transmitted by the terrestrial repeater network. The audio programming for XM Radio is carried on two satellite
signals, and the remaining two satellite signals and the terrestrial repeater signals repeat the audio programming to enhance
overall signal reception. The transmission of higher quality sound requires the use of more kilobits per second than the
transmission of lesser quality sound. ‘We are currently using our allecated bandwidih in such a way as to provide over 170
channels.

Insurance. 'We bear the risk of loss for our satellites, and we seek to obtain insurance to cover that risk. We obtain launch
and in-orbit insurance policies from global space insurance underwriters. These policies generally provide coverage for a
total, constructive total or partial loss of the satellites that occurs during a limited pericd after launch and for annual in-orbit
periods. Our insurance will not cover the full cost of constructing, launching and insuring new satellites, nor will it protect us
from the adverse effect on our business operations due to the loss of a satellite. Qur policies contain standard commercial
satellite insurance provisions, including standard coverage exclusions. Since we have settled our claim on XM-1 and XM-2,
XM-1 and XM-2 no longer have in-orbit insurance coverage. We acquired and paid for launch and one-year in-orbit
insurance in early 2005 in connection with the launch of XM-3, and obtained in-orbit insurance effective following the
expiration of the initial policy and as of the end of the first annual renewal period. Prior to the launch of XM-4, we acquired
and paid for launch and one-year in-orbit insurance for that satellite, plus partial coverage for a five-year in-orbit period. We
obtained additional insurance for XM-4 following in-orbit testing in connection with the February 2007 sale-leaseback
transaction with respect to the transponders on our XM-4 satellite.

Ground Segment

Satellite Control. Qur satellites are monitored by telemetry, tracking and control stations and are controlled by a spacecraft
control station. Each of the stations has a backup station. We have a contract with Telesat Canada, Inc., an experienced
satellite operator, to perform the telemetry, tracking and control functions.

Broadcast Facility. Programming from both our studios and external sources is sent to our broadcast facility in
Washington, DC, which packages and retransmits signals to our satellites through the uplink station. In addition, sales and
marketing, finance functions, engineering and certain administrative support are carried on at our Washington, DC facilities.




Communications traffic between the various XM Radio facilities is controlied by the network operating center. The network
operating center monitors satellite signals and the terrestrial repeater network to ensure that the XM Radio system is
operating properly. We have designed and installed fault detection diagnostic systems to detect various systera failures
before they significantly impact our quality of service. We have a remote backup central production and broadcast facility
that is able to originate all of our music channels as well as all third party programming.
|

Terrestrial Repeaters. Our terrestrial repeater system of approximately 800 repeaters in approximately 60} markets
supplements the coverage of our satellites. In some areas, satellite signals may be subject to blockages from tall buildings
and other obstructions. Due to the satellites’ longitudinal separation, in most circumstances where reception is obscured from
one satellite, XM Radio is still available from the other satellite. In some urban areas with a high concentration of tall
buildings, however, line-of-sight obstructions 1o both satellites may be more frequent. In such areas, we have installed and
may continue to install terrestrial repeaters to facilitate signal reception. Terrestrial repeaters are ground-based electronics
equipment installed on rooftops or existing tower structures, where they receive the signal from one of the satellites, amplify
it and retransmit it at significantly higher signal strength to overcome any satellite signal obstruction.

Systerm Technology

We own the design of our system, including aspects of the technology used in communicating from the satellites, the design 1
of the repeater network and certain aspects of the design of and features that may be used in our radios. We have joint
ownership of a license to use the technology developed by the radio and chipset manufacturers, We also license various other
technologies used in our system. We have not acquired any intellectual property rights in the technology used in ccnstructing
and launching our satellites.

Our system design, our repeater system design and the specifications we supplied to our radio and chipset manufacturers
incorporate or may in the future incorporate some intellectual property licensed 10 us on a non-exclusive basis by
WorldSpace, who has used this technology in its own non-United States satellite radio system, We also have the right to
sublicense the licensed technology to any third party, including chipset manufacturers, terrestrial repeater manufacturers and
receiver manufacturers in connection with the XM Radio system. During 2005, XM acquired an interest in WorldSpace in
exchange for $25 million.

We believe that the intellectual property rights used in our system were independently developed or duly licensed by us or by.
the technology companies who supplied portions of our system. We cannot assure you, however, that third parties will not
bring suit against us for patent or other infringement of inteliectual property rights.

We have an agreement with SIRIUS Radio to develop a common receiver platform for satellite radios enabling coasumers to
purchase one radio capable of receiving both SIRIUS Radio’s and our services. The technology relating to thz common .
receiver platform is being jointly developed and funded by the iwo companies, who will share ownership of it. The:
development of this common receiver platform is consistent with FCC rules requiring designs for interoperable receivers'
with both licensed satellite radio systems. As part of the agreement, each company has licensed to the other its intellectual
property relating to the common receiver platform and its respective system.

We cumrently own 45 patents relating to various aspects of our system, XM radics and their features, and have numerovs
other patents pending before the United States Patent and Trademark Office.

Copyrights to Programming

We must maintain music programming royalty arrangements with and pay license fees to Broadcast Music, Inc. (“BMI”), the
American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers (“ASCAP") and SESAC, Inc. (“SESAC”). These organizations
negotiate with copyright users, collect royalties and distribute them to songwriters and music publishers. Agreements.
establish the license fee amounts payable to those entities. In July 2006, we entered into a new five-year music licensing
agreement with ASCAP. All of our other agreements expired in 2006, and the royalty arrangements will need to be
re-negotiated. Under the Digital Performance Right in Sound Recordings Act of 1995 and the Digital Millennium Copyright
Act of 1998, we also have to negotiate royalty arrangements with the copyright owners of the sound recordings, or if
negotiation is unsuccessful, have the royalty rate established by a copyright royalty board. We had an agreement with the
Recording Industry Association of America (“RIAA”), through its division SoundExchange, establishing royalty payment
arrangements for these performance rights through 2006. We are participating in a Copyright Royalty Board (CRB)
proceeding in order to set the royalty rate for the six year period starting in January 2007 (see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3.
to Part I of this Form 10-K).




We have been sued in the United States District Count for the Southern District of New York by major record labels in an
aclion seeking monetary damages and equitable relief. Plaintiffs allege that recently introduced XM radios that also have
MP3 functionality infringe upon plaintiff’s copyrighted sound recordings. Our motion to dismiss this matter was denied in
January 2007. We believe these allegations are without merit and these products comply with applicable copyright law,
including the Audic Home Recording Act, and we intend to vigorously defend the matter (see “Legal Proceedings” in
Item 3. to Part { of this Form 10-K).

The XM Trademark

We have registered the trademark “XM" with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in connection with the
transmission services offered by our company. Our brand name and logo is generally prominently displayed on the surface of
XM radios together with the radio manufacturer’s brand name. This identifies the equipment as being XM Radio-compatible
and builds awareness of XM Radio. We intend to maintain our trademark and registration. We are not aware of any material
claims of infringement or other challenges to our right to use the “XM” trademark in the United States. We also have
registered and intend to maintain trademarks of the names of certain of our channels. We recently registered the trademark,
“XM” and the logo, in Canada. We have granted a license to use the trademark in Canada to XM Canada, the exclusive
licensee of our service in Canada.

Competition

We face significant competition for both listeners and advertising dollars. In addition to pre-recorded entertainment
purchased or playing in cars, homes and using portable players, we compete most directly with the following providers of
radio or other audio services:

Sirius Satellite Radio

We compete with Sirius Satellite Radio, the only other FCC licensee for satellite radio service in the United States. SIRTUS
has announced that it had over 6 million subscribers as of December 31, 2006, including over 2.7 million net new subscribers
during the year then ended. SIRIUS broadcasts over 130 channels of programming and offers certain programming that we
do not offer. SIRIUS Radio service is offered as a dealer- and/or factory-installed option on a number of vehicle model
brands, including certain ones that do not offer XM. SIRIUS also is a partner in a Canadian joint venture partnership that
competes with our Canadian licensee in providing satellite radio service in Canada. We have recently announced a merger
agreement between SIRIUS and us, as discussed more fully below under the caption “Proposed Merger with SIRIUS.”

Traditional AM/FM Radio

We compete with traditional AM/FM radio. Many of the traditional radio companies are substantial entities owning large
numbers of radio stations or other media properties, including companies such as Clear Channel, CBS Radio, Emmis,
Cumulus Media, Cox Radio, Entercom, Citadel Broadcasting, Radio One, Salem, Spanish Broadcasting, Beasley Broadcast,
Saga, Regent, Gannett, Univision and Westwood One. Our Canadian licensee competes with major traditional AM/FM radio
companies such as Corus Entertainment, CHUM, Rogers, Standard Broadcasting, Astral Media, Canadian Broadcasting and
Jim Pattison Broadcast.

Unlike XM Radio, traditional AM/FM radio has had a well established market for its services for many years and generaily
offers free broadcast reception paid for by commercial advertising rather than by a subscription fee. However, by attracting
listeners to their stations, they can reduce the likelihood that customers would be willing to pay for our subscription service
and by offering free broadcast they impose limits on what we can charge for our service. Also, many radio stations offer
information programming of a local nature, such as local news and sports, which XM Radio cannot offer as effectively as
local radio. To the extent that consumers place a high value on these features of traditionat AM/FM radio, we are at a
competitive disadvantage to the dominant AM/FM radio providers. Some radio stations have reduced the number of
commercials per hour, expanded the range of music played on the air and experimented with new formats in order to
compete with satellite radio. The AM/FM radio broadcasting industry is highly competitive. Radio companies compete for
listeners and advertising revenues on the basis of a variety of factors, including:

*  program content;
«  on-air talent;

*  (ransmitter power;
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= source frequency;

« audience characteristics;

+ local program acceptance; and

«  the number and characteristics of other radio stations in the market.

Alihough traditional AM/FM radio stations typically broadcast by means of analog signals, rather than digital transmission, 2
significant number of radio stations have begun broadcasting their primary signal using digital transmission technology such
as that offered by iBiguity. A group of major broadcast radio networks recently created a coalition to jointly market digital
radio services. According to this coalition, more than 3,000 U.3. radio stations have committed to broadcasting in the HD
Radio format. More than 1,000 radio stations are currently broadcasting primary signals with HD Radio technology,
available to 80% of the U.S. population, and manufacturers, including Alpine, Delphi, Panasonic, Polk and Yamaha, are
creating digital receivers. To the extent that traditional AM/EM radio stations adopt digital transmission technology such as
that offered by iBiquity and to the extent such technology allows signal quality that rivals our own, any competitive
advantage that we enjoy over traditional radio because of our digital signal would be lessened. In addition, the w idespread
introduction of terrestrial digital radios could lessen our competitive advantage. Traditional AM/FM broadcasters are also
agpressively entering the Internet radio and wireless distribution with e-commerce.

Downloading Devices

The Apple iPod® is a portable digital music player that sells for approximately $80-$350 and allows users to download and
purchase music through Apple’s iTunes® Music Store, which features over 4 million songs, 100,000 podcasts, 20,000 audio
baoks, 5,000 music videos, 250 feature films and 350 television shows, as well as convert music on compact disc to digital
files. Apple sold over 39 million iPods® during its fiscal 2006 year. The iPod® enables consumers to buy and store up to-
20,000 songs. In addition, iPods® are compatible with certain car stereos and various home speaker systems, and certain
automobile manufacturers have entered into arrangements with manufacturers of portable media players that are expected to
enhance this compatibility. Availability of music in the public MP3 audio standard has been growing in recent years with
sound files available on the websites of online music retailers, artists and record labels and through numerous file sharing
software programs. These MP3 files can be played instantly, burned to a compact disc or stored in various portable players
available to consumers. Although presently available formats have drawbacks such as hardware requirements and download
bandwidth consiraints, which we believe could make XM Radio a more attractive option to consumers, Internet-based audio
formats are becoming increasingly competitive as quality improves and costs are reduced.

Internet Radio

Internet radio broadcasts have no geographic limitations and can provide listeners with radio programming from around the
country and the world. Major media companties including Clear Channel, America Online (which includes a nuinber of XM
channels) and Yahoo make near CD-quality digital streams available through the Internet for free or in some case for a
fraction of the cost of a satellite radio subscription. The past few years have seen a steady increase in the audio quality of
Internet radio streams and in the amount of audio content available via the Web, resulting in a steady increase in Internet
radio audience metrics. We expect that improvements from higher bandwidths, faster modems and wider programming
selection are likely to continue making Internet radio an increasingly significant competitor in the near future. These services
already compete directly with our XM Radio Online service and, through the use of home stereo media adapters or media-
centric PCs, with our home line of products.

Direct Broadcast Satellite and Cable Audio

A number of companies provide specialized audio service through either direct broadcast satellite or cable audio systems.
These services are targeted 1o fixed locations, mostly in-home. The radio service offered by direct broadcast satellite and
cable audio is often included as part of a package of digital services with video service, and video customers therefore
generally do not pay an additional monthly charge for the audio service.

Digital Media Services

We face or expect to face competition from businesses that plan to deliver entertainment and media content throvgh cell
phones and other wireless devices. Sprint Nextel, Comeast, Time Wamner Cable, Cox Communications and Advance/
Newhouse Communications have announced a joint venture to work toward accelerating the convergence of video
entertainment. wireline and wireless data and communications products and services to provide customers throughout the
United States access to advanced integrated entertainment, including streaming television programming, music, video clips,
games and pre-recorded DVR programs, communications and wireless products. QUALCOMM has announced that its
wholly owned subsidiary, MediaFLO USA, will offer interactive wireless multimedia services to consumers in cooperation
with U.S. wireless operators through a nationwide network that will deliver multimedia content to mobile devices in the

!
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700 MHz spectrum for which QUALCOMM holds licenses with a nationwide footprint. In December 2005, QUALCOMM
and Verizon Wireless announced that QUALCOMM and MediaFLO USA are working together with Verizon Wireless to
bring customers real-time mobile video over the MediaFLO multicasting network in the United States. QUALCOMM and
Verizon Wireless expect to launch mobile TV services over the MediaFLO network in approximately half the markets
already covered by Verizon Wireless' CDMA2000 1xEV-DO-based broadband network, enabling Verizon Wireless to offer
real-time mobile TV services to its subscribers. Crown Castle has announced that it plans to deliver live mobile video in
partnership with wireless operators through its Modeo subsidiary. It will provide the service over 5SMHz of its licensed
spectrum in the 1670-1675 MHz band and plans to commercially launch in select major U.S. markets, including New York
City. Other wireless network competitors include Broadcast Networks and HiWire.

Traffic News Services

A number of providers also compete with the XM NavTraffic service. SIRIUS partners with NAVTEQ, the same partnes
used by XM for data behind XM NavTraffic, to provide real-time traffic data to vehicles over its satellite radio network for
44 metropolitan markets. The service will provide regularly wpdated traffic information and help select alternative routes.
Clear Channel and Tele Atlas are able to deliver nationwide traffic information for the top 50 markets to in-vehicle
navigation systems using RDS/TMC, the radio broadcast standard technology for delivering traffic and travel information to
drivers. There are also services that provide real-time traffic information to Internet-enabled cell phones or other hand held
devices, but these are available only in limited markets and the associated data plan costs in addition to normal cell phone
rates may make the offering un-desirable to many users.

Regulatory Matters
Satellite Licenses

XM Radie and SIRIUS Radio received licenses from the FCC in October 1997 to construct and operate satellite digital audio
radio service systems. The FCC allocated 25 MHz for the service in a range of radio frequencies known as the S-Band,
divided equally between the two licensees.

As the holder of one of twe FCC licenses to operate a commercial satellite radio service in the United States, we are subject
to regulatory oversight by the FCC. The operation of our system is subject to significant regulation by the FCC under
authority granted through the Communications Act and related federal law. Non-compliance by us with FCC rules and
regulations could result in fines, additional license conditions, license revocation or other detrimental FCC actions. Any of
these FCC actions may harm our business. There is no guarantee that the rules and regulations of the FCC will continue to be
favorable to our business plan. Any assignment or transfer of control of our FCC license or other FCC authorizations we hold
must be approved in advance by the FCC.

Our FCC licenses, including our satellite licenses, are held by a subsidiary wholly owned by XM Radio. We are authorized to
operate four satellites at specified orbital locations. The license to operate the XM-2 satellite at 115° West Longitude expires
in March 20609. The license to operate the XM-1 satellite at 85° West Longitude expires in May 2009. In February 2004, we ~
applied to the FCC for authority to launch and operate XM-3 and XM-4. The FCC granted this application in January 2005,
The license to operate the XM-3 satellite at 85° West Longitude expires in April 2013. The license to operate the XM-4
satellite at 115° West Longitude expires in December 2014. We will be required to apply for a renewal or extension of our
FCC license for each of these satellites prior to the expiration of the license term. We anticipate that, absent significant
misconduct on our part, the FCC will renew or extend our license for each satellite to permit operation of each satellite for its
approximate 15 year useful life, and grant a license for any replacement satellites. From time to time, we may seek authority
from the FCC to operate our satellites at orbital locations other than those authorized in the licenses for those satellites. The
U.8. government is responsible for coordinating our satellites through the International Telecommunication Union (“ITU™)
and must make periodic filings on our behalf at the ITU.

The FCC has indicated that it may in the future impose public service obligations, such as channel set-asides for educational
programming, on satellite radio licensees. Some entities have asked the FCC to impose public service obligations on satellite
radio licensees.

In November 2005, the FCC released a decision extending Emergency Alert System (“EAS™) obligations to satellite radio
operators. These obligations became effective on December 31, 2006. In December 2005, we asked the FCC to reconsider its
decision by relaxing its requirements for testing of EAS alerts and for transmitting EAS codes and attention signals on certain
channels. Our reconsideration request is pending.




The FCC’s rules require interoperability with all licensed satellite radio systems that are operational or under construction,
The ECC conditioned our license on certification by us that our final receiver design is interoperable with the final receiver
design of the other licensee, SIRIUS Radio, which uses a different transmission technology than we use. We have previously
certified and reconfirmed that we comply with this obligation. Although we believe that we are currently in compliance, the
FCC has not expressly acknowledged our compliance. We have signed an agreement with SIRIUS Radio to develop a
common receiver platform combining the companies’ proprietary chipsets, but the companies have not completed final
design of an operational radio using this platform. If the FCC were to interpret the interoperability requirement in a manner
that mandates a particular radio design, complying with this requirement could make the radios more difficult and costly to
manufacture. In January 2005, the FCC asked us as well as SIRIUS to file a report detailing the current status of efforts to
develop an interoperable receiver. XM and SIRIUS submitted a joint report in March 2005.

The FCC order granting our satellite Jicense determined that because we operate a private satellite system under the
Communications Act and FCC rules providing a subscription service on a non-common carrier basis, we would not be
subject to the FCC’s foreign ownership restrictions. However, such restrictions would apply to us if we were to offer
nan-subscription services. The FCC also stated in its order that it may reconsider its decision not to subject satellite radio
licensees to its foreign ownership restrictions.

In April 2004, the FCC initiated a proceeding with respect to terrestrial digital radio in which it also inquired as to whether it
should take action to prevent recording and Internet redistribution of musical recordings that are part of satellite radio
broadcasts. In June 2004, we filed comments urging the FCC not to take any action in this proceeding with respect to satellite
radio. SIRIUS Radio filed a similar request. This proceeding is pending.

In June and October 2006, the National Association of Broadcasters (“NAB”) submitted letters to the FCC asking the FCC to
open an investigation examining the issues raised by free access to satellite radio programming, such as (a) in new cars that
have satellite radio receivers pre-installed, (b) in rental cars, and (c) through transmissions from the FM modulators of
satellite radio receivers to nearby vehicles not equipped with satellite radio receivers. NAB argues that free access to satellite
radio programming requires the FCC to apply similar regulations to terrestrial and satellite radio. To date, the FCC has not
acted in response to these letters.

Repeater Authorization

The FCC is currently conducting a rulemaking proceeding to establish rules for terrestrial repeater transmitters of satellite
radio operators, which XM uses 1o fill in gaps in satellite coverage. The FCC allows XM to operate a network of such
repeaters pursuant to Special Temporary Authority (“STA”) granted in September 2001. The FCC has proposed a form of
blanket licensing for terrestrial repeaters and service rules, which would prohibit satellite radio licensees from using,
terrestrial repeating transmitters to originate local programming or transmit signals other than those received from the
satellite radio satellites. Various parties, including the National Association of Broadcasters, Wircless Communications
Service (“WCS”) licensees, Multipoint Distribution Service (“MDS™) licensees, and Instructional Television Fixed Service
(“ITFS™) licensees have asked the FCC to:

» limit the power leve! of the repeaters to no more than 2 kW peak Effective Isotropic Radiated Power (“EIRP™);
«  limit the number of repeaters operating at greater than 2 kW peak power EIRP;

« delay consideration of terrestrial repeater rules until XM Radio and SIRIUS Radio provide additional information
regarding planned terrestrial repeaters;

* require individual licensing of each terrestrial repeater; and

+  impose a waiting period on the use of repeaters in order to determine if signal reception problems can be resolved
through other means.

Our continued operation and deployment of terrestrial repeaters may be impacted by whatever rules the FCC ultimately issues in
this regard, although we believe these impacts are not likely to be material to our business. We have made a proposal to the FCC
that any limits on the power of terrestrial repeaters not be lower than 40 kW EIRP or, alternativety, 18 kW EIRP calculated by
averaging power over 360 degrees. We have also proposed to coordinate with WCS licensees in certain cases prior to operating
terrestrial repeaters above 2 kW EIRP. The coordination may include our providing filters in certain instances to limit the
interference WCS licensees claim will result from our operation of repeaters operating above 2 kW EIRP.
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On November I, 2001, the FCC issued a further request for comments on varicus proposals for permanent rules for the
operation of terrestrial repeaters. We have opposed some of these proposals. Some of the FCC’s proposals and proposals
made by other parties, if adopted by the FCC, could impact our ability to operate terrestrial repeaters, including requiring us
1o reduce the power of some of our current repeaters, and subject us to monetary liability to compensate other FCC licensees
that claim they receive interference from our repeaters.

As noted above, we are currently operating terrestrial repeaters pursuant to STA. This STA authorizes us to operate our
terrestrial repeaters for commercial service on a non-interference basis. Because the STA was conditioned in this manner, we
are required either to reduce power or cease operating a repeater upon receipl of a written complaint of interference. In 2001,
one party that opposed XM Radio’s request for STA filed an application for review of the decision granting us an STA,
asking the FCC to reverse the decision and deny XM Radio’s STA request. This Application for Review is still pending.

On November 26, 2003, we applied for an STA to operate an additional forty-nine repeaters in new markets that were not
authorized under our September 2001 STA. This request was opposed by a coalition of WCS licensees claiming that grant of
this request would result in interference and would prejudice the outcome of the final rules governing repeaters. Our request
was granted in September 2004 over these objections. Our grants of STA to operate all of our terrestrial repeaters have
expired by their terms, but pursuant to the FCC’s rules, we are allowed to and have continued to operate these terrestrial
repeaters under STA pending a final determination on our extension request.

In Qctober 2006, we disclosed to the FCC that several hundred of our repeaters were not built pursuant to the exact terms of
our STAs. These differences include some repeaters not being built in the exact locations, or with the same antenna heights,
power levels, or antenna characteristics set forth in the STAs. A number of repeaters were built withoul an obviously
applicable authorization. We brought a number of these repeaters into full compliance with our authorizations by turning
down their power levels. We also discontinued operation of some repeaters. As a result, we believe that service quality in
portions of the affected metro areas has been somewhat reduced, including in terms of more frequent interruptions andfor
occasional outages to the service. There has been no impact on the satellite signal. Immediately following our disclosure to
the FCC we filed for both a 30-day STA and a 180-day STA with respect to our terrestrial repeater network. In these STA
requests, we are seeking authority to continue to operate our entire repeater network, as built, despite the variances we
disclosed. We have held meetings with the staff of the FCC regarding these matters. NAB has opposed our STA requests and
has asked the FCC to initiate an investigation into our deployment of repeaters and to impose sanctions. A coalition of WCS
licensees has also opposed our STA requests and has asked the FCC to require us to immediately reduce the power of any
unauthorized repeaters to no more than 2000 Watts peak EIRP. The WCS licensees also dispute whether the power levels the
FCC has authorized for our repeater operations are with regard to peak power or average power. We have interpreted our
FCC authorizations to be in terms of average power and a contrary interpretation would have a significant impact on
operations. Our deployment of terrestriat repeaters may be affected by the FCC’s further actions, when taken. In February
2007, we received a letter of inquiry from the FCC relating to these matters. This proceeding may result in the imposition of
financial penalties against us or adverse changes to our repeater network resulting from having repeaters turned off or
otherwise modified in a manner that would reduce service quality in the affected areas. There can be no assurance regarding
the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial
position. These recent STA requests are distinct from (and if granted would replace) the STAs originally granted by the FCC
relating to our commencing and continuing operation of the repeater network.

The FCC also may adopt limits on emissions of terrestrial repeaters to protect other services using nearby frequencies. While
we believe that we will meet any reasonable non-interference standard for terrestrial repeaters, the FCC has no specific
standard at this time, and the application of such limits might increase our cost of using repeaters. Although we are optimistic
that we will be able to construct and use terrestrial repeaters as needed, the development and implementation of the FCC’s
ultimate rules might delay this process or restrict our ability 10 do so. We believe that it is not likely that an FCC order would
materially impact the terrestrial repeater system design currently in operation.

Coordination and Interference Matiters

We are required to coordinate the XM Radio system with systems operating in the same frequency bands in adjacent
countries, particularly Canada and Mexico. The United States government, which conducts the coordination process, has
entered into coordination agreements with both the Canadian and Mexican governments. XM Canada, our exclusive
Canadian licensee, received a license to operate a satellite radio service in Canada using our existing satellites, which provide
coverage of the densely populated regions of Canada.
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We operate the communication uplinks to our satellites from earth stations in Washington, DC (primary) and Atlanta, GA
(backup) in a band of radio frequencies that are used for several other services, such as fixed services, broadcast auxiliary
services, electronic news gathering services, and uplink feeder links for mobile satellite services. The FCC has granted us
licenses for these earth stations. The license for our Washington, DC earth station expires in March 2011 and the license for
our Atlanta earth station expires in August 2019. We can seek authority from the FCC to extend these license terms.

Our service may be subject to interference caused by other users of radio frequencies. From time to time, the FCC has
permitted or has proposed to permit new uses of radio frequencies that could result in interference to our service, particularly
unlicensed operations in adjacent frequency bands. Moreover, the FCC has permitted or has proposed to permit existing users
of radio frequencies to operate in ways that could result in interference to our operations. We have expressed and continue to
express concerns to the FCC regarding the potential for other uses of radio frequencies to cavse interference to our service. If
the FCC does not adopt sufficient technical limits on these other uses of radio frequencies, our service may be adversely
affected.

FM Modulator Investigation

In April 2006 and August 2006, we received letters of inquiry from the FCC’s Enforcement Bureau regarding FM modulator
wireless transmitters in various XM radios and whether such transmissions were in compliance with permissible zmission
timits. No health or safety issues have been involved with these wireless XM radios. We have responded to the FCC’s letters,
implemented a series of design and installation modifications, and through October 2006, obtained new certifications for six
models of modified XM radios using our new SureConnect technology. In addition, we have implemented a regulatory
compliance plan, including the appointment of an FCC regulatory compliance officer to monitor FCC regulatory coinpliance,
specifically with reference to the design, verification/certification, and production of XM radio receivers. We are in
discussions with the FCC to resolve this matter and have proposed entering into a consent decree requiring both additional
remedial action and a voluntary contribution to the federal government. NAB has asked the FCC to require a recall of
non-compliant devices from our retailers and distributors. We cannot predict at this time the extent of any further actions that
we will need to undertake or the extent of the financial obligations we may incur. There can be no assurance regarding the
ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.

Proposed Merger with SIRIUS

On February 19, 2007, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. under which our
business would be combined with that of SIRTUS through a merger of XM and a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of
SIRIUS.

The completion of the merger is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of our stockholders
and SIRIUS’s stockholders and receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the Federal
Communications Commission and under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended). The
merger is intended to qualify as a reorganization for federal income tax purposes. .
At the effective time of the merger, by virtue of the merger and without any action on the part of any stockholder, each share
of our Class A common stock then issued and outstanding will be converted into the right to receive 4.6 shares of common
stock of SIRIUS. Each share of our Series A convertible preferred stock then issued and outstanding similarly will be
converted at the effective time of the merger into the right to receive 4.6 shares of a newly-designated series of preferred
stock of SIRIUS having the same powers, designations, preferences, rights and qualifications, limitations and restrictions as
the stock so converted.

'

Mr. Mel Karmazin, currently chief executive officer of SIRIUS, will become chief executive officer of the combined

=ompany and Mr. Gary M. Parsons, currently our chatrman, will become chairman of the combined company. The combined
:ompany’s board of directors will consist of 12 directors, including Messrs. Karmazin and Parsons, four independent
1embers designated by each company, as well as two representatives of the auto industry who are current members of our
vard of directors.

\e merger agreement contains certain termination rights both for us and for SIRIUS. If the merger agreement is terminated
der circumstances specified in the merger agreement due to action by one of the parties, we or SIRIUS, as the case may be,

' be required to pay the other a termination fee of $ 175,000,000.
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Our board of directors and the board of directors of SIRIUS has approved the merger,

The merger agreement contains representations and warranties which the parties thereto made to, and solely for, the benefit
of each other. The assertions embodied in those representations and warranties are qualified by information in confidential
disclosure schedules that the parties have exchanged in connection with signing the merger agreement and that modify,
qualify and create exceptions to the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement. We and SIRIUS each
have made covenants in the merger agreement about continuing our or their business in the ordinary course,

The foregoing description of the merger does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 21, 2007 and the merger agreement filed as an exhibit to that Form 8-K and
incorporated into this report by reference.

Satisfaction of the closing conditions could take several months or longer, There can be no assurance that the conditions to
completion of the merger will be met, or that the merger will be completed.

Staternents made in this Form 10-K relating to our business strategies, operating plans, planned expenditures, expected
capital requirements and other forward-looking statements regarding our business do not take into account potential future
impacts of our proposed merger with SIRIUS.

Personnel

As of December 31, 2006, we had 860 employees. In addition, we rely upon a number of consultants, other advisors and
outsourced relationships. The extent and timing of any increase in staffing will depend on the availability of qualified
personnel and other developments in our business. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we believe
that our relationship with our employees is good.
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RISK FACTORS

Potential investors are urged to read and consider the risk factors relating to an investment in XM Satellite Radio Holdings
Inc. contained herein. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider these risks as well as other
information we include in or incorporate by reference into our public filings with the SEC. The risks and uncertainties we
have described are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presenily known to us or
that we currently consider immaterial may also affect our business operations.

The pending merger with SIRIUS may create uncertainty for our subscribers, employees and business partners.

On February 19, 2007, we announced that we had entered into a merger agreement with Sirius Satellite Radio. The merger is
currently expected to close by the end of 2007. While the merger is pending, consumers may delay or defer decisions to
become XM subscribers and existing subscribers may experience uncertainty about our service, including the results of any
integration of our satellite system with that of SIRIUS. This may adversely affect our ability to gain new subscribers and
retain existing subscribers, which could adversely affect our revenues as well as the market price of our Class A common
stock. Current employees may experience uncertainty about their post-merger roles with XM, and key employees may depart
because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to remain with XM follewing the
merger. Other parties with which we have or are pursuing relationships, such as programmers, radio manufacturers and
retailers, may defer further arrangements with us.

The merger with SIRIUS is subject to various approvals and may not occur.

We and SIRIUS must obtain shareholder approval and governmental approvals, most significantly from the FCC and either
the Department of Justice or Federal Trade Commission under the antitrust laws. If we do not receive these approvals, or do
not receive them in a timely manner or on satisfactory terms, then we may not be able to complete the merger. The approval
needed from the FCC may be complicated by provisions of our FCC license providing for two satellite radio companies.
Governmental agencies may impose limitations on the business of the combined company or require divestiture of assets as a
condition to approval of the merger, which may result in one of the parties to the merger being entitled to and electing not to
proceed with the merger or reduce the anticipated benefits of the merger. We cannot assure you that the merger will be
completed in the anticipated time frame or at all. A failure to complete the merger may result in a decline in the market price
of our Class A common stock.

We will incur significant transaction and merger-related costs in connection with the merger.

We have already incurred and will incur transaction fees and other costs related to the merger, and expect to incur significant
costs associated with completing the merger and combining the operations of the two companies, which cannot be estimated
accurately at this time. Further, diversion of atiention from ongoing operations on the part of management and employees
could adversely affect our business. Although, after the merger closes, we expect that the elimination of duplicative costs, as
well as the realization of other efficiencies related to the integration of the businesses, may offset incremental transzction and
transaction-related costs over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in the near term, or at all. In addition, the terms of
our debt securities may require that we or the combined company offer to repurchase those securities upon the closing of the
merger, which may result in additional transaction costs. Also, speculation regarding the likelihood of the closing of the
merger could increase the volatility of our share price, and pendency of the merger could make it difficuit to effect other
significant transactions, to the extent opportunities arise to engage in such transactions. We will incur these costs, as well as
face the disruptions to our business and the harm to our relationships with subscribers, employees and business partners
discussed above, even if the merger is not completed.

The merger may not provide all of the anticipated benefits.

If we are able to complete the merger, we expect to achieve various benefits from combining our and SIRIUS’s resources, .
including the ability to provide an increased number of channels to subscribers and synergies resulting from combining our |

technology and innovation efforts, as well as significant cost savings from a combined operation. Achieving the anticipated
benefits of the merger will depend in part upon whether our two companies integrate our businesses in an efficient and
effective manner. To date we have operated independently from SIRIUS and legal restrictions have in the past and will in the
future limit planning for integration of the two companies. Accordingly, we may not be able to accomplish this integration
process smoothly or successfully or in a timely manner. Any inability of management to integrate successfully the uperations
of our two companies, or to do so in a timely manner, could have an adverse effect on the combined company or the: expected
benefits from the merger.
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You could lose money on your investment because our expenses exceed our revenues.

Unless we continue to increase our revenues, we may not be able to operate our business and service our indebtedness and
you could lose money on your investment. Our ability to continue to increase our revenues and ultimately to become
profitable will depend upon several factors, including:

=  whether we can attract and retain enough subscribers to XM Radio;
= our ability to maintain the costs of obtaining and retaining subscribers and programming;
*  whether we compete successfully; and

* whether our XM Radio system continues to operate at an acceptable level.

Our cumulative expenditures and losses have been significant and are expected to grow.

As of December 31, 2006, we had incurred capital expenditures of $1.7 billion and cumulative net losses approximating $3.5
billion from our inception through December 31, 2006. We expect our cumulative net losses and curmnulative negative cash
flows to grow as we make payments under our various distribution and programming contracts, incur marketing and
subscriber acquisition costs and make interest payments on our outstanding indebtedness. If we are unable ultimately to
generate sufficient revenues to become profitable and generate positive cash flow, you could lose money on your investment.

Demand for our service may be insufficient for us to become profitable.

Because we offer a relatively new service, we cannot estimate with any certainty whether consumer demand for our service
will be sufficient for us to continue to increase the number of subscribers at projected rates or the degree to which we will
meet that demand. Over the past year, we have had to lower our guidance with regard to the number of subscribers we
expected to add during that year; and there can be no assurance that our guidance will not have to be revised in the future.

Among other things, continuing and increased consumer acceptance of XM Radio will depend upon:
*  whether we obtain, produce and market high quality programming consistent with consumers’ tastes;
= the willingness of consumers, on a mass-market basis, to pay subscription fees to obtain radio service;
* the cost and availability of XM radios; and

+ the marketing and pricing strategies that we employ and that are employed by our competitors.

If demand for our service does not continue to increase as expected, we may not be able to generate enough revenues to
generate positive cash flow or to become profitable.

We may need additional funding for our business plan and additional financing might not be available,

Although we believe we have sufficient cash and credit facilities available to fund our operations through when we expect
our business to generate positive cash flow on an onpoing basis, we may need additional financing due to future
developments or changes in our business plan. In addition, our actual funding requirements could vary materially from our
current estimates. 1f additional financing is needed, we may not be able to raise sufficient funds on favorable terms or at all.
Failing to obtain any necessary financing on a timely basis could result in a number of adverse effects that includes
defaulting on our commitment to creditors, which might cause us to seek a purchaser of our business or assets.

The unfavorable outcome of pending or future litigation or investigations could have a material adverse effect on us.

During the past year we became party to several legal proceedings, regulatery inquiries and other matters arising out of
various aspects of our business. They include an inquiry by the FCC based on a determination that the FM modulator
wireless transmitter on certain XM radios was not in compliance with permissible emission limits, an investigation by the
FTC into whether our activities are in compliance with various laws under FTC jurisdiction and most recently discussions
with the FCC about issues relating to our repeater network. We are subject to pending litigation, which includes a
consolidated action filed against us and our chief executive officer on behalf of purported nationwide classes of purchasers
claiming violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, alleging various statements by us and
our management failed to project accurately or disclose in a timely manner the amount of higher costs to obtain subscribers
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during the fourth quarter of 2005. The SEC has sent us letters asking for information relating to our subscriber targets, costs
associated with attempting to reach these targets during the third and fourth quarters of 2003, the departure of one of our
board members, our historic practices regarding stock options and certain other matters. We also ate a party to a suit brought
by a number of major record companies alleging that recently introduced XM radios that also have MP3 functionality
infringe upon plaintiffs’ copyrighted sound recordings. We are participating in a Copyright Royalty Board (CRB} proceeding
in order to set the royalty rate payable by XM under the statutory license covering our performance of sound recordings over
the XM system for the six year period starting in January 2007. We intend to cooperate fully with the govemmental
investigations and to vigorously defend all of our litigation maters, However, we cannot assure a favorable outcome of any
of these proceedings, or that an unfavorable outcome would not have a matenial adverse effect on our business or financial
results.

Large payment obligations under our agreements with General Motors and other automebile manufacturers,
suppliers of programming and others may prevent us from becoming profitable,

We have significant payment obligations under our agreements with automobile manufacturers, third-party suppliers of
programming and licensors of program royalties. Although we recently paid General Motors approximately $237 niillion to
climinate obligations to pay approximately $320 million during 2007, 2008 and 2009, we still have significant remaining
payment obligations under our long-term distribution agreement with General Motors. We also have or in the future will
have payment obligations under agreements with other automobile manufacturers, and we will need to negotiatz new or
replacement agreements with these or other manufacturers over the next several years. Under our multi-year agreement with
Major League Baseball® (“MLB") for the rights to broadcast MLB games live nationwide and be the Official Satellite Radio
provider of Major League Baseball®, we ase obligated to pay $60 million per year through 2012. We have many other
agreements and must negotiate renewal or replacement agreements with third-party suppliers of programming. Our payment
obligations could increase when agreements are renewed or replaced, and will increase under the terms of certain existing
agreements as the number of our subscribers increases. Changes in the cost of certain programming or other factors could
cause changes to our channel line-up in the future. These payment obligations could significantly delay our becoming
profitable.

We must maintain and pay license fees for music rights, and we may have disputes with copyright holders.

We mus! maintain music programming royaity arrangements with and pay license fees to Broadcast Music, Inc, (“BMI™), the
American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers (“ASCAP™) and the Society of European Stage Authors and
Composers, Inc. (“SESAC”). These organizations represent copyright users, collect royaities and distribute them to
songwriters and music publishers. We have a new five year agreement with ASCAP which establishes the license fee
amounts payable, but need to renegotiate the license fees under our agreements with the other entities. Under the Digital
Performance Right in Sound Recordings Act of 1995 and the Digital Millennium Copyright Act of 1998, we also have to
negotiate royalty arrangements with the copyright owners of the sound recordings, or if negotiation is unsuccessful, have the
royalty rate established by a copyright royalty board. New royalties with the Recording Industry Association of America
(“RIAA™), through its subsidiary, SoundExchange, need to be set, and over the next year that royalty is to be set by the
copyright royalty board. We are participating in a Copyright Royalty Board (CRB) proceeding in order to set the royalty rate
payable by XM under the statutory license covering our performance of sonnd recordings over the XM system for the six
year period starting in January 2007, We cannot assure you that royalty fees will remain at cusrent levels or that arbitration or
litigation, in addition to the CRB proceeding, will not arise in connection with royalty arrangements, and we cannot predict
what the royalty rates and other costs to our company from any such proceeding, or a settlement of such a dispute or
disputes, might be.

We have been sued by several companies in the recording industry alleging that XM radios that alse have MP3 functionality
infringe upon plaintiffs’ copyrighted sound recordings. We believe these new XM radios, which have various functionalities
widely available to consumers, comply with applicable copyright law, including the Audio Home Recording Act, Our motion
to dismiss this matter was denied. However, there can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the
significance, if any, to the Company's business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.

Our inability to retain customers, including those who purchase or lease vehicles that include a subscription to our
‘ervice, could adversely affect our financial performance.

'e cannot predict how successful we will be at retalning customers who purchase or lease vehicles that include a
bscription to our service as part of the promotion of our product. Over the past several quariers we have retained
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approximately 52% to 61% of the customers who receive a promotional subscription as part of the purchase or lease of a new
vehicle, but that percentage does vary over time and the amount of data on the percentage is limited. We do not know if the
percentage will change as the number of customers with promotional subscriptions increases.

We experience subscriber chum, with respect to our self-pay or non-promotional customers as well. Because we have been in
commercial operations for a relatively short period of time, we cannot predict the amount of churn we will experience over
the longer term. Our inability to retain customers who purchase or lease new vehicles with our service beyond the
promotional period and subscriber churn could adversely affect our financial performance and results of operations.

Loss or premature degradation of our existing satellites could damage our business.

We placed our XM-3 (“Rhythm”) and XM-4 (“Blues”) satellites into service during the second quarter of 2005 and fourth
quarter of 2006, respectively. Our XM-1 and XM-2 satellites experienced progressive degradation problems common to early
Boeing 702 class satellites and now serve as in-orbit spares. During 2007, we entered into a sale leaseback transaction with
respect to the transponders on our XM-4 satellite. If we fail to make the required payments under this arrangement, we could
lose the right to use XM-4 to broadcast our service. The terms of this arrangement also require that upon the occurrence of
specified events, including an operational failure or loss of XM-4, then we have to repurchase the satellite and we may not
receive sufficient insurance proceeds to do so. An operational failure or loss of XM-3 or XM-4 would, at least temporarily,
affect the quality of our service, and could interrupt the continuation of our service and harm our business. We likely would
not be able to complete and launch our XM-5 satellite before the second half of 2008. In the event of any satellite failure
prior to that time, we would need to rely on our back-up satellites, XM-1 and XM-2. We cannot assure you that restoring
service through XM-1 and XM-2 would allow us to maintain adequate broadcast signal strength through the in-service date
of XM-3, particularly if XM-1 or XM-2 were to suffer unanticipated additional performance degradation or experience an
operational failure.

A number of other factors could decrease the useful lives of our satellites, including:
= defects in design or construction;
» loss of on board station-keeping system;
+ failure of satellite components that are not protected by back-up units;
* electrostatic storms; and
* coilisions with other objects in space.
In addition, our network of terrestrial repeaters communicates principally with one satellite. If the satellite communicating

with the repeater network fails unexpectedly, we would have to realign all the repeaters to communicate with the other
satellite. This would result in a degradation of service that could last several days and could harm our business.

Potential losses may not be covered by insurance.

Insurance proceeds may not fully cover our losses. For example, our insurance does not cover the full cost of constructing,
launching and insuring new satellites, nor will it cover and we do not have protection against business interruption, loss of
business or similar losses. Also, our insurance contains customary exclusions, salvage value provisions, material change and
other conditions that could limit our recovery. Further, any insurance proceeds may not be received on a timely basis in order
to launch a spare satellite or construct and launch a replacement satellite or take other remedial measures. In addition, some
of our policies are subject to limitations involving large deductibles or co-payments and policy limits that may not be
sufficient to cover losses. If we experience a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds policy limits, this may impair our ability 1o
make timely payments on our outstanding notes and other financial obligations.

Competition could adversely affect our revenues.

In seeking market acceptance of our service, we encounter competition for both listeners and advertising revenues from
many sources, including Sirius Satellite Radio, the other U.S. satellite radio licensee; traditional and digital AM/FM radio;
Internet based audio providers; MP3 players; direct broadcast satellite television audio service; digital media services; and
cable systems that carry audio service.
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SIRIUS has announced that it had over 6 million subscribers as of December 31, 2006, including over 2.7 million net new
subscribers during the year then ended. SIRIUS broadcasts over 130 channels of programming and offers certain
programming that we do not offer, including the Howard Stern radio show. SIRIUS Radio service is offered as a dealer- and/
or factory-installed option on a number of vehicle mode! brands, including certain ones that do not offer XM. SIRIUS has
announced a number of new competitive product offerings. SIRIUS also is a partner in a Canadian joint venture sartnership
that competes with our Canadian licensee in providing satellite radio service in Canada. '

Unlike XM Radio, traditional AM/FM radio already has a well-established and dominant market presence for its services and
generally offers free broadcast reception supported by commercial advertising, rather than by a subscription fee. Also, many
radio stations offer information programming of a local nature, which XM Radio is not expected to offer as effectively as
local radio, or at all. To the extent that consumers place a high value on these features of traditional AM/FM radio, we are at
a competitive disadvantage to the dominant providers of audio entertainment services. Some radio stations have reduced the
number of commercials per hour, expanded the range of music played on the air and are experimenting with new formats in
order to compete with satellite radio.

Digital (or HD or high definition) radio broadcast services have been expanding, and as many as 1,000 radio stations in the
U.S. have begun digital broadcasting and approximately 3,000 have committed to broadcasting in digital format. The
technology permits broadcasters to transmit as many as five stations per frequency. To the extent that traditional AM/FM
radio stations adopt digital transmission technology such as that offered by iBiquity and to the extent such technology allows
signal quality that rivals our own, any competitive advantage that we enjoy over traditional radio because of our digital signal
would be lessened. A group of major broadcast radio networks recently created a coalition to jointly market digital radio
SCIVICES.

Internet radio broadcasts have no geographic limitations and can provide listeners with radio programming from: around the
country and the world. We expect that improvements from higher bandwidths, faster modems, wider programming selection
and mobile internet service, will make Internet radio increasingly competitive.

The Apple iPode, a portable digital music player that stores up-to 20,000 songs, allows users to download and pur:hase music
through Apple’s iTunese Music Store, which offers over 4 million songs, 100,000 podcasts, 20,000 audio books, 5,000 music
videos, 250 feature films and 350 television shows. Apple has disclosed that it sold over 39 million iPodse during its fiscal
2006 year. The iPode is also compatible with certain car stereos and various home speaker systems. Qur portable digital
audio players including those with MP3 capability compete with the iPode and other downloading technology and devices;
and some consumers may use their digital music players in their vehicles rather than subscribe to XM Radio.

Rapid technological and industry changes could make our service obsolete.

The satellite industry and the audio entertainment industry are both characterized by rapid technological change, frequent
new product innovations, changes in customer requirements and expectations, and evolving industry standards. If we are
unable to keep pace with these changes, our business may be unsuccessful. Because we have depended on third parties to
develop technologies used in key elements of the XM Radio system, more advanced technologies that we may wish to use
may not be available to us on reasonable terms or in a timely manner. Further, our-competitors may have access to
technologies not available to us, which may enable them to produce entertainment products of greater interest o consumers,
or at a more competitive cost,

Higher than expected subscriber acquisition costs could adversely affect our financial performance.

We are still spending substantial funds on advertising and marketing and in transactions with car and radio manufacturers
and other parties to obtain or as part of the expense of attracting new subscribers, including our subscriber acquisition costs
and costs per gross (or net) subscriber addition. Our ability to achieve cash flow breakeven and profitability within the
expected timeframe or at all depends on our ability to continue to maintain or lower these costs, which vary over time based
on a number of factors. If the costs of attracting new subscribers are greater than expected, our financial performance and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our business could be adversely affected by the performance of our business partners.

Our business depends in part on actions of third parties, including:

» the sale of new vehicles with factory installed XM radios;
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* the development and manufacture of XM radios and other XM-compatible devices; and

« the availability of XM radios for sale to the public by consumer electronics retailers.

The sale of vehicles with XM radios is an important source of subscribers for us. To the extent sales of vehicles by our
distribution partners slow, our subscriber growth could be adversely impacted. We do not manufacture satellite radios or
accessories, and we depend on manufacturers and others for the production of these radios and their component parts. If one
or more manufacturers raises the price of the radios or does not produce radios in a sufficient quantity to meet demand, or if
such radios were not to perform as advertised or were o be defective, sales of our service and our reputation could be
adversely affected. Our business or reputation also could be harmed in the event our retailing partners were to fail to make
XM radios available to the public in sufficient quantities, in a timely manner or at attractive prices.

Failure to comply with FCC requirements could damage our business.

As an owner of one of two FCC licenses to operate a commercial satellite radio service in the United States, an operator of a
terrestrial repeater sysiem and the holder of authorizations for the production of certain satellite radios, we are subject 1o FCC
rules and regulations and the terms of our licenses and other authorizations. We are required, among other things, to operate
only within specified frequencies and other limitations, and to meet certain conditions such as the availability of radios
interoperable with both our system and the other licensed satellite radio system; coordination of our satellite radio service
with radio systems operating in the same range of frequencies in neighboring countries; and coordination of our
communications links to our satellites with other systems that operate in the same frequency band. Non-compliance by us
with these requirements or conditions could result in fines, additicnal license conditions, license revocation or other
detrimental FCC actions.

The FCC has not issued final rules authorizing terrestrial repeaters.

The FCC has not yet issued final rules permitting us to deploy terrestrial repeaters to fill gaps in satellite coverage. We are
operating our repeaters on a non-interference basis pursuant to grants of Special Temporary Authority (“STA™) from the
FCC, which have expired. We have applied for extensions of these STAs and can continue to operate our terrestrial repeaters
pending a final determination on these requests. We have made filings with the Federal Communications Commission (FCC}
to update the information underlying our Special Temporary Authority (STA}) with respect to our repeater network, including
repeater power levels, locations and antenna characteristics. We have held meetings with the staff of the FCC regarding these
matters. In February 2007, we received a letter of inquiry from the FCC relating to these matters. One grant of STA and our
request to update are currently being opposed by operators of terrestrial wireless systems and others. This proceeding may
resull in the imposition of financial penalties against us or adverse changes to our repeater network resulting from having
repeaters turned off or otherwise modified in a manner that would reduce service quality in the affected areas.

One of our major business partners is experiencing financial difficulties.

On October 8, 2005, Delphi and 38 of its domestic U.S. subsidiaries, which we refer to collectively as Delphi, filed voluntary
petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern
District of New York. Delphi manufactures, in factories outside the United States, XM radios for installation in vartous
brands of GM vehicles. Delphi also distributes to consumer electronics retailers various models of XM radios manufactured
abroad. Pursvant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court dated January 5, 2007, Delphi Corporation secured replacement
debtor-in-possession financing up to an aggregate principal amount of $4.5 billion. The financing is guaranteed by all of the
other Delphi entities, which are debtors in the Delphi bankruptcy cases and is to be used in part 1o repay in full certain
outstanding pre-bankruptcy loans and all loans and obligations under Delphi’s original debtor-in-possession financing.
Delphi has also stated that its overall liquidity (including funds on hand outside the United States that Delphi does not plan to
repatriate to fund U.S. operations) will support its global operations outside the U.S. and help assure the continued adequacy
of working capital throughout Delphi’s global business units. Delphi has stated that its plants should continue normal
operations and GM has stated that Delphi expects no disruption in its ability to supply GM with the systems, components and
parts GM needs. Delphi has advised us that it expects no disruption in the continued supply of XM radios. However, we
cannot estimate with any reasonable assurance the impact, if any, on’XM or GM that may ultimately result from Delphi’s
petition for reorganization under Chapter 11.
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Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health, which could reduce the value of our
securities,

As of December 31, 2006, the total accreted value and carrying value of our indebtedness was $1.3 bitlion. We: may issue
more debt securities if we believe we can raise money on favorable terms. Most of our indebtedness will mature in 2013 and
2014, However, our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences to you. For example, it could:

» increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

+ limit our ability to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, research and development costs and other
general corporale purposes;

+ require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness,
thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, research and
development efforts and other general corporate purposes, |

1

«  limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we cperate;
+  place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

+  limit, along with the financial and other restrictive covenants in our indebtedness, among other things, our ability to
borrow additional funds.

Failing to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could cause us to
have 1o discontinue operations or seek a purchaser for our business or assets. In addition, the covenants allow us to incur
more debt in the future, which could increase our total indebtedness.

Weaker than expected market and advertiser acceptance of our XM Radio service could adversely affect our
advertising revenue and results of operations.

Our ability to generate advertising revenues will depend on several factors, including the level and type of market peneiration
of our service, competition for advertising doltars from other media, and changes in the advertising industry and economy
generally. We directly compete for audiences and advertising revenues with Sirius Satellite Radio, the other satellite radio
licensee, and traditional AM/FM radio stations, some of which maintain longstanding relationships with advartisers and
possess greater resources than we do, and “new media,” including internet, internet radic and podcasts. Because we offer our
radio service to subscribers on a pay-for-service basis, certain advertisers may be less likely to advertise on our radio service.

Our business may be impaired by third party intellectual property rights.

Development of the XM Radio system has depended largely upon the intellectual property that we have developed and
licensed from third parties. If the intellectual property that we have developed or use is not adequately protected, others will
be permitted to and may duplicate the XM Radio system or service without liability. In addition, others may challenge,
invalidate or circumvent our intellectual property rights, patents or existing sublicenses. Some of the know-how and
technology we have developed and plan to develop will not be covered by United States patents. Trade secret protection and
contractual agreements may not provide adequate protection if there is any unauthorized use or disclosure. The loss of
necessary technologies could require us to obtain substitute technology of lower quality performance standards, at greater
cost or on a delayed basis, which could harm our business.

Other parties may have patents or pending patent applications, which will later mature into patents or inventions which may
block our ability to operate our system or license our technology. We may have to resort to litigation to enforce our rights
under license agreements or to determine the scope and validity of other parties’ proprictary rights in the subject matter of
those licenses. This may be expensive. Also, we may not succeed in any such litigation. ‘

Third parties may assert claims or bring suit against us for patent or other infringement of intellectual property rights. Any
such litigation could result in substantial cost to, and diversion of effort by, our company, and adverse findings in any
proceeding could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties; require us to seek licenses from third parties; block our
ability to operate the XM Radio system or license its technology; or otherwise adversely affect our ability to successfully
develop and market the XM Radio system.
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Interference from other users could damage our business.

We may be subject to interference from adjacent radio frequency users, such as RF lighting and ultra-wideband (“UWB”)
technology, if the FCC does not adequately protect us against such interference in its rulemaking process.

Qur service network or other ground facilities could be damaged by natural catastrophes.

Since our ground-based network is attached to towers, buildings and other structures around the country, an earthquake,
tornado, flood or other catastrophic event anywhere in the United States could damage our network, interrupt our service and
harm our business in the affected area. We have backup central production and broadcast facilities; however, we do not have
replacement or redundant facilities that can be used to assume the functions of our repeater network in the event of a
catastrophic event. Any damage to our repeater network would likely result in degradation of our service for some
subscribers and could result in the complete loss of service in affected areas. Damage to our central production and broadcast
facility would restrict our production of programming to our backup facilities.

Consumers could steal our service,

Like ail radio transmissions, the XM Radio signal is subject to interception. Pirates may be able to obtain or rebroadcast XM
Radio without paying the subscription fee. Although we use encryption technology to mitigate the risk of signal thefi, such
technology may not be adequate to prevent theft of the XM Radio signal. If widespread, signal theft could harm our business.

We need to obtain rights to programming, which are expensive and could be more costly than anticipated.

Third-party content is an important part of the marketing of the XM Radio service and obtaining third-party content can be
expensive. We have a multi-year agreement with Major League Baseballe (“MLB”) to broadcast MLB games live
nationwide, and to become the Official Satellite Radio provider of Major League Baseballs, for which we have paid or will
pay $60 million for 2006 and $60 million per year thereafter through 2012. We have many other agreements and must
negotiate new agreements with third-party suppliers of programming. Such programming is expensive, and may be more
expensive in the future, given the growth of the satellite radio industry and amounts paid for other programming. Changes in
the cost of certain programming or other factors may cause changes to our channel line-up in the future. Our ability to obtain
necessary third-party content at a reasonable cost and re-negotiate programming agreements successfully will impact our
financial performance and results of operations.

We depend on certain on-air talent and other people with special skills. If we cannot retain these people, our business
could suffer.

We employ or independently contract with on-air talent who maintain significant loyal audiences in or across various
demographic groups. We cannot assure that our on-air talent will remain with us or will be able to retain their respective
audiences. If we lose the services of one or more of these individuals, and faii to attract comparable on-air talent with similar
audience loyalty, the attractiveness of our service to subscribers and advertisers could decline, and our business could be
adversely affected. We also depend on the continued efforts of our executive officers and key employees, who have
specialized technical knowledge regarding our satellite and radio systems and business knowledge regarding the radio
industry and subscription services. If we lose the services of one or more of them, or fail to attract qualified replacement
personnel, it could harm our business and our future prospects.

The market price of our securities could be hurt by substantial price and volume fluctuations.

Historically, securities prices and trading volumes for growth stocks fluctuate widely for a number of reasons, including
some reasons that may be unrelated to their businesses or results of operations. This market volatility could depress the price
of our securities without regard to our operating performance. In addition, our operating or financial results may be below the
expectations of public market analysts and investors. If this were to occur, the market price of our securities would likely
decrease, and such decreases could be significant.

Future issuances or sales of our Class A common stock could lower our stock price or impair our ability te raise funds
in new stock offerings.

We have issued and outstanding securities exercisable for or convertible into a significant number of shares of our Class A
common stock. The conversion or exercise of these existing securities could lead to a significant increase in the amount of
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Class A common stock outstanding. As of December 31, 2006, we had outstanding approximately 306 million shares of’
Class A common stock. On a pro forma basis as of December 31, 2006, if we issued all shares issuable upon conversion or,
exercise of outstanding securities, we would have had approximately 360 million shares of Class A common stock.
outstanding on that date. Issuances of a large number of additional shares could adversely affect the market price of our
Class A common stock. Most of the shares of our Class A common stock that are not already publicly-traded, including those
held by affiliates, have been registered by us for resale into the public market. The sale into the public market of a large
number of privately-issued shares also could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and could'

impair our ability to raise funds in additional stock offerings.

It may be hard for a third party to acquire us, and this eould depress our stock price. |

We are a Delaware company with unissued preferred stock, the terms of which can be set by our board of directors. Our
shareholder rights plan, which includes a waiver in respect of our proposed merger with SIRIUS, could make it difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our security holders. The rights issued under the plan have certain
anti-takeover effects. The rights will cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire us In 4 manaer or
on terms not approved by our board of directors. The rights should not deter any prospective offeror willing to negotiate in
good faith with our board of directors. Nor should the rights interfere with any merger or other business combination
approved by our board of directors. However, anti-takeover provisions in Delaware law and the shareholder rights plan could
depress our stock price and may result in entrenchment of existing management, regardless of their performance. '
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None,

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Location Purpose
Washington, DC __Corporate headquarters, studio/production facilities , . T
Washington, DC Data center

I])ee.rﬁglcl_gf:ach, Florida Office and technical/engineering facilities s Lex

New York, New York Office and studio/production facilities
i\lew York, New York . Studjo/production facilities @ Jazz at Lincoln Center

Nashville, Tennessee  Studio/preduction facilities @ the Country Music Hall of Fame
IC-L_l;'gl_gg, Ilinots ~ Snidio/production facility ' ST Lo T Tdase - ]

The corporate headquarters and data center located in Washington, DC are subject to mortgage liens in favor of the equity
owner of the lessor of the transponders of our XM-4 satellite.

The Company’s four satellites are in geostationary orbits. XM-1 and XM-2 are collocated at the 115° West Longitude orbital
location along with XM-4; while XM-3 is located at the 85° West Longitude orbital location. In February 2007, we entered
into a sale leaseback transaction with respect to the transponders on XM-4. The lease term {or the XM-4 transponders is nine
years with an early buy-out option in year five and a buy-out option at the end of the term. The Company also has
approximately 800 terrestrial repeaters in operation to ensure XM signal coverage.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are currently subject to claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or party to legal proceedings, in various
matters described below. In addition, in the ordinary course of business we become aware from time to time of claims,
potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or may become party to legal proceedings arising out of various matters, such as
contract matters, employment related matters, issues relating to our repeater network, product liability issues, copyright,
patent, trademark or other intellectual property matters and other federal regulatory matters.

Litigation and Arbitration

Securities class action — A consolidated action is pending in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on
behalf of a purported nationwide class of purchasers of XM’s common stock between July 28, 2005 and February 16, 2006
against XM and its chief executive officer. The complaint, as amended in September 2006, seeks an unspecified amount of
damages and claims violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5
thereunder, alleging various statements made during the putative class period by us and our management failed to project
accurately or disclose in a timely manner the amount of higher costs to obtain subscribers during the fourth quarter of 2005.
We have filed a motion to dismiss this matter.

We believe the allegations are without merit, and we intend to vigorously defend this matter. There can be no assurance
regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated results of operations
or financial position.

Atlantic Recording Corporation, BMG Music, Capital Records, Inc., Elektra Entertainment Group Inc., Interscope Records,
Motown Record Company, L.P., Sony BMG Music Entertainment, UMG Recordings, Inc., Virgin Records, Inc and Warner
Bros. Records Inc. v. XM Satellite Radio Inc. — Plaintiffs filed this action in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York on May 16, 2006. The complaint seeks monetary damages and equitable relief, alleging that recently
introduced XM radios that also have MP3 functionality infringe upon p]amnffs copyrighted sound recordings. Our motion to
dismiss this matter was denied in January 2007.

We believe these allegations are without merit and that these products comply with applicable copyright law, including the
Audio Home Recording Act, and we intend to vigorously defend the matter. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate
outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, 1o our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.
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Matthew Enderlin v. XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Inc. — Plaintiff filed this action in the United
States District Court for the Eastern District of Arkansas on January 10, 2006 on behalf of a purported nationwide class of all
XM subscribers. The complaint alleges that we engaged in a deceptive trade practice under Arkansas and other staie laws by
representing that our music channels are commercial-free. We have filed an answer to the complaint, and instituted
arbitration with the American Arbitration Association pursuant to the compulsory arbitration clause in our customer service
agreement. The arbitration has been stayed pending judicial determination whether a court or the arbitrator decides
arbitrability. The matter is currently pending before the United States Court of Appeals for the Eight Circuit from the denial
of a stay by the district court. We believe the suit is without merit and intend to vigorously defend the matter. There can be
no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated results of
operations or financial position.

Copyright Royalty Board Arbitration — We are participating in a Copyright Royalty Board (CRB) proceeding in order to set
the royalty rate payable by XM under the statutory license covering our performance of sound recordings over the XM
system for the six year period starting in January 2007. XM and SIRIUS have recently filed their direct cases with the CRB
proposing a rate of 0.88% of each of their adjusted gross revenues for this statutory license. SoundExchange, a collective
operated on behalf of owners of copyrighted recordings, such as the major record labels, has filed a direct case proposing a
rate increasing from 10% of adjusted gross revenues for the first year of the license increasing each year to over 23% during
the final year of the license term; their requested guaranteed minimums could result in a rate in excess of the foregoing
percentages. We are also participating in a concurrent proceeding to set the royalty rate payable by XM under the statutory
license covering our performance of sound recordings over XM channels transmitted over the DIRECTV satellite television
system. We anticipate that hearings in these maiters will take place in early 2007, and that the CRB will render its decision
by the end of 2007. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of these matters, or their significance to our
business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.

Satellite Insurance Settlement Update — In July 2004, we reached agreement with insurers covering 80% of thz aggregate
sum insured in connection with the progressive solar array power degradation issue that is common to the first six Boeing
702 class satellites put in orbit (XM-2 and XM-1 were the fifth and sixth Boeing 702s launched). The settlement v/as at a rate
equal to 44.5% of the proportionate amount covered by each of these insurers, representing a total recovery of approximately
$142 million from these insurers. We were notified that we were not successful in our arbitration claim against the remaining
insurers, and will not receive any further insurance proceeds with regard to this issue. The result of this arbitrarion did not
affect the July 2004 agreements with respect to the 80% of the aggregate sum insured.

Regulatory Matters and Inquiries

Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”) i

FCC Receiver Matter — As we have previously disclosed, we have received inquiries from, and responded to, the Federal
Communications Commission regarding FM modulator wireless transmitters in various XM radios not in compliance with
permissible emission limits. No health or safety issues have been involved with these wireless XM radios. '

We have implemented a series of design and installation meodifications, and through October 2006, we obtained new
certifications for six models of modified XM radios using our new SureConnect technology. In addition, we have
implemented a regulatory compliance plan, including the appointment of an FCC regulatory compliance officer, to monitor
FCC regulatory compliance, specifically with reference to the design, verification/certification, and production of XM radio
receivers.

We have been submitting documents to the FCC and are in discussions with the FCC to resolve this matter. We cannot
predict at this time the extent of any further actions that we will need to undertake or any financial obligations we may incur.

There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to our business, consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

FCC Repeater Network Matter — We have recently filed for both a 30-day Special Temporary Authority (STA) and a
180-day STA with respect to our terrestrial repeater network. We are seeking authority to continue to operate our entire
repeater network despite the fact that the characteristics of certain repeaters, as built, differ from the submitted data in the
original STAs granted for our repeater network. These differences include some repeaters not being built in the exact
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locations, or with the same antenna heights, power levels, or antenna characteristics than set forth in the carlier STAs. Prior
to making these recent filings, we reduced the power or discontinued operation of certain repeaters. As a result, we believe
that service quality in portions of the affected metro areas has been somewhat reduced, including in terms of more frequent
interruptions and/or occasional outages to the service. There has been no impact on the satellite signal. We have recently held
meetings with the staff of the FCC regarding these matters. In February 2007, we received a letter of inquiry from the FCC
relating to these matters. This proceeding may result in the imposition of financial penalties against us or adverse changes to
our repeater network resulting from having repeaters turned off or otherwise modified in a manner that would reduce service
quality in the affected areas. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to
our business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.

These recent STA requests are distinct from (and if granted would modify) the STAs originally granted by the FCC relating
to our commencing and continuing cperation of the repeater network. As we have been disclosing for many years, the FCC
has not yet issued final rules permitting us (or SIRIUS) to deploy terrestrial repeaters, and we have been deploying and
operating our repeater network based on those early STAs and requests we have filed previously to extend the time periods
of those STAs, which have expired. We (and SIRIUS) and others have been requesting that the FCC establish final rules for
repeater deployment.

Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”)

FTC Inguiry —— On April 25, 2006, we received a letter from the Federal Trade Commission stating that they are conducting
an inquiry into whether our activities are in compliance with various acts, including the FTC Act, the Telemarketing Sales
Rule, the Truth in Lending Act and the CAN-SPAM Act. This letter requests information about a variety of our marketing
activities, including free trial periods, rebates, telemarketing activities, billing and customer complaints.

We have been submitting documents to the agency in response to the letter and are cooperating fully with this inquiry. There
can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to our business, consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)

SEC Inguiry — As previously disclosed, by letter dated August 31, 2006 and subsequent follow-up letters, the Staff of the
Securities and Exchange Comumission (“SEC”) requested that we voluntarily provide documents to the Staff, including
information relating to our subscriber targets, costs associated with attempting to reach those targets during the third and
fourth quarters of 2005, the departure of Mr. Roberts from our board of directors, our historic practices regarding stock
options and certain other matters. In this connection we retained outside counsel, who engaged an independent accounting
advisor. to conduct a review of our stock option practices. The inquiry did not reveal the existence of material errors in any
prior financial statements.

We have been submitting documents to the SEC in response to their requests and are cooperating fully with this inquiry.

There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate cutcome of these SEC matters, or the significance, if any, to our business,
consotidated resulis of operations or financial position.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2006.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our Class A common stock has been quoted on The NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “XMSR”™ since its initial
public offering on October 5, 1999 at a price to the public of $12.00 per share. The following table presents, for the period
indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of the Class A common stock as reported on The NASDAQ National
Market:

High ~ _Low
2005:
Fitst Quarter R . T s38a8 $2149
Second Quarter 3483 26.16
Third Quarter .o ot tEn T 3131 32.47% |
Fourth Quarter 36.91 26.99
2006: 5
First Quarfer’ O L e 3046 19.68
Second Quarter 2421 1277
Third Quarter . _ e T T a8 943
Fourth Quarter 16.08 9.91
2007:
First Quarter (through January 31,2007) T T 1714 1390

i

On January 31, 2007, the reported last sale price of our Class A common stock on The NASDAQ National Market was
$14.21 per share. As of January 31, 2007, there were 1,888 holders of record of our Class A common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any dividends on our Class A common stock since our date of inception. Cur Series B
convertible redeemable preferred stock restricted us from paying dividends on our Class A common stock. unless full
cumnulative dividends had been paid or set aside for payment on all shares of our Series B convertible redeemable preferred
stock. The terms of our Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock contained similar restrictions. In accordance with its
terms, we paid dividends on the Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock in Class A common stock. The Series C
convertible redecmable preferred stock provided for cumulative dividends payable in cash. As no dividends were declared on
the Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock, the value of the cumulative dividends increased the liquidation
preference. As of December 31, 2006, there were no outstanding shares of our Series B convertible redeemable preferred
stock or Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock. The indentures governing our subsidiary XM Satellite Radio Inc.’s
senior notes restrict XM Satellite Radio Inc. from paying dividends to us, which, in turn, will significantly limit our ability to
pay dividends. We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. We anticipate
that we will retain any earnings for use in our operations and the expansion of our business.

29




Purchases of Equity Securities

The following purchases of the Company’s Class A common stock were completed during the three months ended
December 31, 2006.

Total Number of Maximum Number
Shares Purchased  (or Approximate Dollar Value)
as Part of Publicly of Shares that May Yet Be

Total Number of Average Price  Announced Plans or Purchased Under the
Shares Purchased (1}  Paid per Share Plans or Programs
October | - October A1-2006, - o e v wal tans ol Tl T e T e T g
November 1, 2006 - November 30, 2006 5,502 $14.03 — —
December 1, 2006 - December 31, 20067 © -+ o 0 S egin ot T VL ]

{1) Represenis the number of shares acquired as payment by employees of applicable statutory minimum withhelding taxes owed upon vesting of restricted
stock granted under the Company’s 1998 Shares Award Plan.

Stockholder Return Performance Graph

The following graph shows the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s Class A common stock compared to
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index, composed of publicly traded companies
which are principally in the telecommunications business, and the NASDAQ 100 Stock Index for the periods between
December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2006. The Company has included the NASDAQ 100 Stock Index, which represents
the largest non-financial companies listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market based on market capitalization, because it was
added to this index in December 2004. The graph assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2001 in (1) the Company’s
Class A common stock, (2) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, (3) the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index and (4) the
NASDAQ 100 Index. Totat stockholder return is measured by dividing total dividends, assuming dividend reinvestment, plus
share price change for a period by the share price at the beginning of the measurement period.

COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC., THE S&P 500 INDEX,
THE NASDAQ TELECOMMUNICATIONS INDEX AND THE NASDAQ 100 INDEX

250

Dec-01 Dec-02 Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06
YEAR

= Nasdaq 100 Index =—4&— Nasdaq Telecommunications Index
~{O=S&P 500 Index =>&=XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.

*  $100 invested on 12/31/2001 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends, Fiscal year ending December 31.
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Stockholder Return Performance Table

Nasdag
Telecommunications XM Satellite Radio
Index Index S&P 500 Index Nasdaq 100 Index Holdings Inc. |

December 31, 20014+ .-

T 5100000 T ¢ $100.00 8100007 100,00+ - |

December 31, 2002

45.97 76.63 62.42 14.65

December 3L, 2003 . i i

K

Py

iR 7758 e 96850 5 93085 . ¢ 14319 |

December 31, 2004

B3.78 105.56 102.79 204.90

December 31,2005 . ...

7774 - 10873 ' 10432 - . 14858 |

December 31, 2006

99.32 123.54 111.40 78.70
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries

In considering the following selected consolidated financial data, you should also read our Consolidated Financial Statements
and accompanying Notes, and the section captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.” The Consolidated Statements of Operations data for the five-year period ended December 31, 2006
and the Consolidated Balance Sheets data as of December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our
Consolidated Financial Statements. These statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent registered accounting
firm. We have not declared or paid any dividends on our Class A common stock since our date of inception.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except share, per share and subscriber data) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Revenue o C el Tm e TN g 9334177 §70 558,266 8. 244443 ©% - 91,781 . $ 20,181]
Operating expenses:
[ Costofrevenue - = .ot S T s00738e T 405293 - 201,935 147,952 - 122,456]
Research & development (excludes

depreciation &amortization, shown below) 37,428 31,218 23,513 12,285 10,843
[' General & administrative (excludés < '.’t;,‘ ',‘-:_'A;‘fjf TRAy el R i ’ S
i~ depreciafion &amortization; showr below) -+ 5 % 88,626:" - - 43864 - 28,555 27,418 ° . - 26,448

Marketing (excludes depreciation & amortization,

shown below) 450,843 487,556 304,316 200,267 169,165
| Impaimment of goodwill © v Lo eir o twd el o i fee L ot St 11,461
Depreciation & armortization 168,880 145,870 147,165 158,317 118,588
I " Total operating expenses 0. s 1336515 CL113,801 L - 705484 546239 438,961
Operating loss (403 098) {555,535) (461,041) (454,458) {438,780)
Other income (expense): = s AR e TR R n
Interest income 2] 664 23,586 6,239 3,066 5,111
|~ - Interestexpense . - . - win cuedlieu CUO121,304) 7 (107,791 . (85.757) (110349 . (63,573)
Loss from de-leveraging transactions (122,189) (27,552) (76,621) (24,749) —
[ - TLoss from impairment of investmentsii, <7, 252 -2 L (76, STRY . e T e .

Equity in net Ioss of afﬁhate (23 229) {482) _ . -
[ Otherincome T s —

A%y T 2199) 19550, 2.230)
(664,385)  (615051)  (584,535)  (495012)
REIKE SRR eI T I, - -

Net loss before income taxes
[ Benefit from (provision for) deferred income taxess: 2

Net loss (666,715} (642,368) (584,535) (495 012)
"8.25% SenesBaqd’”' Fred §toc TR R 3 FE A
“ ' requivement..
8.25% Series B preferred stock reurement gain
(loss) - 8,761 —
| 8.25% Series C preferred stock retiremeént los® ik (US3TRELT =)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (731,692 $ (675312 $ (651,170) $ (604,880) $ (515871)

s aeEse (593

Welghted average shares used in comput.mg net loss per

common share—basic and diluted 270,586,682 219,620,468 197,317,607 125,176,320 86,735,257
Adjusted EB]TDA(I) $ (166,172) $ (403,699) $ (311,856} $ (293 138) $ (318,683)

| Total ending subscribers (3) 1 0 CETeaR S50 Y 5033057 L 3009124 - . 1,360,228 ~347,159]
Cash flow from operating activities $ (462,091 $ (166,717) $ (75,205) $ (245,123) § (294 289}

[ Cash flow from investing activities o, " i S0 (26444705 (206,123) $ - (36,320% §+ 14,621 .8." . (7,036]
Cash flow from financing activities $ 233,763 $ 365964 3 411,094 $ 615991 § 151,646
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December 31,

(in thousands) 2606 2008 2004 2003 2002
Selected Balance Sheet Data:

[ Cash and cash equivalents 3) -_ T $ 218216 § 71099t $ 717,867 § 418307 § 32818
Restricted investments 2,098 5438 4,492 4,151 29,742
[ System under construction ' ' ' - 126,049 216,527 329,355 92,577 55,0@
Property and equipment, net 849,662 673,672 461333 709,501 847,936
[". DARSIlicense . T 141387 141276 141227 141,200 144,042
Investments 80,592 187.403 — — —_
[ Total assets P ' "~ 1340618 2223661 1821635 1,526,782 1,160,280
Total subscriber deferred revenue 427,193 360,638 152,347 53,884 12,297
T Total deferred incomb '~ - . 140,695 151,210 - — —]
Long-term debt, net of current pomon 1,286,179 1,035,584 948,741 743,254 412,540
[\ Total liabilities T T T T a038498 . 2,142,713 1485472 993894 567,969
Stockholders' equity (deficit) (4) (397,880} 800,948 336,163 532,888 592,311

(1)

Net loss before interest income, interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization is commonly referred to in our business as “EBITDA.” ‘

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA excluding loss from de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments, equity :n net loss of
affiliate, other income (expense) and stock-based compensation. We belicve that Adjusted EBITDA provides a better measure of our «ore business
operating results and improves comparability. This non-GAAP measure should be used in addition 1o, but not as a substitute for, the analysis provided
in the statement of operations. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is a useful measure of our operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a significant basis
used by management 10 measure our success in acquiring, retaining and servicing subscribers because we believe this measure provides insight into our
ability to grow revenues in a cost-effective manner. Adjusted EBITDA is a calculation used as a basis for investors, analysts and credit rating agencies
to evaluate and compare the periodic and future operating performances and value of similar companies in our industry.

Because we have funded the build-out of our system through the raising and expenditure of large amounts of capital, our results of operations reflect
significant charges for depreciation, amoriization and interest expense. We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides helpful information about the operating
performance of our business, apart from the expenses associated with our physical plam or capital structure. We believe it is appropriate to exclude
depreciation, amortization and interest expense due to the variability of the timing of capital expenditures, estimated useful lives and Zluctvation in
interest rates. We exclude income taxes due to our tax losses and timing differences, certain periods will reflect a tax benefit, while others zn expense, in
which neither are reflective of our cperating results. Because of the variety of equity awards used by companies, the varying methodologies for
determining stock-based compensation expense and the subjective assumptions involved in those determinations, we believe excluding stock-based
compensation expense enhances the ability of management and investors to compare our core operating results with those similar companies in our
industry.

Equity in net loss of affiliate represents our share of losses in an affiliate in which we exercise significant influence, but do not control. Management
believes it is appropriate to exclude this loss when evaluating the performance of our core business operations. Additionally, we exclude loss from
de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments and other income (expense} because these items represent activity outsicle of our core
business operations.

There are limitations associated with the use of Adjusted EBITDA in evaluating our company compared with net loss, which reflects overall financial
performance. These limitations include the inclusion of: (1) interest income, (2) interest expense, (3) income taxes, (4) depreciation and amortization,
(5) loss from de-leveraging transactions, (6} loss from impairment of investments, (7) equity in net loss of affiliate, () other income (expense} and
(9) stock-based compensation in the computation of net loss. Users that wish 1o compare and evaluate our company based on our net loss should refer to
our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Adjusted EBITDA does not purport to represent operating loss or cash flow from operating activities, as
those terms are defined under United States generally accepted accounting principles, and should not be considered as an altenative to those
measuretments as an indicator of our performance. In addition, our measure of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of
other companies.
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The calculation of Adjusted EBITDA is shown below (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Reconciliation of Net loss to Ad_]usled EBITDA

[FoNetlossasreported o e o T4 Tl NI8872) (6667150 $642,368) - $(584,535)1 $(495,017]

Add back Net loss i llems not mcluded in EBITDA

[ Triterest income .- o S s S ~:,:j.(2-1.6't34)_ ) Q3,5§6)A‘_(6’f239) t
Interest expense 121,304 107.791 85,757 110,349 63,573

[ Depreciation & amortization -~ . - *° . ...+ o " CT168880 . 145870 - 147.165 > " 15831777 118,588
(Benefit from) provision for deferred income taxes (14) 2,330 27,317 — -_
EBITDAY, «- " f»i 0 voo = ivwss b= (450,366 (434,310) 7 (388:368)¢
Add back EBITDA items not included in Adjusled EBITDA:
[ =" Loss.from de-levétaging transactions. . = - i - 0wl 122,189 12 27,552
Loss from impairment of investments 76,572 —_ — —

| " Equity.in netloss of affiiate .~ ... % - T o

Other (income) expense

RS Y R
(5.842) (3 389)

" Stock-based S&i;ipensaﬁdﬁ.

Iadjusted EBITDA"

We consider subscribers (o be those who are receiving and have agreed (o pay for our service, either by credit card or by invoice, including those that
are currently in promotional periods paid in part by vehicle manufacturers, as well as XM activated radios in vehicles for which we have a contractual
right to receive payment for the use of our service. Radios that are revenue generating are counted individually as subscribers. Promotional periods
generally include the period of trial service plus 30 days to handle the receipt and processing of payments.

[n addition to the Cash and cash equivalents available 1o the Company, the Company has a $250 million credit facility with a group of banks and a $150
million credit facility with GM.

We have not declared or paid any dividends on our Class A common stock since our date of inception.

34




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provides information that we believe is relevant to an assessment and undlerstanding
of our financial condition and consolidated results of operations. Expectations of our future financial condition and results
of operations are based on our current business plan. This discussion should be read together with our Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying Notes beginning on page F-1 in ltem 8. of this Form 10-K.

Proposed Merger

On February 19, 2007, XM and Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. (“SIRIUS") entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the
“Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which XM and SIRIUS will combine our businesses through a merger of XM and a newly
formed, wholly owned subsidiary of SIRIUS (the “Merger”).

Each of XM and SIRIUS has made customary representations and warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement. The
completion of the Merger is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of XM’s and SIRIUS's
stockholders and receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the Federal Comraunications
Commission and under the Hant-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended).

Statements in the following discussion and analysis relating to our business strategies, operating plans, planned expenditures,
expected capital requirements and other forward-looking statements regarding our business do not take into account potential
future impacts of our proposed merger with SIRIUS.

Executive Summary

We are America’s leading satellite radio service company, providing music, news, talk, information, entertalnment and sports
programming for reception by vehicle, home and portable radios nationwide and over the Internet to over 7.7 million
subscribers. Our basic monthly subscription fee is $12.95. We believe XM Radio appeals to consumers because of our
innovative and diverse programming, nationwide coverage, many commercial-free music channels and digital sound quality.

.
Our channel lineup includes more than 170 digital channels of choice from coast to coast. We broadcast from our studios in
Washington, DC, New York City, including Jazz at Lincoln Center, Chicago and the Country Music Hall of Fame in
Nashville. We have added new and innovative programming to our core channel categories of music, sports, news, talk and
entertainment. Also included in the XM Radio service, at no additional charge, are the XM customizable sporis and stock
tickers available to users of certain receivers and other online services.

Qur target market includes the more than 240 million registered vehicles including the 16.5 million new cars sold zach year as
well as the over 110 million households in the United States. In addition, some of our recent and upcoming product offerings
focus on the portable and wearable audio markets. Broad distribution of XM Radio through new automobiles and through mass
market retailers is central to our business strategy. We are the leader in satellite-delivered entertainment and data services for
new automobiles through partnerships with General Motors, Honda/Acura, Toyota/l.exus/Scion, Hyundai, Nissan/Infiniti,
Porsche, Suzuki and Isuzu and available in more than 140 different vehicle models for model year 2007. XM radios are
available under the Delphi, Pioneer, Samsung, Alpine, Audiovox, Sony, Polk and other brand names at national consumer
electronics retailers, such as Best Buy, Circuit City, Wal-Mart, Target and other national and regional retailers. These mass
market retailers support our expanded line of car stereo, home stereo, plug and play and portable handheld products.

Operational Highlights

We summarize our business growth and operational results through the metrics of subscriber growth, revenue growth,
ARPU, SAC, CPGA and Adjusted EBITDA.

« During 2006, our ending subscribers increased 29% compared to 2005, to 7,628,552 subscribers.
«  Total revenues in 2006 were $933.4 million, a 67% increase from $558.3 million in 2005.

+  Our average monthly subscription revenue per subscriber (ARPU) increased from $9.51 in 2005 to $10.09 in 2006.
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Subscriber Acquisition Costs (SAC) remained flat at $64 for 2005 and 2006.
Cost Per Gross Acquisition (CPGA) decreased from $109 in 2005 to $108 in 2006,
Cur Adjusted EBITDA loss decreased from $403.7 million in 2005 to $166.2 million in 2006.

Financing Highlights

We completed an $800 million private debt offering consisting of $600 million of unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes
due 2014 and $200 million of unsecured Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013 with an initial interest rate of 9.6%.
These proceeds were used to repurchase or redeem an aggregate $486.5 million of secured notes {with interest rates
ranging from 10.63% to 14%) and to retire at a discount approximately $320 million of the remaining fixed payment
obligations under our distribution agreement with General Motors.

We incentivized the conversion of $119.5 million aggregate carrying value, or $146.6 million aggregate fully
accreted face value at maturity of our 10% senior secured discount convertible notes due 2009 by issuing
approximately 48.8 million shares of Class A common stock. Following these conversions, $33.2 million of our
10% notes remain, representing one holder.

We entered into a new $250 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks. Following the incentivized
conversion of some of our 10% notes in October 2006, we have full borrowing capacity under the facility.

As part of the amendment to our distribution agreement with GM, our credit facility was increased from $100
million to $150 million,

We repurchased all remaining shares of our 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock for
approximately $24.0 million.

We converted all remaining shares of our 8.25% Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock by issuing
14.5 million shares of our Class A common stock.

Market Conditions

Overall demand for satellite radio continued to grow during 2006 and XM gross subscriber additions remained
relatively flat with 2005 levels.

The mix of gross subscriber additions has been shifting increasingly towards the OEM channels, and the conversion
rate of our OEM promotional subscribers has been decreasing.

Growth in net ad sales continued through 2006, which reflects advertisers” desire to market to the growing
subscriber base of satellite radio.
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We summarize our business growth and operational results through the metrics of subscriber data, revenue data, SAC, CPGA
and Adjusted EBITDA (prospectively to be called “Adjusted Operating Loss” — see footnote 11 to the table below). Greater
detail regarding these key metrics we use to monitor our business growth and our operational results are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Subscriber Data: J
OEM and Rental Car Company Gross Subscriber Additions $2,085,396 $1,916,374 31,347,132
F ~ Aftermarket and Data Gross Subscriber Additions . 1,781,085 2,214,063 1,233,383 ]
Total Gross Subscriber Additions (1) 3866481  4,130437 2,580,515
{ . OEM and Rental Car Company Net Subscriber Additions 883,034 980,827 811,549 |
Aftermarket and Data Net Subscriber Additions 811,661 1,723,006 1,057,347
[*- - - Total'Net Subscriber Additions (2) 1,695,595 2,703,833 .'1,868,896 |
Conversion Rate (3) 53.3% 56.9% 58.9%
{7 Chum Rate’@4) 1.77%- 1.46% 1.18%
Aftermarket Subscribers 4,379,762 3,581,639 1,878,088
| . OEM Subscribers. - . . 2655404  1,827427 922413 |
Subscribers in OEM Promotional Periods 555,094 460,615 401,988
[~ XM Activated Vehicles with Rental Car Companies 5434 43,928 26,635 |
Data Services Subscribers 32,858 19,348 —
[ - Total Ending Subscribers (5) 7,628,552 5932957 3,229,124 |
Percentage of Ending Subscribers on Annual and Multi-Year Plans (6) 44.2% 42.4% 23.9%
| -~ “Percentage of Ending Subscribers on Family Plans (6) 22.5% 19.0% 11.6%
Revenue Data (monthily average)
[ Subscription Revenue per Aftermarket, OEM & Other Subscriber $ 1037 $ 997 & 926
Subscription Revenue per Subscriber in OEM Promotional Periods 3 623 3 579 & 5.82
[* ™ Subscription Revenue per XM Activated Vehicle with Rental Car Companies $ 59 $ 98 $ 926 |
Subscription Revenue per Subscriber of Data Services $ 3174 3 3423 § —
Average Monthly Subscription Revenue per Subscribcr (“ARPU™) (7) $ 1009 % 951 & 8.68
[ .. Net Ad Sales.Révenue per Subscriber (). . $. 043 % 038 &  033.]
Activation, Equipment and Other Revenue per Subscnbcr 5 089 $ 068 & 0.58
: % Total RevenueperSubscnber R $ 11418 105785 9.59 I
Expense Data: '
f-i Subscriber Acquisition Costs (“SAC™) (9). - $ - 64 5 . 64 &5 - 62
5 108 § 109 5

Cost Per Gross Addition (“CPGA”) (10)
tdivsied EBYTDA (in thousands) (1) - .-

$ (166,172) $ (403,699) "

1)

100
5 (311,856 |

(1) Gross Subscriber Additions are paying subscribers newly activated in the reporting period. OEM subscribers include both newly activated promotional

and non-promotional subscribers.

{2) Net Subscriber Additions represent the total net incremental paying subscribers added during the period (Gross Subscriber Additions less Disconnects).
{3) Conversion Rate — Sez definition and further discussion under OEM Promotional Subscribers on page 41.
{(4) Chumn Rate represents the percentage of self-paying Aftermarket, OEM & Other Subscribers who discontinued service during the period divided by the

monthly weighted average ending subscribers. Churn Rate does not include OEM promotional period deactivations or deactivations resulting from the

change-out of XM-¢nabled rental car activity.
{5) Subscribers — See definition and further discussion under Subscribers on page 41.

{(6) XM receives a range of $9.99 — $11.87 per month for annual and multi-year plans and $6.99 per month for a family plan.
(7) Subscription Revenue includes monthly subscription revenues for our satellite audio service and data services, net of any promotions or discounts.
{(8) Net Ad Sales Revenuc includes sales of advertisements and program sponsorships on the XM system, net of agency commissions.
(%) SAC — For a description of the current definition of SAC and further discussion, see Subscriber Acquisition Costs on page 47,
{10) CPGA — For a description of the current definition of CPGA and further discussion, see Cost Per Gross Addition on page 47.

(11} Adjusted EBITDA — See Reconciliation of Net Loss to Adjusted EBITDA on page 39.
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Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2006 - 2005 2005 - 2004
{in thousands, except percentages) 2006 2005 2004 $ i $ i
Revenue:
[ Subscription $ 825626 $ 502,612 § 220,468 $323,014  64%$282,144 128%
Activation 16,192 10,066 4814 6126 6% 5252 109%
[ Merchandise 21,720 18182 7261 . 3538 19% _ 10921 - 150%
Net ad sales 35,330 20,103 8485 15227  76% 11,618 137%
[ Other 34,549 7303 3415 27246 373% 3,888, 114%

Total revenue

933417 558266 244443 375151  67% 313823 128%

:Variable costs of revenue (1)

— -
i
1

Revenue share & royalties

149010 93874 50,676 55136 59% 43,198  85%

L. Customer care & billing operations - 104,871 76222 40887 - 28640  38%: 35335  86%
Cost of merchandise 48,949 40707 11557 8242 20% 29,150 252%
[ Adsales A " 15,961 10058 6,165 5903 .59%. 3893 63%

Total vanable cost of revenue

318,791 220,861

Non-variable costs of revenue (2). -+

109285 97030 44% 111,576  102%

‘
- I

Satellite & terrestrial

| Broadcast & operations: " <

49019 42355 35922 6664 16% 6433  18%

6440 39% 5777 53%

Broadcast 23,049 16609 10832 9% 5777 5X
[ Operations 34683 24460 13,102 10223 42%__ 11,268 85%

Total broadcast & operations

57,132 41,069 24024 16663 41% 17.045 7%

{ Programming & content

165196 101,008 32704 63,188 . 64% 68,304 209%

Total non-variable cost of revenue

271,947 184,432 92,650 87,515

fl" otal cost of revenue

41% 91782 99%
500,738 405,203 201935 185445 46% 203358 101%

Other operating expenses:
Research & development 37,428 31218 23513 6210 20% 7,705  33%
[ General & administrative,” - ¢ %- " R8626°1 43,864 28555 44762 102% 15300  54%
Retention & support 31,842 22275 13286 9567  43% 8989  68%
[ Subsidies & distribution.__ -~ - b .. 241601 - 264719 165704 (23,118)  -9% 99,015 60%

Advertising & marketing

147,640 163,312 88,076  (15,672) -10% 75,236 B3%

R - 29760; 37,2500 37250 (1490) 20% - — 0%
Depreciation & amortization 168,880 145870 147,065 23010  16% (1295) 1%
Toial.other operating.experises_. >~ = . 7% "45 73977 J08,508. 503,549 37260____ 5%‘_204,9594&?

Total operating expenses

1,336,515 1,113,801 705,484 222,714 20% 408,317  58%

:(_)@rau'ng loss

T 0% (403,098); (555,535) (461.041) 152437 -27% (94,425)_26@

Other income (expense):

[_ Interest income

. 21664 - 23586 6239 (L922) - -8% . 17347 273%

Interest expense

(121,304)  (107,791)  (85,757) (13,513) 13% (22,034) 26%

[ Loss from de-leveraging transactions - -

o (122189) (27,552)  (16621)  (94,637) 343% 49,060 -64%

Loss from impairment of investments (76,572) - — (76,572) NM —_ 0%
| Equity in net loss of affiliate L (B9 (482) . — - (22747) NM. __ (482) 0%
Other income (expense) 5,842 3,389 2,129 2453 72% 1260 59%
Net loss before income taxes. - N (718.886),  (664.385)  (615051) (54.501) _ 8% (49,334), 8%

Benefit from (provision for) deferred income taxes

14 (2,330 (27,311 2344 -100% 24987 9%

.
Net.loss

S_(1IBRI2) $-(666,715)_5(642,368) 5 (52.157) - 8%.$ 4,341 _ 4%

NM — Not Meaningful
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Years ended December 31, 2006 - 2005 2005 - 2004
2006 2005 2004 $ %o $ Yo

Reconciliation of Net loss to Adjusted EBITDA:

L_

" Net loss as reported: . < . - T S(718.872) $(666,115) $(642.368) $(52.157) 8% $(24,347) 4%

8l

Add back Net loss items not included in EBITDA.

[ Interestincome . - - ' 1668 (23386) __(6,239). - 1922 8% (I7:47) 278%
Interest expense 121,304 107,791 85,757 13,513 13% 22,034 26%
[ Depreciation & amortization - ., ° 168,880 - 145,870 . 147,165 * 23010 . 16% . (1,295) -19
(Benefit from) provision for deferred income taxes {14) 2,330 27,317 (2.344) -101% (24987) 9%
EBITDA (3) . . T 450,366) (434310) . (388,368) ~(16056) | 4% (4542)  12%

Add back EBITDA items not included in

3
‘\”r
L,

- Adjusted EBITDA;

_ —- S— : — - , .
N . - . - N P L .

Loss from de-leveraging transactions {22,189 27.552 78,621 04,637 343% (49,069) -64%
[ Loss from impairment of investments - 76,572 T 65T N 0%
Equity in net loss of affiliate 23,229 482 — 22,747 NM 482 0%
{7 Othes (income) expense - T84y (3389) (2129) - (2453)  72% (1260) 59%
Stock-based compensation 68,046 5,966 2,020 62,080 1041% 3946 195%
Adjusted EBITDA (3) ! $(166,172) $(403,699) $(311,856) $237,527 , -59% $(91,843) 29%

NM — Not Meaningful

4y
@

3

Variable costs of revenue are costs that vary with fluctuations in revenue generating activity such as changes in the number of subscribers, the number
of advertising spots sold, the quantity of merchandise sold or changes in rates.

Non-variable costs of reventle are costs of revenue that generaily do not vary with fluctuations in revenue generating activity such as changes in the
number of subscribers, the number of advertising spots sold, the quantity of merchandise sold or changes in rates,

Net loss before interest income, interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization is commonly referred to in our business as “EBITDA.”
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA excluding loss from de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of invesiments, equity in net loss of
affiliate, other income {expense) and stock-based compensation. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides a better measure of our core business
operating resulis and improves comparability. This non-GAAP measure should be used in addition to, but not as a substitute for, the analysis provided
in the statement of operations. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is a useful measure of our operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a significant basis
used by management to measure our success in acquiring. retaining and servicing subscribers because we believe this measure provides insight into our
ability to grow revenues in a cost-effective manner. Adjusted EBITDA is a calculation used as a basis for investors, analysts and credit rating agencies
to evaluate and compare the periodic and future operating performances and value of similar companies in our industry.

Recause we have funded the build-cut of our system through the raising and expenditure of large amounts of capital, our results of operations reflect
significant charges for depreciation, amortization and interest expense. We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides helpful information abcut the operating
performance of our business, apart from the expenses associated with our physical plant or capital structure. We believe it is appropriate to exclude
depreciation, amortization and interest expense due to the variability of the timing of capital expenditures, estimated uscful lives ard fluctuation in
interest rates. We exclude income taxes due to our tax losses and timing differences, cerain periods will reflect a tax benefit, while others an expense, in
which neither are reflective of our operating results. Because of the variety of equity awards used by companies, the varying methodotogies for
determining stock-based compensation expense and the subjective assumptions involved in those determinations, we believe excluding stock-based
compensation expense enhances the ability of management and investors to compare our core operating -results with those similar companies in our
industry.

Equily in nct loss of affiliate represents our share of losses in an affiliate in which we exercise significant influence, but do not conurol. Management
believes it is appropriate to exclude this loss when evaluating the performance of our core business operations. Additionally, we ecclude loss from
de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments and other income (expense) because these items represent activity Guiside of our core
business operations.

There are limitations associated with the use of Adjusted EBITDA in evaluating our company compared with net loss, which reflects overall financial
performance. These limitations include the inclusion of (I} interest income, (2} interest expense, (3} income taxes, (4) depreciation and amontization,
(5) loss from de-leveraging transactions, (6) Joss from impaimment of investments, (7T) equity in net loss of affiliate, (8) other incomne (expense) and
(9) stock-based compensation in the computation of net loss, Users that wish to compare and evaluate our company based on aur niet loss shauld refer to
our Consolidated Statemnents of Operations. Adjusted EBITDA docs not purport (o represent operating loss or cash flow from operuting activities, as
those terins are defined under United States generally accepted accounting principles, and should not be considered as an alternative to those
measurements as an indicator of our performance, In addition, our measure of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of
other companies.

Effective for the three months ended March 31, 2007, we will consolidate our disclosures to present Adjusted operating loss and eluninate the use of
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. The calculation will be shown as follows:
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Years ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

ReCOHClllatIOH of Net loss to adjusted operaung Ioss

[ Net” Ioss as reponed X ; ) iaq"igtj?:$(?7:rl-‘87,§723 T1‘5(66(%,7 15) 'f$(642,--36§j

l Initerest. mc(ime ; ! e ? i f:;:(Z_l 664) "(23 586) &(6,2391
Interest expcnse 121,304 107,791 85,757

[' - (Beneﬁt from) Pl‘OVISlOl’l f()r deferred’i 151 ome m)fwé RS i ﬁx Yy (14) 12 3300, 27,31;1
Loss from de-leveragmg lransactlons 122, 189 2'7 552 76,621

[". " Loss from i impairment of i mvestments s L*, "f&; 76, 572 L e -——1
Equ1ty in net loss of affiliate 23,229 482 —

| - . Othér (income) expense, L L e e '(5,842) o *(3,389)'-?7 - {2,129)
Operating loss (403 098) (555 535) (46] ,041)

| Depreciation & ambriization i v iMed - n DU USIRE T 6a B8 145,870 - TA7 165

Stock-based compensation 68,046 5,966 2,020
o ' $E166,172)-8(403,690) $(311;856]

-

Adjusted operating loss . .-

The following table sets forth select performance measures on an average subscriber basis and as a percentage of total
revenue:

Annual amount per Amounts as a Percentage
Average Subscriber (1) of Total Revenue
Years ended December 31, Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2006 2005 2004
Y N MRS *:"3 IR
[ 138 = $122° BTN yo0ms 0 100% [ 1009

122 110 )
I.,'-'r_{'sz 5* DAY TR

90
:.‘:-- 4; ; e

R AT

Research & dcvelopment
TR ‘Ef 7 Coneral & adnpstianve: -
Total marketmg

o .‘J ‘.“-—‘ '1: "3

26
o0 ‘Adxzem@g:sfv:mair_kemgi;‘f: R T e 29 a6
25 Adjusted EBITDA loss (2) 18 72 128

(1) Average subscriber is calculated as the average of the beginning and ending subscriber balances for each period presented.
(2) Adjusted EBITDA loss — Sec definition and further discussion under Adjusted EBITDA on page 49,
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Subscribers I

Subscribers — Subscribers are those who are receiving and have agreed to pay for our service, either by credit card or by,
invoice, including those who are currently in promotional periods paid in part by vehicle manufacturers, as well as XM activated
radios in vehicles for which we have a contractual right to receive payment for the use of our service. Radios that zre revenue '
generating are counted individually as subscribers. Aftermarket subscribers consist primarily of subscribers who purchased their
radio at retail outlets, distributors, or through XM’s direct sales efforts. OEM subscribers are self-paying subscribers whose XM,
radio was installed by an OEM and are not currently in OEM promotional programs. OEM promotional subscribers are’
subscribers who receive a fixed period of XM service where XM receives revenue from the OEM for the trial period following
the initial purchase or lease of the vehicle. In situations where XM receives no revenue from the OEM during the trial period,,
the subscriber is not included in XM’s subscniber count. Currently, at the time of sale, vehicle owners generally reccive a lhree‘
month prepaid trial subscription. Promotional periods generally include the period of trial service plus 30 days to handle the
receipt and processing of payments. The automated activation program provides activated XM radios on dealer lots for test!
drives but XM does not include these vehicles in their subscriber count. XM's OEM partners generally indicate the inclusion of
three months free of XM service on the window sticker of XM-enabled vehicles. XM, historically and including the 2006 model.
year, receives a negotiated rate for providing audio service to rental car companies. Beginning with the 2007 model year, XM
has entered into marketing arrangements with rental car companies which govern the rate which XM receives for providing’
audio service. Data services subscribers are those subscribers that are receiving services that include stand-alone: XM WX
Satellite Weather service, stand-alone XM Radio Online service and stand-alone NavTraffic service. Stand-alonz XM WX
Satellite Weather service packages range in price from $29.99 to $99.99 per month. Stand-alone XM Radio Online service is
$7.99 per month, Stand-alone NavTraffic service is $9.95 per month. |

Subscribers are the primary source of our revenues. We target the over 240 million registered vehicles and over 110 million!
households in the United States. As of December 31, 2006, we had over 7.6 million subscribers, which includes 7,068,024,
self-paying subscribers, 555,094 subscribers in OEM promotion periods (typicaily ranging from three months to one year in
duration) paid in part by the vehicle manufacturers and 5,434 paying XM activated vehicles with rental car companies. The
rate of growth of our aftermarket subscriber base fluctuates with our promotional activities as weli as the impact of
seasonality. OEM subscriber growth is driven primarily by the number of XM-enabled vehicles manufactured and with OEM,
promotional activity. \

OEM Promotional Subscribers — OEM promotional subscribers are subscribers who receive a fixed period of XM service,
where XM receives revenue from the OEM for the trial period following the initial purchase or lease of the vehicle. In situations
where XM receives no revenue from the OEM during the trial period, the subscriber is not included in XM’s subscriber count.
Currently, at the time of sale, vehicle owners generally receive a three month prepaid trial subscription. Promotional periods!
generally include the period of trial service plus 30 days to handle the receipt and processing of payments. We rneasure the.
success of these promotional programs included in our OEM promotional subscriber count based on the percentage of
promotional subscribers that elect to receive the XM service and convert to self-paying subscribers after the initial promotion
period. We refer to this as the “conversion rate.” We measure conversion rate three months after the period in which the trial
service ends. Based on our experience it may take up to 90 days after the trial service ends for subscribers to respond to our|
marketing communications and become self-paying subscribers. As of December 31, 2006, XM was available on over 140‘
vehicle models, with over 50 of those as standard equipment and over 100 of those offered as OEM factory-installed options. At
December 31, 2006, XM's OEM partners represented approximately 60% of the U.S. auto market.

o Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. Gross subscriber additions for 2006 were
3,866,481 compared to 4,130,437 for 2005. Net subscriber additions for 2006 were 1,695,595 compared to
2,703,833 for 2005. The churn rate increased to 1.77% from 1.46%.

Retail Subscribers — Gross retail subscriber additions for 2006 were 1,781,085 compared to 2,214,063 for 2005.
Gross additions were negatively impacted by a reduction in product availability as a result of actions taken to bring
XM devices into compliance with applicable FCC emission limits (see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3. to Part I of
this Form 10-K), a general weakening demand for satellite radio and competitive pressures. Net retail subscriber,
additions for 2006 were 811,661 compared to 1,723,006 for 2005. We attribute the decrease in net retail subscriber
additions to churn on a larger subscriber base, a higher churn rate and fewer gross retail subscriber additions. We
partially attribute the increase in the churn rate to the termination of our previous customer service provider and
transition to a new customer service provider.

OEM Subscribers — Gross OEM subscriber additions for 2006 were 2,085,396 compared to 1,916,374 for 2005
Net OEM subscriber additions for the 2006 were 883,934 compared to 980,827 for 2005. We attribute the decrease
in net OEM subscriber additions primarily to churn on a larger subscriber base and a higher churn rate. We partially
attribute the increase in the churn rate to the termination of our previons customer service provider and transition to
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a new customer service provider in 2006. The conversion rate for 2006 was 53.3% compared to 56.9% for 2005.

Rental Car Subscribers — Starting in the third quarter of 2006, we no longer include certain rental car fleets
(approximately 39,000 activated vehicles) in our subscription total. This change is a result of a new marketing
program that we implemented with certain rental fleet partners for 2007 model year vehicles. The goal of this
program is to increase the number of rental cars equipped with XM Satellite Radio and expose more potential
customers to our service.

s Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004, Gross subscriber additions for 2005 were
4,130,437 compared to 2,580,515 for 2004. Net subscriber additions for 2005 were 2,703,833 compared to
1,868,896 for 2004. The churn rate increased to 1.46% from }.18%.

Retail Subscribers — Gross retail subscriber additions for 2005 were 2,214,063 compared to 1,233,383 for 2004.
Net retail subscriber additions for 2005 were 1,723,006 compared to 1,057,347 for 2004. We attribute this growth
primarily to consumer appeal for the quality and diversity of our programming, our innovative radios delivered to
market at attractive price points, as well as strategically increasing our points of presence in the retail channels, We
leveraged these factors with increased strategic marketing to drive our 2005 growth.

OEM Subscribers — Gross OEM subscriber qddilions for 2005 were 1,916,374 compared to 1,347,132 for 2004.
Net OEM subscriber additions for the 2005 were 980,827 compared to 811,549 for 2004. During 2005, XM was
available on over 130 vehicle models, with approximately 120 of those offered as OEM factory-installed options.
This represented an increase during 2005 of over 40 models with XM as a factory-installed option. XM's OEM
partners at the end of 2005 represented approximately 60% of the U.S. auto market. The conversion rate for 2005
decreased slightly to 56.9% compared 10 58.9% for 2004 primarily as a result of the April 2005 30% rate increase.
We attribute the decrease in conversion rate to certain temporary operational process issues, the full year impact of
the 2005 rate increase, and the emergence of alternative audio formats for the automotive sector.

Revenue and Variable Cost of Revenue

Gross profit on subscription revenue — We calculate gross profit on subscription revenue as Subscription revenue less
Revenue share & royalties and Customer care & billing operations. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
gross profit on subscription revenue was $571.7 million, $332.5 million and $128.9 million, respectively. Gross profit on
subscription revenue has continued to improve as a result of increases in subscribers and ARPU, which were proportionately
greater than increases in Revenue share & royalties and Customer care & billing operations. For the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, gross margin on subscription revenue was 69.2%, 66.2% and 58.5%, respectively.

Subscription Revenue — Subscription revenue consists primarily of our monthly subscription fees for our satellite audio
service and data services charged to consumers, commercial establishments and fleets, which are recognized as the service is
provided. Revenues received for promotional service programs are included in Subscription revenue. Our subscriber
arrangements are generally cancelable without penalty. Subscription revenue growth is predominantly driven by the growth
in our subscriber base and to a lesser extent by our overali increase in ARPU.

»  Twelve months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. Subscription revenue increased $323.0 million
or 64% during 2006 as compared to 2005. This increase was due primarily to the 29% increase in ending subscribers
and our April 2, 2005 30% rate increase, partially offset by an increase in subscribers on discount plans and family
plans. In February 2005 we announced that effective April 2, 2005 we were expanding ocur basic service package
and increasing our monthly subscription price 10 $12.95 from $9.99. Existing customers were able to lock in a
discounted rate by signing up for a pre-paid plan of up to five years prior to mid-April 2005. The expanded basic
service now includes the Internet service XM Radio Online (previously $3.99 per month) and the Virus Channel
(previously $1.99 per month and formerly known as the High Voltage Channel), both of which were premium
services prior to this change. During 2006 and 2005, Subscription revenue included $41.6 million and $35.0 million,
respectively, from related parties for subscription fees paid under OEM promotional agreements.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. Subscription revenue increased $282.1 million
or 128% during 2005 as compared to 2004. This increase was due primarily to our April 2, 2005 30% rate increase
(as discussed above) and 84% increase in ending subscribers, partially offset by an increase in subscribers on
discount plans and family plans. During 2005 and 2004, Subscription revenue included $35.0 million and $25.0
million, respectively, from related parties for subscription fees paid under OEM promotional agreements.

42



Average Monthly Subscription Revenue Per Subscriber ("ARPU”) — Average menthly subscription revenue per
subscriber is derived from the total of earned subscription revenue (net of promotions and rebates) divided by the
monthly weighted average number of subscribers for the period reported. Average monthly revenue per subscriber is
a measure of operational performance and not a measure of financial performance under United

States generally accepted accounting principles. Average monthly subscription revenue per subscriber will fluctuate
based on promotions, changes in our rates, as wel} as the adoption rate of annual and multi-year prepayment plans,
multi-radio discount plans (such as the family plan) and premium 5Ervices. '

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. ARPU increased as a result of the addition
of new subscribers at the new rates as well as the effect of the transition of existing subscribers to the new rates.
The increase in the monthly subscription price became effective for all billing cycles on or after April 2, 2005,
and therefore, was being implemented over time. The effect of the April 2005 basic plan rate increase was
dilusted partially by an increase in the percentage of subscribers on discount plans (annual, multi-year and
family) as well as the revenue impact of certain marketing campaigns, which costs are treated as a 1eduction to
revenue. The percentage of subscribers at December 31, 2006 on ‘annual and multi-year plans’ and family plans
increased to 44.2% and 22.5% from 42.4% and 19.0%, respectively, compared to December 31, 2005,

«  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. ARPU increased as a result of the addition
of new subscribers at the new rates as well as the transition of existing subscribers to the new rate. The increase
in the monthly subscription price is effective for all billing cycles on or after April 2, 2005, and therefore, will
be implemented over time. The percentage of subscribers at December 31, 2005 on ‘annual ané multi-year
plans” and family plans increased to 42.4% and 19.0% from 23.9% and 11.6%, respectively, compared to
December 31, 2004,

Revenue Share & Royalties — Revenue share & royalties includes performance rights obligations to composers. artists, and
copyright owners for public performances of their creative works broadcast on XM, and royalties paid to radio technology
providers and revenue share expenses associated with manufacturing and distribution partners and content providers. These
costs are driven primarily by the growth in our subscriber revenue and net ad sales and subscriber base and to a lesser extent
other contracts with various partners. We expect these costs to continue to increase with the growth in subscription and net ad
sales revenue and the growth in overall subscribers; but may fluctuate throughout the year based on new agrcements, the
renegotiation of existing contracts and the resolution of the pending CRB proceeding. '

o Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $55.1 million or 59%, and
have increased on an average cost per subscriber basis, while decreasing as a percentage of total revenue during
2006 as compared to 2005. The dollar increase was primarily driven by an increase in shared revenue with
distribution partners and increase in royalties due to increased subscription and net ad sales revenue and increased
subscribers.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $43.2 million or 85%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as
compared to 2004, This dollar increase was primarily driven by an increase in shared revenue with distribution
partners due to increased subscribers and revenue. Additionally, royalties increased due to increased subscription
and net ad sales revenue, and increased subscribers,

Customer Care & Billing Operations — Customer care & billing operations includes expenses from customer care functions
as well as internal information technology costs associated with subscriber management applications. These costs are
primarily driven by the growth of our subscriber base. We expect these costs to continue to increase in totat dollars as well as
on a per subscriber basis as we add subscribers and continue to drive improvements in service levels.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $28.6 million or 38%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2006 as
compared to 2005, The increase was driven primarily by our subscriber growth and resulted in increased support
costs, bad debt expense and credit card processing fees and to a lesser extent, a change in customer service providers
for which we incurred certain termination and transition costs. '

«  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These expenses increased $35.3 million or 86%,
but have decreased as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as
compared to 2004. The increase was driven by our subscriber growth and resulted in increased costs associated with
customer care functions, credit card processing fees, bad debt expense and internal information technology.
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Gross profit on merchandise revenue — We calculate gross profit on merchandise revenue as Merchandise revenue less Cost
of merchandise. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, gross profit on merchandise revenue was ($27.2)
million, ($22.5) million and ($4.3} million, respectively. We consider gross profit on merchandise revenue a cost of acquiring
subscribers through our direct sales channel and include it as a component of SAC,

Merchandise Revenue — We record Merchandise revenue from direct sales to consumers through XM's online store, XM’s
direct-to-consumer programs and XM kiosks.

«  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. Merchandise revenue increased $3.5 million or
19% during 2006 as compared to 2005.

*  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. Merchandise revenue increased $10.9 million or
150% during 2005 as compared to 2004. This increase was due primarily to a greater sales and marketing effort
through direct channels such as our on-line store.

Cost of Merchandise — Cost of merchandise consists primarily of the cost of radios and accessories related to XM’s
direct-to-consumer sales efforts, including hardware manufacturer subsidies, and related fulfillment costs. These costs are
primarily driven by the volume of radios sold, which are affected by promotional programs.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $8.2 million or 20%. The
increase is primarily the result of a $4.9 million inventory charge and an increase in per unit subsidies and
fulfillment costs.

= Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $29.2 million or 252%.
The increase was primarily the result of significant direct sale promotional programs introduced during the fourth
quarter of 2005 which were not offered during 2004.

Gross profit on net ad sales revenue — We calculate gross profit on net ad sales revenue as Net ad sales revenue less Ad
sales expense. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, gross profit on net ad sales revenue was $19.4
million, $10.0 million and $2.3 million, respectively. Gross profit on net ad sales revenue continued to improve due to
increases in the number of advertisers and advertising rates related to a larger subscriber base as well as controlling the
related cost, which have not increased in proportion to the revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
gross margin on Net ad sales revenue was 54.8%, 50.0% and 27.3%, respectively.

Net Ad Sales Revenue — Net ad sales revenue consists of sales of advertisements and program sponsorships on the XM
network that are recognized in the period in which they are broadcast. Net ad sales revenue includes advertising aired in
exchange for goods and services {barter), which is recorded at fair value. Net ad sales revenue is presented net of agency
COmmissions.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. Net ad sales revenue increased $15.2 million or
76% during 2006 as compared to 2005. This growth was driven by increased spending by existing advertisers as
well as the addition of new advertisers and increased rates driven by a larger subscriber base.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. Net Ad sales revenue increased $11.6 million or
137% during 2005 as compared to 2004, This growth was driven by increased spending by existing advertisers as
wel] as the addition of new advertisers.

Ad Sales Expense — Ad sales expense consists of direct costs associated with the generation of Net ad sales revenue,
including production, staffing and marketing.

«  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $5.9 million or 59%. The
increase is primarily the result of additional headcount and ad sales barter expense. In addition, we recognized $2.4
million in Ad sales expense for stock-based compensation pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective
January 1, 2006.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $3.9 million or 63%.

Other Revenue -—— Other revenue consists primarily of revenue related to various agreements with XM Canada as welt as
other miscellaneous revenue that includes content licensing fees, billing option fees and recording services. We began
recognizing revenue related to various agreements with XM Canada during the fourth quarter of 2005.
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«  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. Other revenue increased $27.2 million or 373%
during 2006 as compared to 2005. This growth was primarily driven by a $15.8 million increase related to the
various agreements with XM Canada and $4.4 million in content licensing fees. For a further discussion of our
agreements with XM Canada, see Note 7 under the heading “Equity Method Investment,” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. Other revenue increased $3.9 million or 114%
during 2005 as compared to 2004,

Non-variable Cost of Revenue

Satellite & Terrestrial — Satellite & terrestrial includes costs related to: telemetry, tracking and control of our satellites,
in-orbit satellite insurance and incentive payments, satellite uplink, and all costs associated with operating our terrestrial
repeater network such as power, maintenance and operating lease payments. We expect these costs to continue {0 increase,
but by lesser amounts, due to the launch and operation of our fourth satellite as well as any expansion of our terrestrial
repeater network. However, we expect that these costs will remain relatively flat as a percentage of total revenue and on an
average cost per subscriber basis in 2007.

s Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $6.7 million or 16%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2006 as
compared to 2005, This dollar increase was primarily the result of an increase in in-orbit satellite insurar.ce expense,
operating costs, and performance incentives related to XM-3, which was launched in February 2005, as ‘well as such
expenses related to XM-4, which was launched in October 2006. In addition, we recognized $2.6 million in
Satellite & terrestrial expense for stock-based compensation pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 12ZR effective
January 1, 2006.

o Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $6.4 millicn or 18%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as
compared to 2004, This dollar increase was primarily the result of an increase in in-orbit satellite insurance expense
and performance incentives related to XM-3, which was launched in the first quarter of 2005. !

Broadcast & Operations — Broadcast and operations include costs associated with the management and maintenance of
systems and facilities as well as information technology expense. Broadcast expenses include costs associated with the
management and maintenance of the systems, software, hardware, production and performance studios used in the creation
and distribution of XM-original and third party content via satellite broadcast, web, wireless and other new distribution
platforms. The advertising trafficking (scheduling and insertion) functions are also included. We expect these costs to
continue to increase, but by lesser amounts, as we continue to enhance ovr lineup and expand to new distribution platforms.
However, we expect that these costs will remain relatively flat on an average cost per subscriber basis in 2007. Operations
expense includes facilities and information technology expense.

s Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $16.7 million or 41%, but
have remained relatively flat as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2006 as
compared to 2005. This dollar increase in Broadcast expenses was driven by $3.8 million in increased costs
associated with new content initiatives and enhancements to and maintenance of the broadcast systems
infrastructure. Operations expenses increased $7.9 million mainly due to an increase in the general operating costs
associated with expanded facilities and accompanying infrastructure. In addition, we recognized $2.9 million and
$2.4 million in Broadcast expense and Operations expense, respectively, for stock-based compensation pursuant to
the adoption of SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006,

«  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $17.0 million or 71%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as
compared to 2004, This dollar increase in Broadcast expenses was driven by $5.5 million in increased costs
associated with enhancements to and maintenance of the broadcast systems infrastructure. Operations expenses
increased $11.2 million mainly due to an increase in the general operating costs associated with the newly expanded
corporate facility and accompanying infrastructure.

Programming & Content — Programming & content includes the creative, production and licensing costs associated with
our over 170 channels of XM-original and third party content. We view Programming & content expenses as a cost of
attracting and retaining subscribers. Programming & content includes staffing costs and fixed payments for third party
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content, which are primarily driven by programming initiatives. These expenses have increased over time and have varied on
a per subscriber basis. We expect these cosls to continue to increase, but by lesser amounts, as a result of recognizing the
full-year effects of programming initiatives launched during 2006. However, we expect that these costs will decrease on an
average cost per subscriber basis in 2007.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $64.2 million or 64%, and
have increased on an average cost per subscriber basis, while remaining relatively flat as a percentage of total
revenue during 2006 as compared to 2005. This dollar increase was driven primarily by costs in support of new
programming initiatives as well as the full period effects of expenses from other programming initiatives launched
throughout 2003. In addition, we recognized $10.9 million in Programming & content expense for stock-based
compensation pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective Janvary 1, 2006.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $68.3 million or 209%,
and have increased as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as compared
to 2004. This dollar increase was driven primarily by costs in support of new or full year impact of programming
initiatives.

Other Operating Expenses

Research & Development — Research & development expense primarily includes the cost of new product development,
chipset design, software development and engineering.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $6.2 million or 20%, but
have decreased as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2006 as compared to
2005. This dollar increase was driven primarily by an increase in Research & development expense for stock- based
compensation pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006 offset partially by lower
engineering builds during 2006 as compared to 2005, which included the design of new products launched during
2006.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004, These costs increased $7.7 mitlion or 33%, but
have decreased as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as compared to
2004.

General & Administrative — General & administrative expense primarily includes management’s salaries and benefits,
professional fees, general business insurance, as well as other corporate expenses. The growth in these costs has been
predominantly driven by personnel costs and infrastructure expenses to support our growing subscriber base. We expect
these costs to continue to increase due in part to various legal proceedings and regulatory inquiries (see “Legal Proceedings”
in Item 3. to Part 1 of this Form 10-K).

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2003. These costs increased $44.8 million or 102%,
and have increased as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2006 as compared
to 2005. This dollar increase was driven primarily by an increase in General & administrative expense for stock-
based compensation pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective Janiary 1, 2006; as well as headcount,
consulting fees and legal fees associated with various legal proceedings and regulatory inquiries.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $135.3 million or 54%, but
have decreased as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as compared to
2004. This dollar increase was driven primarily by an increase in headcount and legal fees associated with the
satellite arbitration and strategic relationships entered into during 2005.

Retention & Support — Retention & support expense primarily includes payroll and payroll related costs of our sales and
marketing employees.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $9.6 million or 43%, but
have remained relatively flat as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2006 as
compared to 2005. This dollar increase was driven primarily by an increase in Retention & support expense for
stock-based compensation pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $9.0 million or 68%, but
have decreased slightly as a percentage of revenue and on an average cost per subscriber basis during 2005 as
compared to 2004.
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Subsidies & Distribution — These direct costs include the subsidization of radios manufactured, commissions for the sale |
and activation of radios and certain promotional costs. These costs are primarily driven by the volume of XIv-enabled
vehicles manufactured, the sales and activations of radios through our retail channel as well as promotional activity
associated with the sale of XM radios. We expect these costs to increase during 2007 as we add gross subscribers, but may

fluctuate throughout the year, with changes in the volume of the manufacture, sale and activation of radios, which historically |

has been significant during the fourth quarter.

Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs decreased $23.1 million or 9%, and
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue to 26% from 47% and on an average cost per subscriber basis during
2006 as compared to 2005. This dollar decrease was driven primarily by a reduction in the number of retail radios
sold and activated.

Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $99.0 million cr 60%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue to 47% from 68% and on an average cost per subscriber basis during
2005 as compared to 2004. This dollar increase was driven primarily by the 60% increase in gross subscribers.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs — Subscriber acquisition costs include Subsidies & distribution (excluding on-going

loyalty payments to distribution partners) and the negative gross profit on merchandise revenue. Subscriber

acquisition costs are divided by the appropriate gross additions or units manufactured to calculate what we refer to
as “SAC.”

Effective for the three months ended March 31, 2007, we will revise our current definition of SAC to ailow for the
direct calculation of this metric using certain line items from our Results of Operations and Key Metrics tables in
Item 7. of this Form 10-K. We will reclassify amounts from Subsidies and distribution to Advertising and marketing
related to on-going loyalty payments. The revised calculation will be as follows: Subsidies & distribution plus Cost
of merchandise less Merchandise revenue, divided by gross subscriber additions. In future filings, we will show the
calculation of SAC for comparative periods, as well as the previously reported amount.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. During 2006 and 2005, we incurred
subscriber acquisition costs of $251.9 million and $266.9 million, respectively. SAC for 2006 and 2005
remained unchanged at $64.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. During 2005 and 2004, we incurred
subscriber acquisition costs of $266.9 million and $157.5 million, respectively. SAC for 2005 and 2004 was $64
and $62, respectively. The increase in SAC is primarily the result of the increase in negative margins on direct
hardware sales, subsidies and promotions during the fourth quarter of 2005 as a result of our response to control
retail hardware price points to compete with the Taunch of Howard Stern by our competitor, as well as the mix
of radios sold and distribution channels during the quarter.

Advertising & Marketing — Advertising & marketing includes advertising, media and other discretionary marketing
expenses. These activities drive our sales, establish our brand recognition, and facilitate our growth. We achieve success in
these areas through coordinated marketing campaigns that include retail advertising through various media, cooperative
adventising with our retail and OEM partners, sponsorships and ongoing market research. We expect these costs 1o increase
during 2007 due to increased spending on consumer media advertising, but may fluctuate throughout the year, based on the
timing of these activities, which historically has been significant during the fourth quarter.

-

Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs decreased $15.7 million or 10%,
and have decreased as a percentage of total revenue to 16% from 29% and on an average cost per subscriber basis
during 2006 as compared to 2005. This dollar decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in media spending during
2006 as compared to the 2005, which included a substantial increase to counter competitive pressures.

T'welve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs increased $75.2 million. or 85%, but
have decreased as a percentage of total revenue to 29% from 36% and on an average cost per subscriber basis during
2005 as compared to 2004. This dollar increase was primarily driven by competitive pressures which resulted in
increased spending in retail media expenses and a broadening of our presence, particularly during the 4th quarter of
2005, in radio, television, print, Internet, stores, and malls.

Cost Per Gross Addition {“CPGA”) — CPGA costs include the amounts in SAC, as well as Advertising &
marketing and on-going loyalty payments to distribution partners. CPGA costs do not include merketing staff
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(included in Retention & support) or the amortization of the GM guaranteed payments (included in Amortization of
GM Hability). These costs are divided by the gross additions for the period to calculate CPGA.

Effective for the three months ended March 31, 2007, we will revise our current definition of CPGA to allow for the
direct calculation of this metric using ceriain line items from our Results of Operations and Key Metrics tables
within this Item 7. of this Form 10-K. We will reclassify amounts from Subsidies and distribution to Advertising and
marketing related to on-going lovalty payments. The revised calculation will be as follows: SAC costs plus
Advertising & marketing, divided by gross subscriber additions. In future filings, we will show the calculation of
CPGA for comparative periods, as well as the previously reported amount. The overall calculation for CPGA will
remain the same.

v Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. During 2006 and 2005, we incurred CPGA
expenses of $416.3 million and $449.4 million, respectively. CPGA for 2006 and 2005 was $108 and $109,
respectively. The decrease in CPGA is due primarily to the reductions in advertising and marketing.

= Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. During 2005 and 2004, we incurred CPGA
expenses of $449.4 million and $257.9 million, respectively. CPGA for 2005 and 2004 was $109 and $100,
respectively. The increase in CPGA is due primanly to the fourth quarter of 2005 increase in SAC, and the
substantial increase in discretionary advertising and marketing expenses, primarily media, in response to our
competitor’s launch of Howard Stern.

Depreciation & Amortization — Depreciation and amortization expense primarily relates to our satellites, ground support
systems that include our terrestrial repeater network, broadcast facilities, computer hardware and software. We expect these
costs to continue to increase, primarily as a result of the inclusion of XM-4, which was placed into service in December of
2006.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. These costs increased $23.0 million or 16%
during 2006 as compared to 2005. The increase was primarily due to a higher depreciable asset base, reflecting a
full year of depreciation on XM-3, which was placed into service in April 2003, higher capital spending for system
development, computer hardware, software and leased equipment.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. These costs decreased slightly primarily due to
lower depreciation on XM-1 and XM-2 as a result of recording approximately $134 million of insurance proceeds as
a reduction to the carrying values of our satellites in August 2004 offset partially by increased depreciation related
to XM-3 which was placed into service in April 2005 as well as other additional 2005 capital expenditures.

Provision for Deferred Income Taxes — In 2004, we recorded a deferred tax liability related to indefinite lived assets that are
amortized and deducted for tax purposes but are not amortized under generally accepted accounting principles. We will
continue to incur approximately $2.3 million in annual tax expense as the indefinite lived assets are amortized for tax
purposes over the next 12 years.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. For 2006, we recognized a deferred tax benefit
related to the cumulative translation adjustment on our investment in XM Canada, which offset the deferred tax
expense for 2006 related to our indefinite lived assets. The net tax benefit for 2006 was $14,000.

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. Beginning in the second quarter of 2004, we
have recorded tax expense of approximately $0.6 million per quarter related to the amortization of the indefinite
lived assets for tax purposes. In 2004, we recorded a total provision for deferred income tax expense of $27.3
million as the result of recording a deferred tax liability related to indefinite lived assets.

Non-operating Income and Expenses

Non-operating Income and Expense — Non-operating income and expense consists primarily of net costs associated with
financing and cash management activities, loss from impairment of investments and equity in net loss of affiliate, Net costs
associated with financing and cash management activities include Interest income, Interest expense and Loss from
de-leveraging transactions. )

»  Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2005. Interest expense increased $13.5 million,
de-leveraging charges increased $94.6 million and interest income decreased $1.9 million, which was partially
offset by a $2.5 million increase in Other income. The increase in Interest expense during 2006 as compared to 2005
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was primarily the result of $16.5 million increase in de-leveraging related costs recognized as Interest expense.
During 2006, we recorded de-leveraging charges of $122.2 million to retire debt with carrying values. including
accrued interest, of $568.2 million. During 2006, we recognized impairment losses on our investments in
WorldSpace, Inc, ("WSI™) and XM Canada and recorded our proportional share of XM Canada’s rasults. We
reduced the carrying values of our investments in WSI and XM Canada, during 2006, due to decreases in fair values
that were considered to be other than temporary and recorded impairment charges of $18.9 million and $57.6'
million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we began recognizing our 23.33% proportional share of '
XM Canada’s results, which for 2006, resulted in the recognition of a $23.2 million net loss.

e Twelve Months Ended: December 31, 2005 vs. December 31, 2004. Interest expense increased $22.0 million, which
was offset by a $17.3 million increase in Interest income and a $49.1 million decrease in de-leveraging charges. The
increase in Interest expense during 2005 was primarily the result of $7.3 million increase in de-leveraging related
costs recognized as Interest expense in 2005, $7.7 million reduction in interest costs capitalized in 2005, and the
increase in Interest expense associated with the $400 million 1.75% convertible senior notes due 2009 aggregate
issuance in November 2004 and January 2005. The increase in Interest income was primarily atributable to higher
average balances of cash and cash equivalents during 2005. During 2005, we recorded de-leveraging charges of
$27.6 million to retire debt with carrying values including accrued interest of $30.0 million,

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA — Net loss before interest income, interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amcrtization is
commonly referred to in our business as “EBITDA.” Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA excluding. loss from
de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investments, equity in net loss of affiliate, other income (expense) and
stock-based compensation. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides a better measure of our core business operating
results and improves comparability. This non-GAAP measure should be used in addition to, but not as a substitute for, the
analysis provided in the statement of operations. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is a useful measure of our operating
performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a significant basis used by management (o measure our success in acquiring, retaining
and servicing subscribers because we believe this measure provides insight into our ability to grow revenues in a cost-
effective manner. Adjusted EBITDA is a calculation used as a basis for investors, analysts and credit rating agencies (0
evaluate and compare the periodic and future operating performances and value of similar companies in our industry. ‘
Because we have funded the build-out of our system through the raising and expenditure of large amounts of capital, our
results of operations reflect significant charges for depreciation, amortization and interest expense. We believe Adjusted
EBITDA provides helpful information about the operating performance of our business, apart from the expenses associated
with our physical plant or capital structure. We believe it is appropriate to exclude depreciation, amortization and interest
expense due to the variability of the timing of capital expenditures, estimated useful lives and fluctuation in interest rates. We
exclude income taxes due o our tax losses and timing differences, certain periods will reflect a tax benefit, while others an
expense, in which neither are reflective of our operating results. Because of the variety of equity awards used by companies,
the varying methodologies for determining stock-based compensation expense and the subjective assumptions involved in
those determinations, we believe excluding stock-based compensation expense enhances the ability of management and
investors to compare our core operating results with those similar companies in our industry.

Equity in net loss of affiliate represents our share of Josses in an affiliate in which we exercise significant influence, but do
not control. Management believes it is appropriate to exclude this loss when evaluating the performance of our core business
operations. Additionally, we exclude loss from de-leveraging transactions, loss from impairment of investmer.ts and other
income (expense) because these items represent activity outside of our core business operations.

There are limitations associated with the use of Adjusted EBITDA in evaluating our company compared with net loss, which
reflects overall financial performance. These limitations include the inclusion of (1) interest income, (2) interest expense,
(3) income taxes, (4) depreciation and amortization, (5) loss from de-leveraging transactions, (6) loss from impairment of
investments, (7) equity in net loss of affiliate, (8) other income (expense) and (9) stock-based compensation in the
computation of net loss. Users that wish to compare and evaluate our company based on our net loss should refer to our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Adjusted EBITDA does not purport to represent operating loss or cash flow from
operating activities, as those terms are defined under United States generally accepted accounting principles, and should not
be considered as an alternative to those measurements as an indicator of our performance. In addition, owr measure of
Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Adjusted EBITDA loss is
continuing to decrease as a percentage of tolal revenue and on an average per subscriber basis.
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million from the issuance of 1.75% Convertible Senior Notes from an over-allotment option that was exercised in
January 2005 offset by the repayment of the remaining $22.8 million principal balance of 14% Senior Secured
Notes due 2010, and the repayment of $15.0 million principal balance of 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2010.

* During 2004, net cash provided by financing activities was $411.1 million; primarily consisting of $300.0 million
provided by the issuance of 1.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2009, $200.0 million provided by the issuance of
Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2009 and $1835.5 million provided by the issvance of 7 million shares of
Class A common in January 2004, offset in part by the repayment of $184.2 million of related party debt, and the
repayment of $83.0 million of secured debt.

Future Operating Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

Our projected funding requirements are based on our current business plan, which in turn is based on our operating
experience to date and our available resources. We are pursuing a business plan designed to increase subscribers and
revenues while maintaining reasonable subscriber acquisition costs in the long-term. Our plan contemplates our focusing on
the new automobile market where we have relationships with automobile manufacturers, the continuing introduction of
innovative yet affordable technology in the retail aftermarket and the vse of our more productive distribution channels.

Provided that we meet the revenue, expense and cash flow projections of our business plan, we expect to be fully funded and
will not need 1o add additional liquidity to continue operations. Cur business plan is based on estimates regarding expected
future costs and expected future revenue. Our costs may exceed or our revenues may fall short of our estimates, our estimates
may change, and future developments may affect our estimates. Any of these factors may increase our need for funds, which
would require us to seek additional financing to continue implementing our current business plan. In addition, we may seek
additional financing, such as the sale of additional equity and debt securities, to undertake initiatives not contemplated by our
current business plan or for other business reasons,

In the event of unfavorable future developments we may not be able to raise additional funds on favorable terms or at all. Qur
ability to obtain additional financing depends on several factors; including future market conditions, our success or lack of
success in developing, implementing and marketing our satellite audio service and data services, our future creditworthiness
and restrictions contained in agreements with our investors or lenders. If we fail to obtain necessary financing on a timely
basis, a number of adverse effects could occur, or we may have to revise our business plan.

On February 13, 2007, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to the transponders on the XM-4 satellite,
which was launched in October 2006 and placed into service during December 2006. We received net proceeds of $288.5
million from the transaction, of which $44 million (inclusive of interest) was used to retire outstanding mortgages on real
property and the remainder of which provides additional liquidity available for working capital and general corporate
purposes. For a further discussion, see Note 20, to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. of this
Form 10-K.

On May 5, 2006, we entered into a new $2350 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks. We have the right to
increase the size of the facility by up to $100 million, with any increase to be syndicated on a “best efforts” basis with no
lender being required to increase its commitment. The facility became fully available beginning October 2006. For a further
discussion, see Note 9, under the heading “$250 million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility,” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

On May 1, 2006, XM announced that its subsidiary Inc. had completed an $800 million debt offering, consisting of $600
million of unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes due 2014 and $200 million of unsecured Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013,
each at the issue price of 100%. Substantially all of the proceeds of the debt offering have been applied to refinance existing
debt or other fixed obligations. For a further discussion, see Note 9, under the heading “$800 million Private Debt Offering,”
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

On April 19, 2006, we entered into a series of amendments to our arrangements with General Motors pursuant to which we
made a prepayment in the amount of $237 million to General Motors to retire at a discount approximately $320 million of
fixed payment obligations that would have come due in 2007, 2008 and 2009 under our distribution agreement with General
Motors. For a further discussion, see Note 17, under the heading “GM Distribution Agreement” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments — We are obligated to make significant payments under a variety of
contracts and other commercial arrangements, including the following:

Lease obligations — We have noncancelable operating leases for terrestrial repeater sites, office space, and software
and noncancelable capital leases for equipment that expire over the next fifteen years. For a further discussion of
leases, see Notes 17 and 20 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

Customer Service Providers — We have entered into agreements with service providers for customer care functions
to subscribers of our service. Employees of these service providers have access to our customer care systems to
establish customer accounts, activate radios, update program and account information and respond to general
inquiries from subscribers. We pay an hourly rate for each customer care representative supporting our subscribers.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we incurred $50.7 million, $29.7 million, and $21.5
million, respectively, in relation to services provided for customer care functions.

Programming Agreements — We have also entered into various long-term programming agreements. Under the
terms of these agreements, we are obligated to provide payments to other entities that may include fixed payments,
advertising commitments and revenue sharing arrangements. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, we incurred expenses of $158.0 million, $90.8 million and $26.5 million, respectively, in relation to these
agreements. The amount of these costs will vary in future years, but is expected to increase next year as the full year
impact of new 2006 contracts are recognized and as new contracts are added in 2007. The amount of future costs
related to these agreements cannot be estimated, but are expected to be substantial. Of these amounts, $16.1 million,
$5.6 million and $1.5 miltion, are included in Revenue Share & Royalties, and $17.5 million, $10.2 million, and
$10.2 million, are included in Advertising & Marketing during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Major League Baseball® — The Company has a multi-year agreement with Major League Baseball® to broadcast
MLB games live nationwide and those payments are included in the above disclosure of our commitments. The
Company paid $50 million for the 2005 season, $60 million (which included $10 million paid in Octcber 2004) for
the 2006 season and will pay $60 million per year thereafter through 2012. MLB has the option to extend the
agreement for the 2013, 2014 and 2015 seasons at the same $60 million annual compensation rate. The Company
will also make incentive payments to MLB for XM subscribers obtained through MLB and baseball club verifiable
promotional programs. No stock or warrants were included in this agreement. The agreement requires the Company
to deposit $120 million into escrow or furnish other credit support in such amount. In July 2006, the Company
furnished a $120 million surety bond to MLB as part of an amendment to the agreement with MLB that permitted
the Company to provide various types of credit support in lieu of its $120 million escrow deposit requirement.

Rovyalty Agreements — We have entered into fixed and variable revenue share payment agriements with
performance rights organizations that generally expire at the end of 2006. During the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, we incurred expenses of $37.5 million, $22.0 million and $13.7 million, respectively, in
relation to these agreements. For a further discussion of license fees for music rights, see above under the heading
“Risk Factors — We must maintain and pay license fees for music rights, and we may have disputes with copyright
holders".

Marketing & Distribution Agreements — We have entered into various joint sales, marketing and distribution
agreements. Under the terms of these agreements, we are obligated to provide incentives, subsidies and
commissions to other entities that may include fixed payments, per-unit radio and subscriber amounts and revenue
sharing arrangements. We subsidize the manufacture of certain component parts of XM radios in order to provide
attractive pricing to our customers. The subsidies are generally charged to expense when the radios are activated
with XM service. The amount of these operational, promotional, subscriber acquisition, joint development, and
manufacturing costs related to these agreements cannot be estimated, but are expected to be substantial future costs.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we incurred expenses of $176.4 million, $198.8 milli‘on
and $94.5 million, respectively, in relation to these agreements, excluding expenses related to GM.

General Motors Distribution Agreement — We have a long-term distribution agreement with General Motors. The
agreement had been assigned by GM to its subsidiary OnStar, but was assigned back to GM in June 2006. During
the term of the agreement, which expires twelve years from the commencement date of our commercial operations
in 2001, GM has agreed to distribute the service to the exclusion of other S-band satellite digital radio services. The
agreement was amended in June 2002 and January 2003 to clarify certain terms in the agreement, including
extending the dates when certain initial payments were due to GM and confirming the date of our commencement of
commercial operations, and to provide that we could make certain payments to GM in shares of our Class A
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the fair value of the assets. We have not adjusted the estimated useful lives of our spacecraft control facilities, as we
believe that these facilities will continue to be used in our XM system. A significant decrease in the estimated useful
life of our satellites and spacecraft control facilities could have a material adverse impact on our operating results in
the period in which the estimate is revised and in subsequent periods.

* DARS License — We determined that our DARS license was an intangible asset having an indefinite useful life.
While the DARS license has a renewable eight-year term, we believe that the administrative fees necessary to renew
the license are expected to be de minimis compared to the initial fee to obtain the license, and we have met all of the
established milestones specified in the DARS license agreement. We also anticipate no difficulties in renewing the
license as long as we continue to adhere to the various regulatory requirements established in the license grant.
Although we face competition from a variety of sources, we do not believe that the risk of the technology becoming
obsolete or that a decrease in demand for the DARS service is significant. Further, we believe that our license is
comparable with the licenses granted to other broadcasters, which are also classified as indefinite lived intangible
assets. We understand that there continues to be deliberations concerning the application of this standard regarding
the effect of the costs to renew FCC licenses. Our application of this standard could change depending upon the
results of these deliberations.

*  Rebates — We estimate and record reserves related to various promotional activities that include rebates to retailer
and end-users related to XM radios and accessories. An incentive given to a retailer or end-uvser related to the sale of
an XM radio or accessory for which there is no direct revenue to XM or contingency attached to subscribe to our
service is accounted for as an expense. Our reserves for retailer and end-user rebates are estimated based on the
terms and conditions of the promotional programs, actual sales during the promotion, amount of actual redemptions
received, historical redemption trends by product and by type of promotional program, and the value of the rebate.
We also consider current market conditions and economic trends when estimating our reserves for rebates. If we
made different estimates, material differences may result in the amount and timing of our expenses for any period
presented.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in ltem 8. of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying value of the following financial instruments approximates fair value
because of their short maturities: cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from related parties, accounts payable,
accrued expenses, accrued satellite liability, due to related parties and restricted investments.

The estimated fair value of our long-term debt is determined by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates
currently offered to the Company for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities by the Company’s bankers or quoted
market prices at the reporting date for the traded debt securities. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of our long-
term debt was $1,300 million, compared to an estimated fair value of $1,364 million. The estimated fair value of our long-
term debt is not necessarily indicative of the amount which could be realized in a current market exchange.

Interest Rate Risk — At December 31, 2006, we had approximately $1,300 million of total debt, of which $1,100 million was
fixed-rate debt and $200 million was variable-rate debt. Under our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative
instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate fluctuations. An increase of 100 basis points in the interest rate applicable
to the $200 million of variable-rate debt at December 31, 2006 would result in an increase of approximately $2 million in our
annual interest expense. We belicve that our exposure to interest rate risk is not material to our results of operations.

ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Consolidated Financial Statements of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., including Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and Consolidated Statements of Operations, Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Deficit) and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three-year peried ended December 31, 2006 and Notes 1o the
Consolidated Financial Statements, and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule together with reports thereon of KPMG
LLP, dated March 1, 2007, are attached hereto as pages F-1 through F-59.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief.
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective. During
the three months ended December 31, 2006, no changes were made in our internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and other financial
information contained in this Form 10-K. Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. Management maintains a system of internal controls intended to provide reasonable
assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements.

Our accounting policies and internal controls over financial reporting, established and maintained by managemen, are under
the generat oversight of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Management has made a comprehensive review, evaluation and assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006. The standard measures adopted by management in making its evaluation are the measures in the
Integrated Framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
Framework).

Based upon review and evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal controt over financial reporting is
effective at December 31, 2006 and that there were no material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as
of that date.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which has audited and reported on the Consolidated Financial

Statements contained in this Form 10-K, has issued its written altestation report on management’s assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting, which follows this report.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

Please see page F-3 of our Financial Statements included herein.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) The following Consolidated Financial Statements and reports of independent registered public accounting firm for XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. are included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

(a)(2) The following Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule is filed as part of this report and attached her:to as page

F-59:

Schedule I1 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Commission have been
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. or the notes thereto, are not required
under the related instructions or are inapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

(a)(3) The following exhibits are either provided with this Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit
No.

Description

21

3.1»

32

33

34

35

3.6

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 19, 2007, by and among Sirius Satellite Radio Iac., Vernon
Merger Corporation and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2007).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. {incorporated by reference to XM’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2006).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of XM Satellite Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4, File No, 333-39178).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of XM Satellite Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-39178).

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to XM'’s Registration Statemnent on Form S-3, File No.
333-89132).

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.
(incorporated by reference to XM’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).

Form of Certificate for XM’s Class A common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to XM's
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on September 23, 1999).

Warrant Agreement, dated March 15, 2000, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. as Issuer and United
States Trust Company of New York as Warrant Agent (incorporated by reference to XM’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, File No. 333-39176).

Warrant Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 15, 2000, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and
Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., Donaldson, Lufkin and Jenrette Securities Corporation, Salomon Smith Barney Inc. and
Lehman Brothers Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM's Registration Statement on Form $-1, File No.
333-39176).

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to XM’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 313-39176).
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Exhibit
No.

Description

4.5

46

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12
4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16
4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

Rights Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2002, between XM and Equiserve Trust Company as Rights Agent
(incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 2, 2002).

Security Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, among XM Satellite Radio Inc., XM Satellite Radio Holdings
Inc., XM Equipment Leasing LLC, and The Bank of New York, as trustee (incorporated by reference to XM’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and
The Bank of New York (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on lanuary 29,
2003).

Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement (General Security Agreement), dated as of January 28, 2003, by
and among the noteholders named therein, The Bank of New York, as trustee, General Motors Corporation,
OnStar Corporation and The Bank of New York, as collateral agent (incorporated by reference to XM's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement (FCC License Subsidiary Pledge Agreement), dated as of January
28, 2003, by and among the noteholders named therein, The Bank of New York, as trustee, General Motors
Corporation, OnStar Corporation and The Bank of New York, as collateral agent {incorporated by reference to
XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Warrant Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc, and The Bank of
New York (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Amended and Restated Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of January 22, 2003, by and among XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and Equiserve Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to XM's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Form of 10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Note due 2009 {incorporated by reference to XM’s Current
Report on Form 8-X filed on January 29, 2003).

Global Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on January 29, 2003).

First Amendment to Security Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2003, by and among XM Satellite Radio Inc., XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Equipment Leasing LLC and The Bank of New York (incorporated by
reference to XM’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-106823).

Warrant to purchase XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. Class A Commeon Stock, dated July 31, 2003, issued to
Boeing Satellite Systems International, Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM's Quarterly Repon on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

Amendment No. 2 to Rights Agreement between XM Satellite Radio .Holdings Inc. and Equiserve Trust
Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 21, 2004).

Indenture, dated as of November 23, 2004, between XM Sateilite Radio Holdings Inc. and the Bank of New York,
as trustee (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 23, 2004, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23,
2004).

Form of 1.75% Senior Convertible Note Due 2009 (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004),

Amendment No. 3, dated as of February 19, 2007, to the Rights Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2002, between
XM Satellite Radioc Holdings Inc. and Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as successor rights agent to
Equiserve Trust Company, N.A, (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 21, 2007).
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Exhibit
No.

]

4

Description

10.1*

10.2

10.37*

10.4*

10.5%

10.6

10.74
10.3

10.9

10.10%

10.114
10.12*

10.13

10.14

10.15*

10.16*

10.17

10.18

Third Amended and Restated Shareholders and Noteholders Agreement, dated as of June 16, 2003, by and among
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and certain sharcholders and noteholders named therein (incorporated by
reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, by and among XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and certain shareholders and noteholders named therein (incorporated by reference
to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2003).

Technology Licensing Agreement by and among XM Satellite Radio Inc., XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.,
WorldSpace Management Corporation and American Mobile Satellite Corporation, dated as of Januzry 1, 1998,
amended by Amendment No. 1 to Technology Licensing Agreement, dated June 7, 1999.

Second Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, by and among XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Satellite Radio Inc. and OnStar Corporation, a division of General Motors
Corporation (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and each of its directors and
executive officers.

1998 Shares Award Plan (incorporated by reference to XM’'s Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No.
333-106827).

Form of Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement,

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to XM's Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No.
333-106827).

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between Gary Parsons and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., dated
July 16, 1999.

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between Hugh Panero and XM Satellite Radio Holdings [nc., dated
July 1, 1998, as amended.

Form of Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement.

Joint Development Agreement, dated February 16, 2000, between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and Sirius Sateliite
Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM'’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2000).

XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. Talent Option Plan (incorporated by reference to XM’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8, File No, 333-65022).

Assignment and Novation Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2001, between Holdings, XM Satellitz Radio Inc.
and Boeing Satellite Systems-International Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on December 6, 2001). :

Third Amended and Restated Satellite Purchase Contract for In-Orbit Delivery, dated as of May 15, 2001,
between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and Boeing Satellite Systems International Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Amendment No. 1 to XM’s Registration Statement on Form §-3, File No. 333-89132).

Amendment to the Satellite Purchase Contract for In-Orbit Delivery, dated as of December 5, 2001, between XM
Satellite Radio Inc. and Boeing Satellite Systems International Inc. (incorporated by reference to Holdings’
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 6, 2001).

Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 16, 2003, by and among XM Sacellite Radio
Inc., XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and certain investors named therein (incorporated by reference 1o XM’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

Amendment No. 1 to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, by and among XM Satellite Radio
Inc., XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and certain investors named therein (incorporated by reference to XM's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.35

10.36

Amended and Restated Director Designation Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2003, by and among XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and the shareholders and noteholders named therein (incorporated by reference to
XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003).

GM/DIRECTV Director Designation Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, among XM Satellite Radio
Holdings Inc., General Motors Corporation and DIRECTV Enterprises LLC {incorporated by reference to XM's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2003).

Amended and Restated Assignment and Use Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, between XM Satellite
Radio Inc. and XM Radio Inc. (incorperated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January
29, 2003).

Credit Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2003, among XM Satellite Radio Inc., as a borrower, and XM Satellite
Radio Heldings Inc., as a borrower, and General Motors Corporaticn, as lender (incorporated by reference to
XM'’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2003).

Form of 2003 Executive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003).

Amended and Restated Amendment to the Satellite Purchase Contract for In-Orbit Delivery, dated May 2003, by
and between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and Boeing Satellite Systems
International, Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2003).

July 2003 Amendment to the Satellite Purchase Contract for In-Orbit Delivery, dated July 31, 2003, by -and
between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Heldings Inc. and Boeing Satellite Systems
International, Inc, (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2003).

Contract for Launch Services, dated August 5, 2003, between Sea Launch Limited Partnership and XM Sateilite
Radio Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2003).

Amendment No. | to Amended and Restated Director Designation Agreement, dated as of September 9, 2003, by
and among XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and the shareholders and noteholders named therein (incorporated
by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report in Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003).

December 2003 Amendment to the Satellite Purchase Contract for In-Orbit Delivery, dated December 19, 2003,
by and between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and Boeing Satellite Systems
International, Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated January 13, 2004, by and between XM Sateilite Radio Inc., XM
Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and General Motors Corporation (incorporated by reference to XM’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement, dated as of Janvary 13, 2004, by and
among OnStar Corporation, XM Satellite Radio Heldings Inc., and XM Satellite Radio Inc. (incorporated by
reference to XM's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

Form of Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Shareholders and Noteholders Agreement, dated as of
January 13, 2004, by and among XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and the parties thereto (incorporated by
reference to XM's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

Form of Employment Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2004, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM
Satellite Radio Inc., and Gary Parsons (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004). :

Form of Employment Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2004, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM
Satellite Radio Inc., and Hugh Panero (incorporated by reference to XM's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004).
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.37

10.38

10,39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

1047

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53A%

Form of 2004 Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for executive officers (incorporated by reference to XM’s Quartesly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005). (

Employment Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2006, between XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite
Radio Inc. and Nathaniel A. Davis. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July |
24, 2006).

Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2006, by and among XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Satellite Radio Inc. and
The Bank of New York, as trustee, relating to the 9.75% Senior Notes due 2014 (incorporated by reference to
XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 5, 2006).

Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2006, by and among XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Satellite Radio Inc. and
The Bank of New York, as trustee, relating to the Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013 (incorporated by reference
to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 5, 2006).

Form of 9.75% Senior Note due 2014 (incorporated by reference to XM's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1
5, 2006).

Form of Senior Floating Rate Note due 2013 (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed May 5, 2006).

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2006, by
and among General Motors Corporation, OnStar Corporation, XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite '
Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 5, 2006.)

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2006, by and among XM Satellite Radio Holdings |
Inc., XM Satellite Radio Inc., General Motors Corporation and OnStar Corporation (incorporated by reference to
XM's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 5, 2006.)

i
Credit Agreement, dated May 5, 2006, among XM Satellite Radio Inc., XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., the |
lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC, as Syndication Agent, and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as Documentation Agent
(incorporated by reference to XM’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006).

Lease Agreement, dated as of Febmary 13, 2007, by and between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, as Owner:
Trustee, and XM Satellite Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed,
February 14, 2007). ‘

Participation Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2007, among XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Satel]itef
Radio Inc., Satellite Leasing (702-4), LLC, as Owner Participant, Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, as Owner Trustee
and lessor, and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, and the note purchasers named therein'
(incorporated by reference to XM's Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007). ‘

Transponder Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2007, by and between XM Satellite Radio Ho]dmgs
Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank Northwest in its capacity as Owner Trustee (incorporated by reference to XM's'
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2007).

Guaranty, dated as of February 13, 2007, made by XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., XM Equipment Leasing
LLC and XM Radio Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM's Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14
2007).

Indenture, dated as of February 13, 2007, between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, as Owner Trustez, and The
Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee (incorporated by reference to XM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed'
February 14, 2007).

Form of 10% senior secured note (incorporated by reference toXM’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February
14, 2007).
Operational Assistance Agreement, dated as of June 7, 1999, between XM Satellite Radio Inc. and Clear Channel.
Communications, Inc.
i
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Exhibit
No. Description

21.1 Subsidiaries of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to XM’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Accounting Firm.

31.1 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
31.2 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
313 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
314 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

32.1 Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
32.2 Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

A Incorporated by reference to XM's Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-83619.

* Pursuant to the Commission’s Orders Granting Confidential Treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933 or
Rule 24(b)-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, certain confidential portions of this Exhibit were omitted by
means of redacting a portion of the text.

{b) Exhibits.
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. hereby files as part of this Form 10-K the Exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits,

(c) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules.

The following Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule is filed herewith:

Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are inapplicable or the information required to be set forth therein
is provided in the Consolidated Financial Statements of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. or accompanying Notes thereto.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC.
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/s/  JEFFREY ZIENTS Director ) March 1, 2007
Jeffrey Zients

63



SIGNATURES

Pursuant io the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registranm has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the vndersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

XM SATELLITE RADIO INC.
By: /s/ HuGH PANERO

Hugh Panero
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 1, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
fs/  HUGH PANERO Chief Executive Officer and Director March 1, 2007
Hugh Panero (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOSEPH J. EUTENEUER Executive Vice President, Chief Financial March 1, 2007
Joseph J. Euteneuer Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
/s/  GARY M. PARSONS Chairman of the Board of Directors March 1, 2007

Gary M. Parsons

/s/  NATHANIEL A. DAVIS President, Chief Operating Officer and March 1, 2007
Nathaniel A. Davis Director
/s/  JOAN AMBLE Director March 1, 2007
Joan Amble
/st THOMAS J. DONOHUE Director March 1, 2007

Thomas J. Donohue

/s/ EpDY HARTENSTEIN Director March i, 2007
Eddy Hartenstein

/s/ CHESTER A. HUBER, JR. Director March 1, 2007
Chester A. Huber, jr.

/s/ JOHN MENDEL Director March 1, 2007
John Mendel
/s/  JARL MOHN Director March 1, 2007
Jar! Mohn
fs! JACK SHAW Director March 1, 2007
Jack Shaw
/s/  IEFFREY ZIENTS Director ' March 1, 2007

Jeffrey Zients

66




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations F-4
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-8
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders™ Equity (Deficit) F-10
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F-12
Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-59

F-1




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity
(deficit) for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006. In connection with our audits of the
consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the consolidated financial statement schedule presented as Schedule
Il These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audifs provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related consolidated financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial stalements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair
value method of accounting for stock-based compensation as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123(R), Share-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,
based on critenia established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion
on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMGLLP

McLean, VA
March 1, 2007



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, that XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. (the Company) maintatned effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). The Company’s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of managzement and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstateinents. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become: inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in /nternal Control -— Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0). Also, in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). - |

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity (deficit) for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

fs/ KPMGLLP

McLean, VA
March 1, 2007




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2006 2005 2004

Revenue:

[swbserption . . o T T s 626§ 502,612 S 220468 |
ACIIVEII]OII 16,192 10,066 4814

( Merchandase e N R A 21720 ¢ 18,182 %0 7261 | |
I\EL@.:S?]CS - 35,330 20,103 8 4:35

[ Other . T e s agsag 37303 3415 ]

Total revenue 933,417 558,266 244 443

E)peratihgzexpensey_ R e O ST S _ j

" Cost of revenue (excludes deprec1at10n & amomzatlon shown below) 5

I~ Revenue sharé & royalties-  _ ~ - .- T o el T 129010n 93874 §Q_6j6]
Customer care & billing operatlons (1 104,871 76,222 40,887

E: Costof of mepchandise™ =~ . . T e T SRR 949 A0707 1‘1:557"1

Ad sales () 15,961 10,058 6,165
| Satellite & térrestrial ' - . o . s oo 400019 423550+ 35922 |
Broadcast & opera‘uons
L - Broadcastqy o . T e T T T OT T T R v g 16,609 < 10,8337
Operations (1) 34,683 24,460 13,192
|- Total broadcast & opérations’ ~ * .. = .. 7w 7w ® 7 T shantoy 41 08 % Cogond )

F i i Lmah

Programming & content (i) 165,196 101,008 32,704
[ Total'cost of fevenud™ & .- . s dw o op o ol ST TR0 73gR & 40539630 - 501935 )

Research & development (excludes depreciation &
amortization, shown below) (1) 37,428 31,218 23,513

EYT ,'.'

T st Ly

L aR B0k

Genéral & adm}mstratwe (excludes deprematlon &
- amortization; shown below) (1)

: B ; 28 555
Marketmg (excludes deprecmtlon & amortization, shown below)

‘Retention & support (iy 1o i v PSR s et L ST s e s Vanged o 905k 13786
Subsidies & distribution 241,601 264,719 165,704

[ % Advertising & markefing « oo 1L e o G Al i L s S 147640 » 163 31208 188.076')
Marketing | ‘ | | 421,083 450306 267066

[* 7 Amortization of GM liability, . .sd.  © - .ol 2 S Te T ogmens 37350, ». 372250
Total marketing | 450,843 487,556 304,316

I" Deprediation & amoriization * - > . 0 T Cheinow Lefe o 168880 1ASBIORE 147,165

£z

Total operating expenses (1) 1,336,515 1,113,801 705,484
Operating loss .~~~ e T T A03.008) - (355,535) (461,041)]
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS — (Continued)

Years Ended December 31,
{in thousands, except share and per share data) 2006 2005 2004
Other income (fﬁpense): N
[ Interest income 21,664 23586 .~ 6239 |
__Interest expense (121,304) (107,791) (85,757
_ . _Loss from Ge-leveragi_rng transactions (122,182l___ _&(gj_;ggg)_dﬂ;: ".(2'6_,6._?1)]
o Loss frq_m impairment of investments __(_?6,572) == -
P E’quity_iu net loss of affiliate (23229 ”M(i@g)_ . ::;’1!
Other income (expense) 5,842 3,389 2,129
Net loss before income taxes _(118386)___ (664385 _ (615,051}
Renefit from (provision for) deferred income 1axes 14 (2,330) (27,317
Netloss (T18.872)____(666.715) " (642.368)]
. 8.25% Series B and C preferred stock dividend requirement 6,127y 15_3__52_7‘_2___1 _(8,802)
. _8.25% Series B preferred stock retirement loss (755) B — ___ ) __._.;’zj'
8.25% Series C preferred stock retirement loss (5,938) — —

o —— e —_—

;1§I_et loss attributable-to common stockholders

$ (731,692) 5 (675312) $ . (651,170)]

Net loss per common share: basic and diluted

r N v . . .
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per common share —
_basic and diluted, .

$ (2.70) § 3.07) $ (3.30)

)

270,586,682, _ 219,620,468 197,317,607

(1) These captions include non-cash stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands} 2006 2005 2004
Customer care & billing operations _ ©  * ' ¢ B 1338 8§ - T&SA;YEL- oy
Ad sales 2,397 234 —_—
Satellite & icirestrial -, - : 2640 " . . 28Tk v ]
Broadcast 2,880 240 —
Operations * et e T e aE T 2425 . . 96 - i
Programming & content 10,878 840 554,
Rescarch & development o 8655 . .. 1029. . . 140 ]
General & administrative 28,124 1,741 1,326
Retention & suppoit hiil 8,700 1454 — |

Total stock-based compensation $ 63,046 § 5966 % 2,020

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2006

2005

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash a_nd cash eqmvalents«-: ;w (4 A L e T e e e e $ 718,216 °

rbvip——.

$710,9914)

~ Accounts recewable net of allowance for doubtfu] accounts of $4, 946 and $3,722 62,293 47,247
: Due from related partles a ;, - TR e "_f. R Y 13,991‘ AL ‘8,629'1

54,752

B Related party prepald expenses 66,946
Prepatd programmifig Coritent® 5. (' T B '

"% o - . . . oo o

v

28,172 .

2 65,738 |

Prepaid and other current assets 43,040 55,811
el bl = S, S A s U -
. Total current assets N MR e wao C AT v 43D 658 7 043,168 i
Resirjctedlnvestments 2,098 5,438
System under Constiuction = ¥ 0. ” R e T . ’12§‘:04§' N 2_1_§,§_2_2__{

Property and equipment, net of aecumulated depreciation and amortization of $767,768 and
$600,482 849,662

673,672

R o et ...h.‘m o ’{[&Tv‘.,_..ﬁ— i . - -

DARS licensé’ » ARSI S - 141387, -, 5141276 ]

< P

Intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $8,222 and $6 960 4,640

5,902

= ,.. ———e

Deferred fi nancmg fees net of accumiilated amortization of $20 537 and $20 o2y T . E -~'3'8,601"'”

36,735

Related | party prepald expenses net of current pomon 160,712 9,809
Investments bl e R . _° RN S R S S 892‘5912*x 187/;403]
Prepaid and other assets, net of current portion 4219 3,731
I Totaldssets v o g e T T T S a0,618. $5,225,661

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

i P it rEat ey 4 g i -

{_ Aecf)untsp_ayab"le I N R A Cag b NRY $Q51,§44

$.°145,691 |

154,125

Accrued expenses 147,591

Accrued satéllite habrhty 1_; S pen g Biipl m i W Sl e T 64,8755 & 104,300
_ﬁAccrued interest 18,482 5,603
| Current portion of log-thfin debt s oo - °h L o e ep el 1AasT” U7 608
Due to related parties ’ 46,459 60,750

[ e, T T Ty P - a8 L SRR NN
{v Subscriber deferred reveniie - ¢ i v de L, crpwlteemanl g T 0 340 A e

"275.944 |

Deferred income 9,915 10,137
[ Total tufrent liabiles. g 5 e fige o eiif Lo o 77604390 1764:158
Satelhte llab]llty, net of current portion — 23,285
Long’-term debt, net’of currentwfnortfoga o it e PR o Va7 et ST 086,797 f"’1‘;’0375,584ﬂ
Due to related parties, net of current portion —_ 33,901
Stibscriber deferfed reveniib; fet of current portion_ - #. . - B, = . BEARR® . B4.604 |
Def_erred income, net of current pomon 130,780 141,073
E)Tther non~current Tiabilities s e SR vt ey 40,735 7+ 40,013.:1

Total liabilities ) 2,238 498

2,142,713




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — (Continued)

Drecember 11,
{in thousands, except share and per share data} 2006 2005

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):

Series A convertible preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liquidation preference of $51,370 at ~ L
December 31, 2006 and 2005); 15,000,000 shares authorized, 5,393, 252 shares 1ssued and o hoo
outstanding at December 31, 2006 -and 2003 ) C 54 54

Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.01 (l1qu1dauon prcferencc of

$0 and $23,714 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively); 3,000, 000 shares
authorized, zero and 474,289 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and

-
ok

2005, respectively . — 5,
Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liquidation preference of .4 ';.l_ t~ j & 1 v

$0 and $114,514 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively); 250,000 shares . . - :‘ . ,, NN

authonzcd zero and 79,246 shares 1ssued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and, " ” . 4"'"’,_1‘- Ce S

12005, respectively : . . IR I’ RN R e

Series D preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liquidation preference of $O at December 31,
2006 and 2005); 250,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 — ) —

Class A common stock, par value $0.01; 600,000,000 shares authorized, 305 781 515 shares .. _' '
and 240,701,988 shares issued and outstandmg at December 31 2006 and 2005, - :
_respectively : - 3 3 058 oo 2407

[ L

Class C common stock, par value $0.01; 15,000,000 shares authonzed no sharcs issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005 — —

L‘\ccumulétcd other co?rﬁirehenﬁve' iricome, net of tax_ - t:__m _‘l‘::‘—' -~_-‘- 3?50-‘ - 5,985
Additional paid-in cap:tal _ 3,093,804 2,852,100

[ Accomulmted deficit - . - T~ - ST : (3,498, 476) (2.779,604)]
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (397,880) 80,948

[ Total liabilities and stockKolders: equity (defictt, . __ ~__*o_.* _en S §T406187 S 2,203,661 A

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operalmg activities:

Years Ended December 31,

2006

2005

2004

[ '

. Netloss o B T $(718,872) $(666.715) $(642,368)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operaling activities:
Provision for doubtfutaccounts 15223 . 8,328 3,218_]
.. ___ Depreciation and amortization e 168,880 145,870 147,165
______Ambrtization of deferred income related to XM Canada L ° (10,081) S T 1
___ Non- cash__lggs_onrlﬂmpfg[n_]gn_t_gf investments . __. 76,572 — —
. Interest accretion e;pense S s — 45579 5 53422 ]
Loss from de- leveragmg transactions 122,189 27,552 76,621
i' Non-cash loss on eqmty in affiliate ' o . © 23229, 7 7482 0 e ]
Amortization of deferred fmancmg fees and debt discount 41,285 30 178 18,524
i Stock-based compensatlon - a - v W 68046 .5 9665 2029_‘
(Benefit from) provision for deferred income taxes (14) 2,330 27,317
Gain on sale of fixed assets 4490y > . ]
Other 264 (15)
rﬁ Changes in operating assets'and liabilities: ° ) l b S C e J
Increase in accounts receivable (37.492) (35,441 (8 407)
:' _ Increase in due from related  parties ‘ (5,362[ , (’5;262) v (191_)_{
Decrease (increase) in prepaid programming content 37,565 (54,348) (11 390)
[ . QnereaJ decrease in prepzud and other assets - o (206.564) - @6;956) SOl 4ﬂ
(Decreasa) increase in accounts payable ac:crued
. expenses and other liabilities- * (102,175) _ 125791 57.371')
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest 12,879 (8,543) 8,719
i—v " (Décrease) increase in due to rélated parties - > 9280), 5%%30 782,835 1
Increase in subscrlber deferred revenue 66,555 208 291 98 463
r < o Decrease in deferred incomiés - - %E,r_ i " o, (43215 TR Cnee —l
Net cash used in operating activities - (462,091) (166,717)  (75,205)
I—Tf Cash flows from in'\'fegﬁt'ing dctivities:” © 7° " L Dy 0. e P J
Purchase of propeny and equ1pment (54,895) (61 ,210) (25 934)
| ‘Additions to system under constiuction’ &, (220,124) (118,583) (143,978)]
Proceeds from sale of assets 7,182 — —
[. Purchase of equity invesfment” - T —  {25334) |
Net matunty {purchase) of restricted investments 3,390 {996) (341)
[ Insurance pro”teeds ffom satellife recoveries - © —_— o e I33,92ﬂ
Net cash used in investing activities (264,447 (206,123) (36,329)
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued)

Years Ended Decembes- 31,

(in thousands) 2006 2005 _ 2004
Cash flows from financing activities: )
E " Proceeds from sale of commonstock "~ - ____*__ . — 300,000 _ 185,500 J
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and stock options b4 429____1_9 637 51,3§§__
| Proceeds from-issuance of 9.75% senioijglgggggl%_ e, 6000007 — o —
Proceeds from issuance of senjor floating rate notes due 2013 ) 200,000 — —
|~ Proceeds from issuance of 1.75% convertible seniornotes __—" 100,000 __ 300,000 J
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured floating rate notes due 2009 — — 200,000
[ ' Proceeds from refinancing of mortgage on corporate facility . o — — . 33,3@
Repayment of related party long-term debt — — (81,194)
[ Repayment of related party credit facility ] = — (103,034}
Repayment of 14% senior secured discount notes (186, 545) (22,824)  (13,028)
Lﬁ_p Repayment of 12% senior secured notes due 2010 (100,000  (15,000) (T0,000JJ
Repayment of senior secured floating rate notes due 2009 e (200 000) —
r Paymeni of premiums on de-leveraging transactions . S (27,398) (3,398 .- ( 253;”)]
Payments on mortgages on corporate facilities . (578) (381)  (28,247)
P Payments on other borrowings * - e - (12,725)  (9,651) (40;1711)J
Repurchase of Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock (23 960) — —
[ . Deferred financing costs 5 C T T onasha19) ) (13,017)]
Net cash provided by financing activities 233,763 365,964 411,094
[_""‘Nel (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ] 't492,;f75) » (6,876}  »299,560 I
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 710,991 717,867 418,307
[ Cash andcash equivalenys atend of period  ~  “ & - §218216 $710.99F 717,867 |

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{1} Nature of Business

XM Satellite Radio Inc. (“Inc.”), was incorporated on December 15, 1992 in the State of Delaware for the purpose of
operating a digital audio radio service (“DARS”) under a license from the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC").
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. {“Holdings™) was formed as a holding company for Inc. on May 16, 1997. The Company
commenced commercial operations in two markets on September 25, 2001 and completed its national rollout on
November 12, 2001.

As of December 31, 2006, the principal differences between the financial conditions of Holdings and Inc., were:

* the ownership by Holdings of the corporate headquarters and data center since August 2001 and September 2005,
respectively, and the lease of these buildings to Inc.;

+  XM-1, XM-2, and XM-3, except for the B702 bus portion of XM-3, are owned by Inc.; XM-4, XM-5 and the B702
bus portion of XM-3 are owned by Holdings;

+ the presence at Holdings of additional indebtedness, primarily the 1.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2009 and
morigages, not guaranteed by Inc.;

» the investments by Holdings in Canadian Satellite Radio (including related revenue and deferred income) and
WorldSpace, Inc.; and

+ the existence of cash balances at Holdings.

Accordingly, the results of operations for Inc. and its subsidiaries are substantially the same as the results for Holdings and
its subsidiaries except that Inc. has:

* additional rent, less depreciation and amortization expense and less other income, in each case principally related to
Inc.’s rental of its corporate headquarters and data center buildings from Holdings, which are intercompany
transactions that have been eliminated in the consolidated Holdings financial statements;

* less interest expense principally related to the additional indebtedness at Heldings;

+ less revenue associated with the amortization of deferred income or equity in losses from Holdings™ investment in
Canadian Satellite Radio;

* no gains or losses on Holdings’ investments in Canadian Satellite Radio or WorldSpace, Inc.; and

+ less interest income because of additional cash balances at Holdings.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated, In addition, the Company evaluates its
relationships with other entities to identify whether they are variable interest entities as defined by Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB™) Interpretation (“FIN) No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, and 10 assess
whether it is the primary beneficiary of such entities. If the determination is made that the Company is the primary
beneficiary, then that entity is consolidated in the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with FIN No. 46(R). As
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no variable interest entities subject to consolidation by the Company pursuant to
FIN No. 46(R).

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates involve judgments with respect to, among other things,
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

various future factors, which are difficult to predict and are beyond the control of the Company. Significant estimates include
the estimated useful life of satellites and spacecraft control facilities, valuation of the Company’s investment in the DARS
license and its identification as an asset with an indefinite life, estimated cost for rebate promotions, the allowance for
doubtful accounts, the valuation of intangible assets, the valuation of long-term investments, the recoverability of the long-
lived assets, the estimated life of a subscriber's subscription, the payments to be made to distributors and manufacturers for
radios sold or activated, the amount of royalties to be paid on radios and/or components manufactured or revenue generated,
the estimated amount of music programming license fees, the amount of stock-based compensation arrangements and the
valuation allowances against deferred tax assets. Accordingly, actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

Payments owed to manufacturing and distribution partners are expensed during the month in which the manufacture, sale,
and/or activation of the radio unit occurs. The amounts of these expenses are dependent upon units provided by internal
Company systems and processes (i.c. subscriber management system and supply chain management system) ind partner
systems and processes. However, due to lags in receiving manufacturing and sales data from partners, estimates of amounts
due are necessary in order 1o record monthly expenses. In subsequent months when lagged data is received from partners,
expenses are reconciled, and adjusted where necessary. Since launching commercial operations, the Company continues 10
refine the estimation process based on an increased understanding of the timing lags, and close working relationships with
business partners. Estimates recorded on the Company’s books are gencrally adjusted to actuals within the following quarter.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Cash premiums paid on
de-leveraging transactions in the amounts of $3.4 million and $10.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, were reclassified from cash flows from operating activities to cash flows from financing activities. These
amounts are considered immaterial to the prior periods to which they relate. ‘

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. The carrying amounts reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for Cash and cash equivalents approximate
fair value due to their short maturities.

Restricted Investmenls

Restricted investments consist principally of certificates of deposits. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, restricted investments
represented securities held in escrow to secure the Company’s future performance with regard to certain contracts and
obligations, which inctude certain facility leases and other secured credits, There were no gross unrealized holding gains or
losses on these restricted investments at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best
estimate of the amount of probable losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable. The Company estimates the
allowance based primarily on the Company’s historical write-off experience. Receivable balances are written-off when
management deems amounts to be uncollectible, which is generally determined by the number of days past due.

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market. The Company provides estimated inventory allowances for
excess, slow moving and obsolete inventory as well as inventory whose carrying value is in excess of net realizable value.
Inventories consist of both finished goods and raw materials. The Company had $17.0 million and $26.1 million of net
inventory at December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively, which are included in Prepaid and other current ussets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. '

f
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded total inventory write-down charges of $4.9 million, $0 and $0,
respectively which charges are reflected in Cost of merchandise in the Consolidated Statements of Operations,

Investments

Investments in marketable equity securities of companies in which XM does not have a controlling interest or is unable to
exert significant influence are accounted for at market value if the investments are publicly traded and resale restrictions of
less than one year exist (“available-for-sale equity securities™). Unrealized holding gains and losses on marketable
available-for-sale equity securities are carried net of taxes as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income in
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Investments in equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values and in which XM does not have a
controlling interest or is unable to exert significant influence are recorded at cost, subject to other than temporary impairment
("*cost method™).

For those investments in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, the equity method of
accounting is used. Under this method, the investment, originally recorded at cost, is adjusted to recognize the Company’s
share of net earnings or losses of the affiliate as they occur rather than as dividends or other distributions are received,
limited to the extent of the Company’s investment in, advances to and commitments to the investee. The Company’s share of
net earnings or loss of affiliate is recorded in Other income (expense).

Investments are periodically reviewed for impairment and a write down is recorded whenever declines in fair value below
carrying value are determined to be other than temporary. In making this determination, the Company considers, among
other factors, the severity and duration of the decrease as well as the likelihood of a recovery within a reasonable timeframe,

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment 1s stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Equipment under capital leases and
leasehold improvements are stated at the present value of minimum lease payments. Depreciation and amortization is
calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

rSpacecraft sysfem N ) L 6.75 - 15 years - ]
Temrestrial repeater network 5 — 10 years

Spacectaft control and uplink facilities -~ " | i 175vears . |
Broadcast facilities 3 —7 years

f(-fomﬁﬁier sy’stéfﬁ§ o . - " 3-Tvyears, . ]
Building and improvements _ 2(} years

Furniture and fixtires - ’ - - 3-7years o l
Equipment under capital leases and leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life

or remaining lease term

Maintenance and repairs costs are expensed as incurred, whereas expenditures for renewal and betterments are capitalized.
The cost of internally developed software is capitalized in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, Accounting
Jor the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, and amortized over its estimated useful life.
Interest costs incurred in connection with the construction of major equipment and facilities are capitalized as part of the
asset cost to which it relates and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. Upon the normal sale or retirement of depreciable
property, the net carrying value less any salvage value is recognized as an operating gain or loss in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

In acc.ordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES \
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 1

amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of
the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. '

DARS License and Other Intangible Assets "
Intangible assets not subject to amortization, specifically the DARS license, are tested annually for impairment, and are
tested for impairment more frequently, if events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. An impairment
loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value. |

The Company recorded amortization expense of $1.3 million for each year ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 related to
acquired programming and receiver agreements with estimated useful lives of 10 years. These agreements had a remaining
carrying value of $4.6 million and $5.9 million and accumvlated amortization of $8.2 million and $7.0 million at:
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the next four years 1s $1.3 milkon in 2007
through 2009 and $0.7 million in 2010.

Deferred Financing Fees and Other Assets

Deferred financing fees consist primarily of legal, accounting, printing and investment banking fees as well as fees paid to
obtain lines of credit, Deferred financing fees are amortized over the life of the corresponding instrument and factity.

Asset Retirement Obligation

In accordance with SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, the Company capilalized as part of the
carrying amount, the fair value of the future obligation associated with the retirement of the Company’s terrestiial repeater
network. These costs, which are included in Accrued expenses, include an amount that the Company estimates will be
sufficient to satisfy the Company’s obligations under leases to remove the terrestrial repeater equipment and restore the sites
to their original condition. The asset retireent obligation was $1.0 million and $0.9 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Revenue Recognition !

The Company derives revenue primarily from subscription and activation fees as well as advertising, direct sales of
equipment and royalties.

Revenue from subscribers, which is generally billed in advance, consists of (i) fixed charges for service, which are
recognized as the service is provided and (ii) non-refundable activation fees that are recognized ratably over the expected
40-month life of the customer relationship. Direct activation costs are expensed as incurred. Promotions for free or
discounted service are treated as a reduction to revenue during the period of the promotion. Consideration received if}
advance of revenue recognition is recorded as deferred revenue.

The Company recognizes revenue for sales of bundled packages, which might include a radio, activation andfor service
component, pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, Accounting Revenue Arrangements with
Multipie Deliverables (“EITE No. 00-217). Pursuant to EITF No. 00-21, the Company allocates the consideration received
based on the relative fair values of the individual components. Additionally, pursuant to the guidance of Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 104 (“SAB 104”), unless evidence suggests otherwise, revenue from
consideration received is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected term of the arrangements.

The Company recognizes advertising revenue from sales of advertisements in the period in which the advertisement is
broadcast. Agency fees are presented as a reduction to revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Advertising
i
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, include advertisements sold in exchange for goods and
services (barter) recorded at fair value. Revenue from barter transactions is recognized when advertisements are broadcast.
Merchandise or services received are charged to expense when used or received, respectively.

Equipment revenue is recognized at the time of shipment or delivery of the equipment. Royalty and other revenue is
recognized when eamed.

Barter Transactions

XM enters into transactions that either exchange advertising for adventising (“Advertising Barter”) or advertising for other
products and services (“Non-advertising Barter”). Adventising Barter transactions are recorded at the lesser of estimated fair
value of the advertising received or given in accordance with the provisions of EITF Issue No. 99-17, Accounting for
Advertising Barter Transactions. Revenue from barter transactions is recognized when advertising is provided, and services
received are charged 1o expense when used. Revenue from barter transactions is not material to the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations for any of the periods presented herein.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R"),
which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board
(“APRB”} Opinion No. 235, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 257). SFAS 123R requires all share-based
compensation payments to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair value using an option pricing model.

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the medified prospective method which requires that compensation cost recognized
subsequent to adoption include the applicable amounts of: (a) compensation cost for share-based payments granted prior to,
but not yet vested, as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, and (b) compensation cost for all share-
based payments granted subsequent to December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with
SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from initial estimates. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value
stock option awards and has elected to treat awards with graded vesting as a single award. The adoption of SFAS 123R had a
material impact on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. This impact is more fully described in Note 12.

Pro Forma Presentation for Periods Prior to the Adoption of SFAS 123R — Under the modified prospective transition
method, results for prior periods have not been restated to reflect the effects of implementing SFAS 123R. The following
table illustrates the effect on net loss as if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, 10
stock-based employee compensation (in thousands).

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004

Net 165§ attyibutable o’ common stockholders, as reported T $(675312)_$(651,170)]
Add Stock based employec compensation expense included in net loss 3,508 -—
lLess Total stock—bascd employee compensatnon expense delermmed under fmr value—based e o v °
i "*method fm; ali awards e, 2 o R T (43,109}  (30,456)
Pro forma net loss $(712,913) $(681,626)
[ réported - nét loss per,common share;basicagd diluted . . - - S8 (BON. 5. (330)
Pro forma — net loss per common share: basic and diluted 3 329 % (349

F-16




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Centinued)

Research & Development

Research and development expenses primarily include the cost of new product development, chipset design, software
development and engineering.

Advertising & Marketing

Advertising & marketing costs, including media, events, training and marketing materials for retail and automotive dealer
points of presence, are discretionary costs that are expensed as incurred. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005,
and 2004, the Company expensed approximately $147.6 million, $163.3 million and $88.1 million, respectively.
Co-operative marketing costs are recognized as advertising expense to the extent an identifiable benefit is received and fair
value of the benefit can be reasonably measured. Otherwise, such costs are recorded as a reduction of revenue.

Net Loss Per Common Share

The Company computes net foss per common share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share and SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 98, Computations of Earnings Per Share. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 128 and SAB
No. 98, basic net loss per commeon share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders (after
deducting preferred dividend requirements) for the period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common
stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of common and dilutive equivalent shares outstanding during the
period. Options, warrants and convertible instruments outstanding as of December 31, 2006 to purchase 51 million shares of
common stock (46 miltion of which were vested) were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per common share
for the year ended December 31, 2006 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Options, warrants and convertible
instruments outstanding as of December 31, 2005 to purchase 111 million shares of commeon stock (104 million of which
were vested) were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per commeon share for the year ended December 31,
2005 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Options, warrants and convertible instruments outstanding as of
December 31, 2004 to purchase 121 million shares of common stock (112 million of which were vested) were not included in
the computation of diluted net loss per common share for the year ended December 31, 2004 as their inclusion would have
been anti-dilutive. Unvested shares of restricted stock in the amount of 3,390,359, 833,544 and 10,000 as of December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are not included in the computation of basic net loss per common share or in diluted net
loss per common share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. The Company had a net loss in each of ﬂllc
periods presented, therefore, basic and diluted net loss per common share are the same.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
tax benefits and consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and the financial
reporting amounts at each year-end and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, based on enacted tax laws and statutory
tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is the
sum of taxes payable for the period and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company has reviewed its contracts and has determined that it has no freestanding or embedded derivative instruments.
The Company does not engage in hedging activities.

Comprehensive Income or Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive income or loss is reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Unrealized gains and
losses on available-for-sale securities (see Note 7, under the heading “WorldSpace™) and foreign currency translation
adjustments (see Note 7, under the heading “Canadian Sotellite Radio™) are included in other comprehensive income or loss.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
However, in the event that an unrealized loss is deemed other than temporary, the loss is recognized in earnings. The

components of Comprehensive income or loss for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are as follows (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
NetIoks. m ‘."f:';:l‘: g T R S LR SIRET2) . 5(666,715)-8(642.368)|

(125)

3,985 —

3,715 — —
T$021.067) $(660,730) $(642,368)]

The Company did not recognize a tax benefit for the unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities for the year ended December 31, 2005 is shown net of
tax expense of approximately $3,747,000. Reclassification adjustment for realized loss on available-for-sale securities, for
the year ended December 31, 2006, is shown net of tax benefit of approximately $3,747,000. Foreign currency translation
adjustment, for the year ended December 31, 2006, is shown net of tax expense of approximately $2,326,000.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments — an amendment
of FASB Statements No. 133 (Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities) and No. 140 (Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities), which permits fair value remeasurement for
any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation. In addition,
SFAS No. 155 establishes a requirement to evaluale interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are
freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation
under the requirements of Statement No. 133. This Statement shall be effective for all financial instruments acquired or
issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The Company will adopt this
Statement effective January 1, 2007. Based on the Company’s current evaluation of this Statement, the Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS No. 155 1o have a significant impact on its consolidated results of operations or financial
position.

In June 2006, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF No. 06-3, How Sales Faxes Collected from Customers and
Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross Versus Net
Presentation), which states that a company should disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation) regarding
presentation of taxes within the scope of this Issue. If tates included in gross revenues are significant, a company should
disclose the amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The consensus wouid be
effective for the first annual or interim reporting period beginning after December 15, 2006. The disclosures are required for
annual and interim financial statements for each period for which an income statement is presented. The Company will adopt
this Interpretation effective January 1, 2007, Based on the Company’s current evaluation of this Issue, the Company does not
expect the adoption of EITF No, 06-3 to have a significant impact on its consolidated results of operations or financial
position.

In June 2006, the FASE issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN™) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. This
Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. This Interpretation also provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. This Statement
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is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2006, The Company will adopt J
this Interpretation effective January 1, 2007. Based on the Company’s current evaluation of this Interpretation, the Company |
does not expect the adoption of FIN No. 48 to have a significant impact on its consolidated results of operations cr financial
position.

In September 2006, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF No. 06-1, Accounting for Consideration Given by a’
Service Provider to Manufacturers or Resellers of Equipment Necessary for an End-Customer to Receive Service from the’
Service Provider, which states how a service provider company that depends on specialized equipment should zccount for'
consideration paid to the manufacturers and resellers of such equipment. EITF No. 06-1 requires that the service providerI
recognize payments based on the form of benefit the end-customer receives from the manufacturer or reseller. If the form of
benefit is “other than cash” or the service provider does not control the form of benefit provided to the customer, the
consideration would be classified as an expense. If the form of benefit is cash, the consideration would be classified as an
offset to revenue. The consensus would require retrospective application to all prior periods as of the beginning of the first'
annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2007. This Issue is effective for the first annual reporting period. beginning.
after June 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of EITF No. 06-1 on its consolidated
results of operations and financial position. ’

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This Statement defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about
fair value measurements. This Statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permil fair value
measurements, the FASB having previously concluded in those accounting pronouncements that fair value is the relevant
measurement attribute. Accordingly, this Statement does not require any new fair value measurements. This Staterent is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company will adopt this,
Statement effective January 1, 2008. Based on the Company’s current evaluation of this Statement, the Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a significant impact on its consolidated results of operations or financial
position. : ‘

|
In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Current Year Misstatements, which provides
interpretive guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year
misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB No. 108 establishes an approach that requires quantification
of financial statement misstatements under both the income statement (rollover) and balance sheet (iron curtain) methods.
SAB No. 108 permits initial adoption of its provisions either by (i) restating prior financial statements; or (i) recording the
cumulative effect adjustment, with an offsetting adjustment recorded to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year
of adoption. SAB No. 108 is effective for annual financial statements issued for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006.
The Company adopted the provisions of SAB No. 108 during the fourth quarter of 2006. The adoption had no significant
impact on its consolidated results of operations or financial position. ’

(3) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in an orderly transactioft
between market participants to sell the asset or transfer the liability. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company has
determined that the carrying value of each of the financial instruments listed below approximates the fair value dased on the
reasons indicated.

The carrying amounts of the following financial instruments approximate fair value because of their short maturities: Cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from related parties, accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued satellite
liability, due to related parties and restricted investments. . \

The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is determined by either estimation by discounting the future cash flows of-
each instrument at rates currently offered to the Company for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities by the
Company's bankers or quoted market prices at the reporting date for the traded debt securities. As of December 31, 2006 anld
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2005, the carrying value of its long-term debt was $1,300 million and $1,043 million, respectively; while the fair value was
$1,364 million and $2,458 million, respectively,

(4) System Under Construction

The Company has capitalized costs including capitalized interest related to the development of its spacecraft system to the
extent that they have future benefits. The amounts recorded as system under construction consist of its spacecraft system in
the amount of $126.0 miilion and $216.5 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(5) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Spacecraft §ysterm 7 - . L oooer v v T RG0S 507 - § 645,036
Terrestrial repeater network 264,223 262,255
Spatecraft confrol and. uplink facilities . . . e 4G (81 - [ 40,5489
Broadcast facilities 65,302 64,126
CRd T T T T T e g ]
Buildings and improvements 73,252 66,741
bbfﬁputéigsysté-rﬁé;fﬁ? iituré. #nd fixtures; and equipment: " 054 17 i éggﬂz
Total property and equipment 7 1,617,430 1,274,154
ccumulited depreciation dndamortization - "+ % . (167768 - (G0DASD)]

Property and equipment, net ' $ 849,662 $ 673,672

Spacecraft System

The Company launched its first two satellites, XM-1 and XM-2 in the first half of 2001 prior to the commencement of
commercial operations. Depreciation commenced upon acceptance of the satellites from Boeing Satellite Systems, which
occurred during the first half of 2001. The XM-1 and XM-2 satellites suffer from a progressive solar array power degradation
issue that is commeon to the first six Boeing 702 class satellites put in orbit. During 2004, the Company reached an agreement
with insurers and recovered approximately $142 million, of which $134 million was recorded as a reduction to the carrying
values of XM-1 and XM-2. In February 2005, XM-3 was successfully launched and moved into the 85° West Longitude
orbital location. During April 2005, XM-1 was successfully collocated with XM-2 at 115° West Longitude orbital location.
In October 2006, XM-4 was successfully launched and moved into the 115° West Longitude orbital location to mitigate the
issues with XM-1 and XM-2. Depreciation of XM-3 and XM-4 commenced upon acceptance of the satellites, which occurred
during April 2005 and December 2006, respectively.

Amortization and depreciation of the ground systems/spacecraft control facilities and related computer systems commenced
on September 25, 2001, which was the date the service was launched in the Company’s lead markets. Depreciation of the
broadcast facilities and the terrestrial repeaters commenced when they were placed in service.

{6) DARS License

The Company’s DARS license is valid for eight years upon successful launch and orbital insertion of the satellites and can be
extended by the FCC. The DARS license requires that the Company comply with a construction and launch schedule
specified by the FCC for each of the first two authorized satellites, which has occurred. The FCC has the authority to revoke
the authorizations and in connection with such revocation could exercise its authority to rescind the Company’s license (see
Note 17).
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The Company determined that its DARS license was an intangible asset having an indefinite useful life pursuant to SFAS '
No. 142. The Company believes that the administrative fees necessary 1o renew the license will be de minimis ccmpared to .
the initial fee to obtain the license, and the Company has met all of the established milestones specified in the FCC license |
agreement. The Company also anticipates no difficulties in renewing the license as long as the Company continues to adhere |
to the various regulatory requirements established in the license grant. Although the Company faces competition from a

variety of sources, the Company does not believe that the risks of the technology becoming obsolete or of a decrease in'
demand for the DARS service are significant. '

(7) Investments

The Company’s investments consist of an equity method investment, a cost method investment and available-for-sale equity’
securities as follows (in thousands): ‘

December 31,
2006 2005
rasmtor - s TEAEommTSaSS owOhonoS men oo =Y e N T R N T B o T
Equity method investment - 0 U0 o $74,252 - $152.337
Cost _{gegh_cgg investment X ) 480 12,060
vailable-forsale equity secuties. - 7 "s860 23004
Total investments $80,592  $137,403

Equity Method Investment |
Canadian Satellite Radio (“XM Canada™) ;

In November 2005, XM entered into a number of agreements (“Agreements”) with XM Canada that provide XM Canada
with exclusive rights to offer XM satellite digital radio service in Canada. In December 2005, XM Canada issued to XM
11,077,500 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares representing a 23.33% ownership interest and 11% voting interest in XM
Canada. These shares were determined to have an initial fair value of $152.1 million, based on the XM Canada initial public
offering price of CDN$16.00 per share. The Agreements have an initial term of ten years and XM Canada has the unilateral
option to extend the term of the Agreements for an additional five years at no additional cost beyond the current financial
arrangements. XM Canada has expressed its intent to exercise this option at the end of the initial term of the Agreements.

The various deliverables of these Agreements entered into in November 2005 are considered a single accounting unit in
accordance with the EITF No. 00-21, and as such are accounted for as follows: '

e The $152.1 million fair value of the shares received is recorded as Deferred income on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets and amortized on a straight-line basis into income as Other revenue in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations over the 15-year expected term of the Agreements. During the years ended December 21, 2006 and
2005, XM amortized $10.1 million and $0, respectively, into income as Other revenue. As of Decemter 31, 2006,
the Deferred income balance related to the fair value of shares received was $138.6 million.

« The Company receives a 15% royaity fee for all subscriber fees earned by XM Canada each month for its basic
service and a nominal activation fee for each gross activation of an XM Canada subscriber on the Company’s
system. Beginning in 2006, XM began to accrue for, and record as revenue, royalties and activation fees related to
XM Canada’s subscribers. During the year ended December 31, 2006, XM accrued approximately $2,121,000 in
subscriber revenue royalty and activation fees and recognized revenue of approximately $76,000, as Other revenue
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The remaining unrecognized revenue was recorded as Deferred
income and will be amortized on a straight-line basis into income over the remaining expected term of the
Agreements in accordance with the EITF No. 00-21. As of December 31, 2006, the Deferred income balance related
to the subscriber revenue royalty and activation fees was $2.0 million. In subsequent periods, the Company will
recognize the pro-rata portion of the current period’s accrued revenue in addition to the amortization for each
previous periods’ accrued revenue. |
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XM has also provided XM Canada with a CDN3$45 million standby credit facility, which can only be utilized to finance
purchases of terrestrial repeaters or for the payment of license fees. The facility matures on December 31, 2012 and bears
interest at a rate of 9% per annum. XM has the right to convert unpaid principal amounts into Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares of XM Canada at the price of CDN$16.00 per share, As of December 31, 2006, XM Canada had not drawn on this
facitity.

In addition, XM Canada will pay XM $69.1 million for the rights to broadcast and market National Hockey League (“NHL”)
games for the 10-year term of XM’s contract with the NHL. The $69.1 million payment is comprised of $57.0 million in
license fees and $12.1 million in advertising costs and is required to be paid in ten annual installments ranging from $5.25
million to $7.50 million per year. In accordance with EITF No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as
an Agent, XM recognizes these payments “gross as a principal” in Other revenue. During the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005, XM recognized $4.5 million and $0, respectively, of license fees; and $1.1 miilion and $0, respectively, of
advertising cost reimbursements, as Other revenue.

During 2006, XM recognized a $4.5 million gain as Other income related to the sale of 78 terrestrial repeaters to XM Canada
during 2005. XM Canada purchased these repeaters from XM at their original cost.

XM accounts for its ownership in XM Canada using the equity method of accounting. XM Canada has a fiscal year end of
August 31. Therefore, XM will record its share of XM Canada’s net income or loss, using the average currency exchange
rate for the period, based on XM Canada’s quarterly periods ending on the last day of February, May, August and November.
Summarized financial information for XM Canada is as follows (US$ in thousands):

November 30, November 30,
2006 2005

bment assets . . sobe s '$ 50641, 0 §i5 54T ]
Non-current assets $247,848 $219,502
Curfent liabilities . . . & v oo o GOS8 e §039,003 5
Non-current liabilities $101,674
'{thal‘shareﬁoldets" eqQUILY. . i L $179.033:

Twelve months ended Period ended

November 30, 2006
Revénues IR L A il % §99552 1
Net loss $ 98,768

XM?’s share of net Ioss ) SRl g9

(1)} The Company began recording its share of XM Canada’s net loss on November 17, 2005, the date of the Share Issuance Agreement.

During 2006, XM recorded a currency translation gain of approximately $3.7 million, as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive income in Stockholders’ equity (deficit) in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The $3.7 million gain is net of a
tax expense of approximately $2.3 million, which is offset by a corresponding $2.3 million benefit to the provision for
deferred income taxes. Also, during 2006, the Company reduced the carrying value of its investment in XM Canada due to a
decrease in fair value that was considered to be other than temporary and recorded an impairment charge of $57.6 million to
Other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. XM Canada’s shares trade publicly on the Toronto Stock
Exchange under the symbol, “XSR.TO.” The quoted market price on November 30, 2006 (the date of XM Canada’s most
recent financial statements) was CAD$7.65, or approximately US$6.70. Based on the number of shares held by the Company
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s investment in XM Canada had a carrying value of approximately $74.3
million and $151.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the amounts due from XM Canada were $1.6
million and $10.6 million, respectively, and are included in Prepaid and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.
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Cost Method Investment and Available-for-Sale Equity Securities
WorldSpace

On July 18, 2005, XM acquired 1,562,500 shares of Class A common stock of WorldSpace, Inc. (“WSI”) and a warrant to
purchase at WSI’s initial public offering price of $21.00 an additional aggregate number of shares equal to $37.5 million,
subject to certain operational vesting conditions, in exchange for $25 million. XM allocated its 325 million investment
between the two financial instruments, $12.9 million 1o the Class A common stock and $12.1 million to the warrant. XM
accounts for its investment in WSI Class A common stock as available-for-sale securities and accounts for i1s investment in
the warrant under the cost method, subject to other than temporary impairment. WorldSpace provides XM certain
programming in exchange for a fixed monthly fee under an amended programming agreement that extends through June 7,
2009.

During 2006, the Company reduced the carrying values of its investments in WSI common stock and warrant due to
decreases in fair values that were considered to be other than temporary and recorded impairment charges of $7.3 million and
$11.6 million, respectively, to Other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. WorldSpace’s shares trade
publicly on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange under the symbol, “WRSP.” The quoted market price on December 31, 2006 was
$3.50. Based on the number of shares held by the Company, the fair value of the Company’s investment in WSI common
stock is $5.5 million on December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying values of the Company’s investments in
WSI common stock and warrant were $5.5 million (which included $0.1 million of unrealized losses) and $(.5 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2005, the carrying value of the Company’s investments in WSI common stock znd warrant
were $23.0 million {which included $6.0 million of unrealized gains) and $12.1 million, respectively.

(8) Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

149, sénior secured discount notes due 2009~ - - S - < T § - § 3486
12% senior secured notes due 2010 — 3,590

0% senior sceured discouni Convertible notes due 2008~ i 143, - 1740
9.75% senior notes due 2014 16,091 — '
Seniot secured floatifig rate, note§ due 2009 55 R B T3
Senior floating rate notes due 2013 5,354 — :
[1.75% tonvertible senior notes due2009- - 5ty e 10,066 - 10,066 |
Valuation of warrants issued to related party in conjunction with credit facilities 25,151 23,151

Valuation.of warrants issued to related party in conjunction with the issuance of 10%

- seniof secured dicount convertible notes; ST T sa0, 2288
Valuation of warrants issued to vendors — 18
Mortgage = T T e T 5040 . 504
Total deferred financing fees 59,138 57,657
Inccumulated amortization: <~ . fn.oat L Lo - i (20,537 -(20,92?_.)_]
Deferred financing fees, net $ 38,601 §_36,735

{9) Long-Term Debt

Certain of the Company’s debt instruments and credit facility contain covenants that include restrictions on indebtedness,
mergers, limitations on liens, liquidations and sale and leaseback transactions, and also require the maintenance of certain
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financial ratios. The Company was in compliance with all of its covenants as of December 31, 2006. The Company’s debt
instruments and credit facilities permit the debt issued thereunder to be accelerated upon certain events, including the failure

to pay principal when due under any of the Company’s other debt instruments or credit facilities subject to materiality
thresholds.

The following table presents a summary of the debt activity for the year ended December 31, 2006 (in thousands).

Decemnber 31, Issuances/ Discount Principal Retirements/ December 31,
2005 Additions Amortization Payments Extinguishments 2006

14% senior secured discountivotes due 2009 o STIRGEAS NS e~ § . § . S(186545). 8.4 — o
Less: discount (39,990 —_ 2,390 — 37,603 —

12 senior secured notes die 2010 3 00000 e e {100,000y, - — 1]
10% senior secured dlscount convemb]e notes due 2009 179,898 — - — (146,649) 33,249

[_ e discondt' 57 TR i ) R L v 0708 (5,213ﬂ
9.75% sentor notes due 2014 — 600,000 —_ —_ — 600,000

Senior secured floating fate notes dog 2000 - T 200,000, — — — (200,000) - -3
Senior floating rate notes due 2013 — 200,000 —_ — — 200,000

l1.75% convertible senior notes dite 2008, - -,y ¢ - 400,000, . — S 400,0001
Mortgages 39,455 o — (578) — 38,877

rEmes'payable . A R P T O L — ) T T —-—‘ai
Capital leases 13,710 32,723 — (12,722) — 33,711

| Total debt T LOARI9Y  $832723 . $6352  $(13,303) - -$(568340) . 1,300,624 |
Less: current portion 7.608 14,445

L ong-terrh debt, net of current portion 3. -l ' $1,035,584 " $1286,179 |

Future maturities of long-term debt, stated at fully accreted values, as of December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Amount

8 1448]
11,505

$800 million Private Debt Qffering

On May 1, 2006, the Company announced that Inc. had completed an $800 million private debt offering consisting of $600
million of unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes due 2014 and $200 million of unsecured Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013 with
an initial interest rate of 9.6%. Inc. used the proceeds of the debt offering to repurchase or redeem existing secured notes due
in 2009 and 2010 and to retire at a discount approximately $320 million of the remaining fixed payment obligations under
Inc.’s distribution agreement with General Motors that would have come due in 2007, 2008 and 2009. The Company
effectively replaced $486.5 million of senior secured debt with interest rates ranging from 10.63% to 14% and maturities in
2009 and 2010 (as well as covering redemption premiums and transaction costs) and $320 million of fixed payment
obligations to General Motors due in 2007 through 2009, or $806.5 million of obligations, with $800 million of senior
unsecured debt with current interest rates from 9.75% to 9.86% and maturities in 2013 and 2014.
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As part of the refinancing, the Company and Inc. conducted a cash tender offer for Inc.’s outstanding $186.5 million of 14%
Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2009 (“14% Notes™), $100 million of 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2010 (*12%
Notes™) and $200 million of Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2009 (“Floating Rate Notes”), with a currznt interest
rate of 10.63% (collectively, the “Existing Notes”). On May 1, 2006, the Company and Inc. completed the initial repurchase
of approximatety $390 million of the Existing Notes, including $99.6 million of 12% Notes and approximately $290.7'
million of the 14% Notes and existing Floating Rate Notes. Under the terms of the indentures governing those notzs, Inc. had,
the right to force the mandatory redemption of the remaining 14% Notes and existing Floating Rate Notes, and completed
those redemptions in May 2006. Subsequent to the completion of the cash tender offer and redemptions of the Floating Rate
Notes and 14% Notes, the Company and Inc. retired all of the remaining 12% Notes. For a further discussion of the debt
repayments by instrument, see Note 10.

9.75% Senior Notes due 2014

The aggregate principal balance of the unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes due 2014 outstanding as of December 31, 2006 is $600
million. Interest is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 at a rate of 9.75% per annum. The notes are unsecured
and will mature on May 1, 2014. The Company, at its option, may redeem the notes at declining redemption prices at any
time on or after May 1, 2010, subject o certain restrictions. Prior to May 1, 2010, the Company may redeem the notes, in
whole or in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus a make-whole premium and accrued and
unpaid interest to the date of redemption. The notes are subject to covenants that, among other things, limit Inc.’s ability and
the ability of certain of Inc.’s subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness; pay dividends on, redeem or repur:hase Inc.’s
capital stock; make investments; engage in transactions with affiliates; create certain liens; or consolidate, merge or transfer
all or substantially all of Inc.’s assets and the assets of Inc.’s subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013

The aggregate principal balance of the unsecured Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013 outstanding as of December 31, 2006
is $200 million. Interest is payable quarterly on May 1, August 1, November | and February 1 at a rate currently set at
9.86% per annum through February 1, 2007. Thereafter, the rate is reset quarterly to 450 basis points over the three-month
LIBOR. The notes are unsecured and will mature on May 1, 2013. The Company, at its option, may redeem the notes at
declining redemption prices at any time on or after May 1, 2008, subject to certain restrictions. Prior to May 1, 2008, the
Company may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus a make-
whole premium and accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. The notes are subject to covenants that, among
other things, limit Inc.’s ability and the ability of certain of Inc.’s subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness; pay dividends
on, redeem or repurchase Inc.’s capital stock; make investments; engage in transactions with affiliates; create certain liens; or
consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of Inc.’s assets and the assets of Inc.’s subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis. ‘

10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009

The aggregate principal balance of the 10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009 outstanding as of
December 31, 2006 is $33.2 million. Interest accreted through December 31, 2005 and is thereafter payable semi-annually at
a rate of 10% per annum, while the remaining principal balance is payable in December 2009. At any time, a holder of the
notes may convert all or part of the accreted value of its notes at a conversion price of $3.18 per share. At any time on or
after December 21, 2006, the Company may require holders of the notes to convert all, but not less than all of the notes at the
conversion price of $3.18 per share if: (i) shares of Class A common stock have traded on the NASDAQ National Market or
a national securities exchange for the previous 30 trading days at 200% of the conversion price, (ii) the Company reported
eamings before interest income and expense, other income, taxes, depreciation (including amounts related to research and
development) and amortization greater than $0 for the immediately preceding quarterly period for which the Company
reports its financial results, (i) immediately following such conversion, the aggregate amount of the Company and its
subsidiaries’ indebtedness is less than $250 million, and (iv) no shares of the Company’s Series C convertibl: redeemable
preferred stock remain outstanding.
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The notes are secured by substantially al} of Inc.’s assets, including the stock of Inc.’s FCC license subsidiary. In addition,
the Notes are guaranteed by the Company, rank equally in right of payment with all of Inc.’s other existing and future senior
indebtedness, and are senior in right of payment to all of Inc.’s existing and future subordinated indebtedness.

1.75% Cenvertible Senior Notes due 2009

The aggregate principal balance of the 1.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2009 outstanding as of December 31, 2006 is
$400 million. Interest is payable semi-annually at a rate of 1.75% per annum. The remaining principal balance is payable in
December 2009.

The notes may be converted by the holder, at its option, into shares of the Company’s Class A common stock initially at a
conversion rate of 20.0 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount, which is equivalent to an initial
conversion price of $50.00 per share of Class A common stock (subject to adjustment in certain events), at any time until
December 1, 2009.

Mortgages
1506 Eckington Place

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the remaining principal balance of the 1500 Eckington Place Mortgage Loan was
$32.4 million and $32.8 million, respectively. Principal and interest at a fixed rate of 6.015% is payable monthly until
the mortgage matures in September 2014, The mortgage loan is secured by the building and an escrow with a balance of
$1.4 million at December 31, 2006. As further discussed in Note 20, in February 2007, the mortgage loan on this
property was retired.

60 Florida Avenue

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the remaining principal balance of the 60 Florida Avenue Mortgage Loan was $6.5
million and $6.6 million, respectively. Principal and interest at a fixed rate of 8.26% is payable monthly until the
mortgage matures in September 2010. The mortgage is secured by the building, the land, and an escrow with a balance
of $0.3 million at December 31, 2006. As further discussed in Note 20, in February 2007, the mortgage loan on this
property was retired.

3250 million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

On May 5, 2006, Inc., in conjunction with the refinancing in 2006, entered into a new $250 million revolving credit facility
with a group of banks. Inc. has the right to increase the size of the facility by up to $100 million, with any increase to be
syndicated on a “best efforts” basis with no lender being required to increase its commitment. For as long as more than $75
million in the aggregate of Inc.’s existing senior secured notes remain outstanding, borrowings under the facility will be
limited to $50 million. As further discussed in Note 10, the Company incentivized the conversion of some of its 10% senior
secured discount convertible notes due 2009 on October 24, 2006, which gave the Company full borrowing capacity under
the facility.

The facility has a term of three years and is expected 10 serve as a standby facility for additional liquidity. Borrowings under
the facility wifl bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 150 to 225 basis points or an alternate base rate, to be the higher of the
JPMorgan Chase prime rate and the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points, in each case plus 50 to 125 basis points. The
facility includes a $120 million sublimit for letiers of credit and a $5 million sublimit for swingline loans. Inc. expects to pay
a commitment fee of 37.5 to 50 basis points per year on unused portions of the facility. The new credit facility is secured by
substantially alt of Inc.’s assets other than specified property. The facility includes customary events of default and requires
Inc. to maintain at all times vnrestricted cash and cash equivalents of at least $75 million. The facility also includes
customary conditions to draw, including Inc. not undergoing any material adverse change. As of December 31, 2006 there
were no amounts outstanding or letters of credit issued under the credit facility.
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Senior Secured Credit Facility

The Company and Inc. have a revolving $150.0 million Senior Secured Credit Facility with GM that matures on
December 31, 2009. It enables the Company to make monthly draws to finance payments that become due under the
Company’s distribution agreement with GM and other GM payments. All draws under the facility bear interest at a per
annum rate of LIBOR plus 8%. Interest payments are due semiannually. The Company has the option of making interest
payments in shares of Class A common stock having an aggregate fair market value at the time of payment equal to the
amount of interest due. The fair market value will be based on the average daily trading prices of the Class A common stock
over the ten business days prior to the day the interest payment is due. The facility will terminate, and all draws will become
due, upon the earlier of December 31, 2009 and six months after the Company achieves investment grade status. The
Company is required to prepay the amount of any outstanding advances in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 50% of the
Company's excess cash and (ii) the amount necessary to prepay the draws in full. In order to make draws under the credit
facility, the Company is required 1o have a certain minimum number of subscribers that are not originated by GM and a
minimum pre-marketing cash flow as defined. GM waived the minimum pre-marketing cash flow condition for the year
ended December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2006, there were no amounts outstanding under this credit facility.

(10) Recent De-leveraging Transactions
2006 De-leveraging Transactions

Through the cash tender offer, redemptions and other transactions discussed in Note 9 and this Note 10, the Company
de-leveraged $568.2 million carrying value, or $633.2 million fully accreted face value at maturity for $532.4 million in cash
consideration, which included $19.3 million of accrued interest, and 48.8 million shares of Class A common stock. The
Company recorded a de-leveraging loss of $122.2 million from these extinguishments in Other income (expense) in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2006. This includes the following de-leveraging
transactions: ’

14% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2009 ‘
The Company repurchased or redeemed $148.7 million aggregate carrying value, or $186.5 million aggregate fully
accreted face value al maturity, of its 14% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2009, for a redemption prize of $209.6
million, including accrued interest of $9.6 million. As a result of the transaction, the Company recorded a de-Jeveraging
charge of $52.8 million; consisting of a redemption premium of $13.9 million, unamortized debt issuance vosts of $1.3
million and unamortized discounts of $37.6 million.

12% Senior Secured Notes due 2010

The Company repurchased or redeemed $100.0 million aggregate carrying value and fully accreted face value at
maturity, of its 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2010 for a redemption price of $117.2 million, including accrued interest
of $4.5 million. As a result of the transaction, the Company recorded a de-leveraging charge of $15.5 million; consisting
of a redemption premium of $13.0 million and unamortized debt issuance costs of $2.4 million.

10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009

The Company exchanged $119.5 million aggregate carrying value, or $146.6 million aggregate fully accre-ed face value
at maturity, of its 10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009 by issuing approximately 48.8 million
shares of Class A common stock. As a result of the transactions, the Company recorded a de-leveraging charge
consisting of a redemption premium of $49.8 million. In addition, the Company wrote-off an unamortized beneficial
conversion feature of $27.3 million to interest expense and unamortized debt issuance cosis of $4.5 million to
Additional paid-in capital,

Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2009 |
The Company repurchased or redeemed $200.0 million aggregate carrying valve and fully accreted face value at
maturity, of its Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2009 for a redemption price of $205.6 million, including
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accrued interest of $5.2 million. As a result of the transaction, the Company recorded a de-leveraging charge of $4.1
mitlion; consisting of a redemption premium of $0.4 million and unamortized debt issuance costs of $3.7 million.

2005 De-leveraging Transactions

During 2005, the Company entered into agreements with certain holders of its notes to de-leverage $80.0 million carrying
value, or $93.8 million fully accreted face value at maturity, for $42.0 million in cash consideration, which included $0.7
million of accrued interest, and 18.3 million shares of Class A common stock. The Company recorded a de-leveraging loss of
$27.6 million from these extinguishments in Other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
year ended December 31, 2005. This includes the following de-leveraging transactions:

129 Senior Secured Notes due 2010

The Company repurchased $15.0 million aggregate camrying value and fully accreted face value at maturity, of its 12%
Senior Secured Notes due 2010 for a redemption price of $17.2 million, including $0.4 million of accrued interest. As a
result of the transaction, the Company incurred a $2.2 million de-leveraging charge; consisting of a redemption
premium of $1.8 million and unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.4 million.

14% Senior Secured Notes due 2010

The Company repurchased the remaining $19.8 million aggregate carrying value, or $22.8 million aggregate fully
accreted face value at maturity, of its 14% Senior Secured Notes due 2010 for a redemption price of $24.8 million,
including $0.3 million of accrued interest. As a result of the transaction, the Company incurred a $4.9 million
de-leveraging charge, consisting of a redemption premivm of $1.6 millicn, unamortized discount of $3.0 million and
unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.3 million.

109 Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009

The Company exchanged $45.2 million aggregate carrying value, or $56.0 million aggregate fully accreted face value at
maturity, of its 10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009 by issning 18.3 million shares of Class A
common stock. As a result of the transactions, the Company recorded a de-leveraging charge consisting of a redemption
premium of $20.5 million. In addition, the Company wrote-off a beneficial conversion feature of $10.7 million to
interest expense and unamortized debt issuance costs of $1.5 million to Additional paid-in capital.

2004 De-leveraging Transactions

During 2004, the Company entered into agreements with certain holders of its notes to de-leverage $493.6 million carrying
value, or $513.2 million fully accreted face value at maturity, for $319.0 million in cash consideration and 12.4 million
shares of Class A common stock. The Company recorded a de-leveraging loss of $76.6 million from these extinguishments
in Other income {expense} in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2004. This
includes the following de-leveraging transactions:

14% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2009

The Company exchanged $132.8 million aggregate carrying value including accrued interest, or $157.1 million
aggregate fully accreted face value at maturity, of its 14% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2009 by issuing
4.2 million shares of Class A common stock and paying $15.8 million in cash.

12% Senior Secured Notes due 2010

The Company redeemed $73.3 million aggregate carrying value including accrued interest, or $70.0 million aggregate
fully accreted face value at maturity, of its 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2010 for a redemption price of $81.7 million.
As a result of the redemption, the Company incurred a redemption preminm of $8.4 million, which was classified as a
de-leveraging charge.
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10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009 :
The Company exchanged $11.1 million aggregate carrying value including accrued interest, or $13.4 million aggregate
fully accreted face value at maturity, of its 10% Senior Secured Discount Convertible Notes due 2009 by issuing

i

3.5 million shares of Class A common stock.
i

10% Senior Secured Convertible Note due 2009 (held by OnStar) !
The Company redeemed the remaining $90.4 million carrying value including accrued interest, or $89.0 million fuily
accreted face value at maturity, of its 10% Senior Secured Convertible Note due December 31, 2009 held by OnStar. In:
accordance with the terms of the note, OnStar converted $7.8 million in principal amount of the note, representing the
entire principal amount of the Note that had vested conversion rights at the time of the redemption, into 980.670 shares.

of Class A common stock and paid the remaining $81.2 million in principal amount pius accrued interest in cash. !

7.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006

The Company redeemed the remaining $45.7 million carrying value including accrued interest, or $45.7 fully accreted
face value at maturity, of its 7.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006 by issuing 3.7 million shares of Class A.
common stock.

Loan — Boeing Capital Corporation
The Company retired the remaining $35.3 million carrying value including accrued interest or $35.0 million fully

accreted face value at maturity, of its loan with Boeing Capital Corporation. :
i

Related Party Note
The Company retired the remaining $103.0 million carrying value, plus accrued interest of $2.0 million of its revolving
credit and equity facility with GM. i

{11) Equity
Preferred Stock
i

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had authorized 60,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01, of
which 15,000,000 shares were designated non-voting Series A convertible preferred stock, 3,000,000 shares were: desi gnatec;l
non-voting 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, and 250,000 shares were designated 8.25% Series C
convertible redeemable preferred stock, all of which are convertible into Class A common stock at the option of the holder,
Additionally, 250,000 shares were designated as non-voting Series D participating preferred stock in connection with the
adoption of the Shareholders’ Rights Plan and are junior to all other classes of preferred stock. The Series C convertible
redeemable preferred stock contains voting and certain veto rights. The Series A preferred stock receives dividends, if
declared, ratably with the common stock. .

The Series A conventible preferred stock is redeemable at the option of the holder at any time for an equal number of shares
of Class A common stock. The Company may redeem the Series B convertible preferred stock or the Series C convertible
redeemable preferred stock at its option and at any time at a redemption price per share equal to the Liquidation Preference
plus a premium for each series, which premiums decline annually through February 2, 2010, however, all remaining

outstanding shares must be redeemed on February 1, 2012. *

I
Stock Dividends on Preferred Stock ‘
The Company paid 2006 quarterly dividends on the 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock on February i,
2006 and May 1, 2006 by issuing 18,126 and 5,128 shares of Class A common stock, respectively, to the respective holders
of record. The Company ceased the payment of dividends subsequent to the May 1, 2006 payment as all the remaining shares
were repurchased by the Company (as discussed below).

i

i
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The Company paid 2005 quarterly dividends on the 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock on February 1,
2005, May 1, 2005, August 1, 2005 and November 1, 2005 by issuing 14,714, 16,784, 14,614 and 15,299 shares of Class A
common stock, respectively, to the respective holders of record.

The terms of the Company’s 8.25% Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock provided for cumulative dividends
payable in cash. The net loss attnbutable to common stockholders reflects the accrual of the dividends to preferred
stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

The following table provides a summary of the changes in the liquidation preference for Series C convertible redeemable
preferred stock for the year ended December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

December 31, Accrued December 31,
2005 Dividends Conversions 2006
Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock:
l.,;_F_a?E amount ] . $ 79,246 $ — % (79,246) . SN ]
Cumulative dividends payable 35,268 5,433 (40,701) —
C g}:?__igy_igg, amount of liquidation preference $114.514 $5,433 $(119,947) $———]

Repurchases of Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

In April 2006, the Company repurchased 366,304 shares of its 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, for
approximately $18.3 million (or $50.00 per share). In June 2006, the Company repurchased the remaining 107,985 shares of
8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, for approximately $5.6 million (or $51.65 per share). These
repurchases included an aggregate premium of $755,000 and accrued dividends of $68,000, but excluded approximately
$260,000 of accrued dividends that were forgiven.

Conversions of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

In October 2006, the Company converted 29,246 shares of its 8.25% Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock into
5.4 million shares of its Class A common stock. In November 2006, the Company converted its remaining 50,000 shares of
its 8.25% Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock into 9.1 million shares of its Class A common stock. These
conversions included an aggregate premium of $5.9 million (included in net loss attributable to common stockholders) and
accrued dividends of $40.7 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company entered into agreements with certain holders of its 8.25% Series C
convertible redeemable preferred stock to exchange 40.8 million shares of Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock
plus accrued dividends through the date of the exchange (carrying value of $52.4 million) for 5.9 million shares of Class A
common stock.

Conversions of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company entered into agreements with certain holders of its Series A
convertible preferred stock to exchange 5.4 million shares of Series A convertible preferred stock (carrying value of $51.4
million) for 5.4 million shares of Class A common stock.

Class A Common Stock Issuances

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company issued 48.8 million, 18.3 million and 12.4 million shares, respectively, of Class A
common stock to convert or redeem certain notes and 0.8 million, 2.5 million shares, 15.3 million, respectively, of Class A
common stock related to the exercise of certain warrants. In addition, the Company issued 14.5 million shares in 2006 and
11.3 million shares in 2004 to convert certain preferred stock.
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On June 14, 2005, the Company completed a public offering of 9,668,063 shares of its Class A common stock at $31.20 per
share., The 9,668,063 shares offered by the Company resulted in net proceeds of $300 million.

On January 28, 2004, the Company completed a public offering of 20 million shares of its Class A common stock at $26.50
per share. The Company issued 7 million shares that resulted in net proceeds of $177 million and certain selling stockholders
offered the remaining 13 million shares.

Warrants

14% Senior Secured Notes due 2010 Warrants — As part of the issuance of 14% Senior Secured Notes due 2010, the
Company granted warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2006,
2.9 million shares were available for purchase at a price of $44.71 per share. The exercise price of each warrant may be paid
either in cash or without the payment of cash by reducing the number of shares of Class A common stock that would be
obtainable upon the exercise of 2 warrant. The warrants are fully vested and expire March 15, 2010.

14% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2009 Warrants — As part of the exchange of 14% Senior Secured Notes due 2010
for 14% Semior Secured Discount Notes due 2009, the Company granted warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2006, approximately 7.5 million shares were available for purchase at a price of
$3.17 per share. The exercise price of each warrant may be paid either in cash or without the payment of cash by reducing the
number of shares of Class A common stock that would be obtainable upon the exercise of a warrant. The warrants are fully
vested and expire December 31, 2009,

Boeing Satellite Systems — Pursuant to the Company'’s satellite contract for XM-4, it issued a fully vested warrant to Boeing
Satellite Systems in July 2003 to purchase 500,000 shares of its Class A common stock at $13.524 per share. The fair value
of this warrant was determined to be approximately $5.8 million using a Black-Scholes based methodology and i3 included in
the cost of XM-4. These warrants expire July 31, 2008,

Space Systems/Loral — Pursuant to the Company’s satellite contract for XM-5, it issued a fully vested warrant to Space
Systems/Loral to purchase 400,000 shares of its Class A common stock at $32.42 per share during 2005. The fair value of
this warrant was determined to be approximately $4.9 million using a Black-Scholes based methedology and iz included in
the cost of XM-5. These warrants expire December 31, 2011,

Shareholders’ Rights Plan

In August 2002, the Company adopted a Shareholders’ Rights Plan (commonly known as a “poison pill”) in which preferred
stock purchase rights were granted as a dividend at the rate of one right for each share of common stock held of record as of
the close of business on August 15, 2002. The rights would be exercisable only upon the cecurrence of certain events relating
to an unsolicited take-over or change of control of the Company.

(12) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stock-based compensation plans. It is the practice of the Company to satisfy awards and options
granted under these plans through the issuance of new shares. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
the Company recognized compensation expense of $68.0 million, $6.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. In each of the
periods described above, compensation expense was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations related to these
plans. The compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes $10.4 million for immaterial adjustments
that occurred from 1999 through 2005 as determined by a review of the Company’s stock option practices. The Company has
deemed the amounts immaterial to prior periods and to the quarter and year ended December 31, 2006. For & summarized
schedule of the distribution of stock-based compensation expense, see the appended footnote to the Consolidated Statements
of Operations on page F-5 of this Form 10-K. The Company did not capitalize any stock-based compensation cost during the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company did not realize any income tax benefits from
stock-based payment plans during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, as a result of a full
valuation allowance that is maintained for substantially all net deferred tax assets.
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1998 Shares Award Plan and XM Talent Option Plan

On June 1, 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Shares Award Plan (“1998 Plan”) under which employees, consultants and
non-employee directors may be granted stock options and restricted stock for up to 25,000,000 shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock. Stock option awards and restricted stock awards under the 1998 Plan generally vest ratably over
three years based on continuous service. Restrictions on restricted stock awards lapse as vesting occurs. Stock option awards
are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant and expire
no later than ten years from the date of grant. At December 31, 2006, there were 230,598 shares available under the 1998
Plan for future grant.

In May 2000, the Company adopted the XM Talent Option Plan (“Talent Plan™) under which non-employee programming
consultants to the Company may be granied siock options for up to 500,000 shares of the Company's Class A common stock,
which shares are reserved under the Talent Plan. Stock option awards under the Talent Plan generally vest ratably over three
years based on continuous service. These stock option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the
market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant and expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. At
December 31, 2006, there were 340,000 options available under the Talent Plan for future grant.

Stock Options — The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model based on the following weighted average assumptions;

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Expected dividend yield *© .. oo oo 0% . e 0% e - . 0%
Expected volatility (1) 42% 10 52% 39% to 47% 83%
Risk-free interest rate 2y . . 4.59% 10 5.10%.  3.32%104.33%  2.79% to 3.93%
Expected term (3) 6 Years 5 Years 5 Years

(1) As of January 1, 2005, the Company changed its methed to measure volatility from historic volatility 1o implied volatility, Expected volatilities
are based on implied volatilities from publicly traded options on the Company’s stock.

(2) The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual term of the stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant.

(3) The expected term for 2006 is calculated as the average between the vesting term and the contractual term, weighted by tranche, pursuant to SAB
107,
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A summary of the status of the Company’s aggregate stock option awards under the 1998 Plan and the Talent Plan as of
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is presented below:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average Aggrogate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Exercise Contractual Term Value
Shares Price (Years) (in thousands)
[Qgtstanding,lanuary]LZOM : 11,965,038 $ital - ’;J;']
Granted 4,945,285 $23.86
| Exercised . I T (1531458)  S1la7 o b
Forfeited, cancelled or expired (692,704)  $12.75
ig)lnstan‘ding, December 31, 2004 14,686,161  $15.37 s e RS -]
Granted 2,019,505 $29.21
|~ Exescised - (1L793.278) 81037 . e e |
Forfeited, cancelled or expired (343,376)  $21.36
Outstanding, December 31, 2005 T 14569012 $178L . . o
Granted 2,764,249 $18.34
| Exercised ©00,017)  $ 753 . o, e i i
Forfeited, cancelled or expired (838,810)  $26.76
Outstanding, December 31,2006 T 1589443 - SI781 - 668 . $36337 |
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2006 15,603,878 $17.81 6.68 $35,673
Exercisable, December 31,2006 - . . . ... 10922,126"° $1589" "~ - 58417 - $34.910|

The per share weighted-average fair value of stock option awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 was $9.36, $12.83 and $16.08, respectively, on the date of grant. The total intrinsic value on the date of exercise of
stock option awards exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $7.2 million, $37.0 million
and $30.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, there was $34.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to stock option awards granted under the 1998 Plan and Talent Plan. The weighted-average period over which the

compensation expense for these awards is expected to be recognized was 1.56 years.
[

F-33




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC, AND SUBSIIMARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Restricted Stock — A summary of the status of the Company’s restricted stock as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is
presented below:

Weighted-Average

Grant Date
B X Shares . Fair Value
Nonvested, _Ja;;;ryji,éom e __,__.m.. } w__m_'_' R P ?v$“~ N
Granted 10,000 $26.97
L Vested - o -if T Y T - ] s ? ‘P ‘i = ‘—r ; _':’ g $ J_ ?:;:J
Forfeited — $
Nonvested, December 31, 2004 e * LT 100005 v $26.97 . |
Granted N 865,627 $28.90
| - Vested - e T T T T $96.97.
Forfeited {45,000) $32.13
’Non\}ested, December 31, 2005 - _4” ::.w - M_:__,_V " TR27294 ¢ §28.TT %
Granted 3,036,877 $17.83
Vested . i - 0o ot sl R T 501062) . $27.83 - 1
Forfeited {182,750) $24.96
lI,\Torl"vesti-idj December 31,2006 - -~ - ““._ Ao Dov 3390359 < $19.27 ]

The fair value of each restricted stock award is the market value, as determined by the last sale price of the Company’s
Class A common stock on The NASDAQ National Market, of the stock as if it were vested and issued on the grant date. As
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were $49.3 million and $18.0 million, respectively, of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to restricted stock granted under the 1998 Plan. The December 31, 2006 unrecognized
compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.36 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 1999, the Company established an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) that, as amended, provides for the issuance of
1,000,000 shares. All employees whose customary employment is more than 20 hours per week and for more than five
months in any calendar year are eligible to participate in the stock purchase plan, provided that any employee who would
own 5% or more of the Company’s total combined voting power immediately after an offering date under the ESPP is not
eligible 1o participate. Eligible employees must authorize the Company to deduct an amount from their pay during offering
periods established by the compensation committee. The purchase price for shares under the plan will be determined by the
compensation committee but may not be less than 85% of the lesser of the market price of the common stock on the first or
last business day of each offering period, a *‘look-back option.”

Under the provisions of SFAS 123R, the Company’s ESPP is considered a compensatory plan due to the greater than 5%
discount and the “lock-back option.” Effective January 1, 2006, the Company began recognizing compensation cost related
to the ESPP. Compensation expense recognized pursuant to the ESPP is not material to the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company had issued a curnulative total of 717,041, 616,745 and
570,311 shares, respectively, under this plan. The weighted-average grant date fair value for shares issued during the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $13.02, $26.27 and $23.79, respectively, per share. The remaining shares
available for issuance under the ESPP at December 31, 2006 were 282,959.

(13) Profit Sharing and Employee Savings Plan

On July 1, 1998, the Company adopted a profit sharing and employee savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. This plan allows eligible employees to defer the maximum percentage of their compensation allowable under

F-34




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

law on a pre-tax basis through contributions to the savings plan. ‘The Company contributed $0.50 in 2006, 2005 and 2004 for
every $1.00 the employees contributed up to 6% of compensation, which amounted to $1.7 million, $1.2 million and $0.8'
million, respectively. :

(14) Related Party Transactions

The Company developed strategic relationships with certain companies that were instrumental in the constiuction and
development of its system. In connection with the Company granting to them large supply contracts, some of these strategic
companies have become large investors in XM and have been granted rights to designate directors or observers to XM’s
board of directors. The negotiation of these supply contracts and investments primarily occurred at or prior to the time these
companies became related parties.

The Company is a party to a long-term distribution agreement with General Motors that provides for the installation of XM
radios in General Motors vehicles, as further described in Note 17. The Company has an agreement with GM to make
available use of the Company’s bandwidth. The Company has arrangements with American Honda relating to the: promotion
of the XM Service to new car buyers, the use of bandwidth on the XM System and the development of telematics services
and technologies. As of December 31, 2006, the Company is engaged in activities with GM and Honda to jointly promote
new car buyers to subscribe to the XM service. Subscriber revenues received from GM and Honda for these programs are
recorded as related party revenue. GM is one of the Company’s shareholders and Chester A. Huber, Jr., the President of
OnStar Corporation, a subsidiary of General Motors, is 2 member of the Company’s board of directors, John W. Mendel, a
member of the Company's board of directors, is Senior Vice President, automobile operations of American Haonda Motor
Co., Inc.

The Company had the following related party balances at December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

Due from Prepaid expense Due to
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
GV ad . e v § 8149  $6957  $227,658  $59,561 - $44.075. $114,283
Honda 5842 1,672 — 5000 1,484 369
[ Towl . - $13.991  $8.629  $227,658  S64,561  $46459 _ $114,65)

The Company earned the following total revenue, primarily consisting of subscriptions, in connection with salzs to related
parties described above (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
$27412  $27,580.. 21374
17,159 10957 6,869

S T gaasT1 $38531 828243

The Company has relied upon certain related parties for technical, marketing and other services. The Company has incurred
the following costs in transactions with the related parties described above (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
GM Honda GM Honda GM Honda
R e i $5000 § _ —  $5000 § . o, $9.57
Customer care & billing operations 149 —- 242 — 363 —
Marketing % LT 04087 L 2,600 205837 1,782: 158997 R
Total $224236 $7.600 $206,079 $6,782  $159,360  $9.579

F-35




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

GM — In 1999, the Company established a distnbution agreement with GM (see Note 17). Under the terms of the
agreement, GM distributes the XM Radio Service in various models of its vehicles. This agreement was amended in June
2002 and January 2003 and continues to be clarified as XM’'s business operations and working relationship with GM
continues to evolve.

Honda — The Company has arrangements with Honda relating to the promotion of the XM service 10 new buyers, the use of
bandwidth on the XM system and the development of telematics services and technologies.

In addition to the aforementioned related parties, the Company has transactions with an equity method investee, XM Canada,
which are more fully discussed in Note 7.

(15) Income Taxes

The (benefit frem) provision for the income taxes included in the Consclidated Statements of Qperations is as follows (in
thousands):

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Current taxes:

( Federal T $— 5 — 5 — |

State — — —

! Total cureenttaxes " — = =1

Deferred taxes:

[ Federal ' T Y 2,003 . . 23,486 |
State 2) 327 3,831

[ Total deferred taxes -~ IR (14) 2330 . ' 27317 ]
Total tax (benefit) expense 5(14) $2,330 $27,317

A reconciliation of the statutory tax (benefit) expense, assuming all income is taxed at the statutory rate applicable to the
income and the actual tax (benefit) expense is as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,
2606 2005 2004

rlet loss before income taxes, as reported in the consolidated siatements R

of operatiofis © , ‘ . . $(718,886) " $(664,385) 1 5(615,051)
Theoretical tax benefit on the above amount at 35% (251,610)  (232,535)  (215,268)
State tax, net of federal benefit — - i (25,161) (23.253) 7 (21,527)]
Increase in taxes resulting from permanent differences, net 39,302 21,351 53,659
Change in'valuation allowance "~ C - ' 237455 236,767 210,453}
Taxes on income for the reported year $ (i) $ 2330 % 27317

The tax (benefit) expense results from the following required adjustments to the Company’s valuation allowance (in
thousands):

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
IndeTinite-lived assets (DARS license] ’ ‘ 2312 7.330 37317 ]
Currency translation adjustment from investment in XM Canada
included in other comprehensive income (2.326) — —
[Fax expense.(benefit) on income for ihe reported yéar § U4 §I330 827317
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same period. Accordingly,
y does not expect to settle
{

allowance in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively related to the indefinite lived asset. The Compan
this liability in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred income tax consists of future tax assets (liabilities) attributable to the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2606 2005

Deferred tax assets — current:

b5 Defertedrevenue —EXM Service- oy it 1y, N R A T R Ny L
Deferred revenue — CSR 3,817

[ Other deferred tax assots — QUirent: ¢ Corwan 1 18 T of b 2 3F gl g ey B e i R 10T

§:106.258+ ]

Gross total deferred tax assets — current 140,098 114,654
Valuation allowance for deferréd-tax assets L Curment o A s TR TR TR R (139,647 )7 ELEE 5290

Net deferred tax assets — current 451 1,125

Deferred tax assets — noncurrent:
[ %~ Netoperating.lpsé/other tax attribute camyovers:. T T oty T S Y790,09 155 k61 340
Book expenses capitalized and amortized for tax purposes 97,170 91,873
(7% Defertod revenue.— XM Servive: i« foiat F R ot T O 33206 . 376067
Deferred revenue — CSR 50,350 54,313
o e 8 TORER 43,560
2,958 24,142

[ Propeny, Coulpmment 4nd property: dnder COnSIMCHON 11 fog s
Deferred interest expense

[ oan TDACIng oM. - oo 1 st oat o GTal s L0
Stock-based compensation 24,895 —

O A RS G RN ) [T BB LY |
Other deferred tax assets 33,556 22,583

R B TSR B 5|

¥

7T Gross total-deferred tax fssets ~-snoncurrent, . - % o Sy o LS
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets — noncurrent (1,134,809) (930,425}

4 T TR S
I gt SRR

et deforred (A% aSsbts - MONCHITERt 4. Lot 1 5 otk

ToF vah TTOR Tt ehy

Net deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities:

FRuDARS licendes o7 s e "7 Tara e

Intangible assets

R R AR AL SR T A
WorldSpace investment

[T Net defeired tax Habilitiess =, .~ i 0 -
Deferred income tax, net $ (31,957 § (33,393)

e TSR e B O
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The Company offsets the non-current net deferred tax asset against the non-current deferred tax liability in Other non-current
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net deferred tax asset — current is included in Prepaid and other current
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had accumulated net operating losses (“NOL”) of $2,065.1 million for Federal income
tax purposes that are available to offset future regular taxable income; $10.7 million of this NOL is not recorded as a deferred
tax asset as the tax deductions related to stock-based compensation will be recognized as an increase to Additional paid-in
capital when realized. These operating loss carryforwards expire between the years 2013 and 2026. Some of these net
operating losses are subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 for loss limitations because there have been significant
changes in the stock ownership of the Company.

In assessing whether the Company will realize a benefit from the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.

(16) Supplemental Cash Flows Disclosures

The Company paid $67.1 million, $40.5 million and $5.1 million for interest, net of amounts capitalized to System under
construction of $22.3 million, $24.1 million and $31.8 million, during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Additionally, the Company incurred the following non-cash financing and investing activities (in thousands);

Years ended December 31,
2005 2004

0% $30.360° - $:92.800

lAcerued systcm construcuon costs

Conversion of 10% senior secured discount convertible notes due 2009 to
Class A common stock 146,649 55,991 176,698

L AE04790 1 04 15450 E 66,274

Non cash'loss from’ de—leveragmg transacnons :

Write-off of deferred ﬁnancmg costs to equity in connection with the
conversion of 10% semor secured dlscount convertible notes due 2009

e

Dlscount on debt 5 secunch '

Property acqmred through capnal leases

iAssumptlon of debt on puuhase of bmldmg ;

Issuance of warrants for satellite contract ' —

Issuarice of warrants for deferred financing fegs
Receipt of Canadian Satellite Radio stock = 152, 054 =

{17) Commitments and Contingencies
DARS Licenses

The Company’s DARS license is valid for eight years upon successful launch and orbital insertion of the satellites and can be
extended by the FCC. The DARS license requires that the Company comply with a construction and launch schedule
specified by the FCC for each of the first two authorized satellites, which has occurred. The FCC has the authority to revoke
the authorizations and in connection with such revocation could exercise its authority to rescind the Company’s license. The
Company believes that the exercise of such authority to rescind the license is unlikely. The Company has requested and
received FCC authority to launch additional satellites for use in its system and believes that future requests would likely be
approved. In January 2005, the FCC granted the Company’s request to launch and operate XM-3 and XM-4 and to collocate
XM-1 with XM-2 at the 115° West Longitude orbital location. In February 2005, XM-3 was successfully launched and
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moved into the 85° West Longitude orbital location, and in October 2006, XM-4 was successfully launched and moved into '
the 115° West Longitude orbital location to mitigate the issues with XM-1 and XM-2.

The FCC has not yet issued final rules permitting the Company to deploy its terrestrial repeaters to fill gaps in satellite
coverage. The Company is operating its repeaters on a non-interference basis pursuant to a grant of special temporary .
authority from the FCC. This grant originally expired March 18, 2002; however, on March 11, 2002, the Comparny applied
for an extension of this special temporary authority and the Company can continue to operate its terrestrial repeaters pursuant |
to the special temporary authority pending a final determination on this extension request. This authority is currently being
challenged by operators of terrestrial wireless systems who have asserted that the Company’s repeaters may cause
interference. The Company has certain matters before the FCC, which are discussed below under the heading “F.egulatory “
Matters and Inguiries—Federal Communications Commission.”
|
Technology Licenses |
Effective January 1, 1998, the Company entered into a technology licensing agreement with Motient and WorldSpace -
Management Corporation (“WorldSpace MC”) by which as compensation for certain licensed technology then under !
development to be used in the XM Radio System, the Company pays certain amounts to WorldSpace MC. The actual
amounts to be incurred under this agreement are dependent upon further development of the technology, which is at the
Company's option. The agreement includes provisions for sharing certain costs related to the further development of
technology and for royalty payments from the Company to WorldSpace MC. At December 31, 2006 and 2005 the Company
had recorded an accrual, including interest of $2.0 million and $3.1 million, respectively, payable to WorldSpace MC for !
royalty payments.

Satellite System

Satellite Deployment Plan — The Company currently operates four satellites in-orbit. It launched its first two satellites, !
XM-1 and XM-2 in the first half of 2001 prior to the commencement of commercial operations. These satellites suffer from a
progressive solar array power degradation issue that is common to the first six Boeing 702 class satellites in orbit — XM-2‘
and XM-1 were the fifth and sixth Boeing 702s launched. In February 2005, the Company launched XM-3. XM-3 was placed
into one of the Company’s orbital slots and beginning in April 2005 is being used to transmit the XM service. During the
second quarter of 2005, the Company collocated XM-1 with XM-2 in the other orbital slot. The Company successfully,
Jaunched its fourth satellite (*XM-4") into geosynchronous transfer orbit on October 30, 2006, which was handed over to the.
Company in December 2006 and is being used to transmit the XM service. XM-1 and XM-2 now function as in-orbit spares.’
During the second quarter of 2005, XM entered into a contract to construct a fifth and spare satellite, (“XM-5"), expected to,
be completed by late 2007 or early 2008 for use as a ground spare or to be available for launch as needed.

- I
Satellite Contracts and Other Costs: XM-1, XM-2, XM-3, XM-4 and XM-5 — As of December 31, 2006, the Company has.
paid approximately $869.8 million, including manufacturing and launch costs, financing charges, in-orbit p:rforma.nce:
incentives and additional costs for collocation, under the satellite contracts related to XM-1, XM-2, XM-3, XM-4 and XM-5.'
The Company originally entered into its satellite contract with Boeing Satellite Systems International, Inc. (“BSS™") in March’
1998, and has subsequently amended the contract, including most recently in July 2006. Under the satellite contract, BSS hag
delivered four satellites in-orbit, XM-1, XM-2, XM-3 and XM-4, supplied ground equipment and software used in the XM
Radio system and provided certain launch and operations support services. In August 2003, XM contracted with Sea Launch
Company, LLC (“Sea Launch”) for the associated launch services for the XM-4 satellite, and in September 2006, the
Company exercised an option in the Sea Launch contract for launch services for XM-5. In June 2005, the Company awarded
a contract to Space Systems/Loral (“*SS/L”) for the design and construction of its fifth satellite, XM-5. Construction of XM-5
is expected to be completed by late 2007 or early 2008. |

XM-3 — In February 2005, the Company launched its XM-3 satellite. XM-3 was modified to cormect the solar array
degradation issues experienced by XM-1 and XM-2, as well as to optimize XM-3 for the specific orbital slot into which it
has been placed. As of December 31, 2006, with respect to XM-3, the Company had deferred payment of constniction costs
of $15 million at an interest rate of 8% up until January 2007 at which time it was paid to BSS. BSS has the right to eamn

F-39

1
i




XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

performance incentive payments of up to $25.9 million, excluding interest, based on the in-orbit performance of XM-3 over
its design life of fifteen years. The Company has in-orbit insurance relating to XM-3 through February 2008.

XM-4 — Under its contracts with BSS and Sea Launch, the Company has committed to pay a total of $184.3 million for
XM-4 and the associated launch services, excluding in-orbit performance incentives and financing charges on certain
amounts deferred prior to launch. As of December 31, 2006, satellite construction and launch costs aggregating $184.3
million had been incurred, of which $183.8 million has been paid and $0.5 miltion was due and subsequently paid in
February 2007.

Afier launch of XM-4 on October 30, 2006, BSS has the right to earn performance incentive payments of up to $12 million,
plus interest, over the first twelve years of in-orbit life, up to $7.5 million for high performance (above baseline
specifications} during the first fifteen years of in-orbit life, and up to $10 million for continued high performance across the
five year period beyond the fifteen year design life. The Company has launch plus one year of in-orbit insurance for XM-4
and five years of in-orbit insurance for a portion of XM-4. These policies run concurrently.

XM-5 — During the second quarter of 2005, XM entered into a contract with SS/L to construct a spare satellite. Upon the
award of the contract, SS/L. began construction of the XM-5 satellite. Approximately two years before, on July 15, 2003,
SS/L., its parent, Loral Space & Communications Ltd. and certain other affiliated entities (collectively, the “Debtors™)
commenced voluntary Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases under the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for
the Southern District of New York (the “Court™), which cases are being jointly administered under lead case number
03-41710. Pursuant to an order entered on July 20, 2005, the Court approved the Company’s contract with SS/L. On
August 1, 2005, the Court entered an order confirming the Debtors” Fourth Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (the *Reorganization Plan”). The Reorganization Plan became effective on
November 21, 2005. Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s contract with SS/L, the Company is required to make
construction payments on XM-5 into an escrow account until the occurrence of an “Emergence Date” as defined in the
contract. Although the contractualiy-defined “Emergence Date” has not occurred, XM has authorized the escrow agent to
release certain escrowed funds to SS/I. to cover SS/L’s costs incurred as is reasonably necessary for SS/L to continue
performing work under the contract. As of December 31, 2006, with respect to XM-5, the Company has paid $40.0 million
and deferred payment of construction costs of $64.9 million. The deferral is included in Accrued satellite liability, and bears
interest of 8%. The deferred construction payment and accrued interest was paid in full in February 2007.

GM Distribution Agreement

‘The Company has a long-term distribution agreement with General Motors. The agreement had been assigned by GM to its
subsidiary OnStar, but was assigned back to GM in June 2006. During the term of the agreement, which expires twelve years
from the commencement date of the Company’s commercial operations in 2001, GM has agreed to distribute the service to
the exclusion of other S-band satellite digital radio services. The agreement was amended in June 2002 and January 2003 to
clarify certain terms in the agreement, including extending the dates when certain initial payments were due to GM and
confirming the date of the Company’s commencement of commercial operations, and to provide that the Company could
make certain payments to GM in shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company’s total cash payment
obligations were not increased. Under the distribution agreement, the Company is required to make a subscriber acquisition
payment to GM for each person who becomes and remains an XM subscriber through the purchase of a GM vehicle.

In April 2006, the Company amended the distribution agreement pursuant to which the Company made a prepayment in May
2006 in the amount of $237 million to General Motors to retire at a discount approximately $320 million of the remaining
fixed payment obligations that would have come due in 2007, 2008, and 2009. The April 2006 amendments eliminated the
Company's ability to make up to $35 million of subscriber acquisition payments in shares of the Company's Class A
common stock. In addition, the Company’s credit facility with General Motors was increased from $100 million to $150
million. The facility will terminate, and all draws will become due, upon the earlier of December 31, 2009 and six months
after the Company achieves investment grade status. The amendments also provide that the security arrangements on the GM
facility will be unsecured until the first draw under the new credit facility and then secured on a second priority basis behind
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the secured indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the new credit facility. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has
$26.0 million of current prepaid expense to related party and $149.6 million of non-current prepaid expense to related party
in connection with the guaranteed fixed payments, as the result of a prepayment of $237 million to GM in May 2006.

In order 1o encourage the broad installation of XM radios in GM vehicles, the Company has agreed to subsidize a portion of
the cost of XM radios, and to make incentive payments to GM when the owners of GM vehicles with installed >M radios
become subscribers to the Company’s service. The Company must also share with GM a percentage of the subscription
revenue attributable to GM vehicles with installed XM radios, which percentage increases until there are more than eight
million GM vehicles with installed XM radios (at which point the percentage remains constant). Accordingly, the revenue
share expense is recognized as the related subscription revenue is earned. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has $40.9
million of current prepaid expense to related party and $11.1 million of non-current prepaid expense to related party in
connection with this revenue sharing arrangement. As part of the agreement, GM provides certain call-center related services
directly to XM subscribers who are also GM customers for which the Company must reimburse GM. The agicement is
subject to remegotiation at any time based upon the installation of radios that are compatible with a common receiver
platform or capable of receiving Sirius Satellite Radio’s service. The agreement was subject lo renegotiation if as of
November 2005, and will be subject to remegotiation at two-year intervals thereafter, if GM did or does not achieve and
maintain specified installation levels of GM vehicles capable of receiving the Company's service. The specified installation
jevel of 1,240,000 units by November 2005 was achieved in 2004. The specified installation levels in future years are the
lesser of 600,000 units per year or amounts proportionate to target market shares in the satellite digital radio service market.
There can be no assurances as to the outcome of any such renegotiations. GM's exclusivity obligations will discontinue if, by
November 2007 and at two-year intervals thereafter, the Company fails to achieve and maintain specified minimum market
share levels in the satellite digital radio service market. The Company was significantly exceeding the minimum levels at
December 31, 2006. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company incurred total costs of $224.2
million, $206.1 million and $159.4 million, respectively, under the distribution agreement.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is currently subject to claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or party to legal proceedings, in
various matters described below. In addition, in the ordinary course of business the Company becomes aware from time to
time of claims, potential claims, inquiries or investigations, or may become party to legal proceedings arising out of various
matters, such as contract matters, employment related matters, issues relating to its repeater network, product liability issues,
copyright, patent, trademark or other intellectual property matters and other federal regulatory matters. '

Litigation and Arbitration

Securities class action — A consolidated action is pending in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on
behalf of a purported nationwide class of purchasers of the Company’s common stock between July 28, 2005 and
February 16, 2006 against the Company and its chief executive officer. The complaint, as amended in September 2006, seeks
an unspecified amount of damages and claims violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, alleging various statements made during the putative class period by the Company and its
management failed to project accurately or disclose in a timely manner the amount of higher costs to obtain subscribers
during the fourth quarter of 2005. The Company has filed a motion to dismiss this matter.

The Company believes the allegations are without merit, and intends to vigorously defend this matter. There can be no
assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s business, consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

Atlantic Recording Corporation, BMG Music, Capital Records, Inc., Elekira Entertainment Group Inc., interscope Records,
Motown Record Company, L.P., Sony BMG Music Entertainment, UMG Recordings, Inc., Virgin Records, Inc and Warner
Bros. Records Inc. v. XM Satellite Radio Inc. — Plaintiffs filed this action in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York on May 16, 2006, The complaint seeks monetary damages and equitable relief, alleging: that recently
introduced XM radios that also have MP3 functionality infringe upon plaintiffs’ copyrighted sound recordings. The
Company’s motion to dismiss this matter was denied in January 2007.
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The Company believes these allegations are without merit and that these products comply with applicable copyright law,
including the Audio Home Recording Act, and intends to vigorously defend the matter. There can be no assurance regarding
the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s business, consolidated results of operations
or financial position.

Matthew Enderlin v. XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. and XM Satellite Radio Inc. — Plaintiff filed this action in the United
States District Court for the Eastern District of Arkansas on January 10, 2006 on behalf of a purported nationwide class of all
XM subscribers. The complaint alleges that the Company engaged in a deceptive trade practice under Arkansas and other
state laws by representing that its music channels are commercial-free. The Company has filed an answer to the complaint,
and instituted arbitration with the American Arbitration Association pursuant to the compulsory arbitration clause in its
customer service agreement. The arbitration has been stayed pending judicial determination whether a court or the arbitrator
decides arbitrability. The matter is currently pending before the United States Court of Appeals for the Eight Circuit from the
denial of a stay by the district court. The Company believes the suit is without merit and intends to vigorously defend the
matter. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to the Company’s
business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.

Copyright Royalty Board Arbitration — The Company is participating in a Copyright Royaity Board {CRB) proceeding in
order to set the royalty rate payable by the Company under the statutory license covering its performance of sound recordings
over the XM system for the six year period starting in January 2007. The Company and SIRIUS have recently filed their
direct cases with the CRB proposing a rate of 0.88% of each of their adjusted gross revenues for this statutery license,
SoundExchange, a collective operated on behalf of owners of copyrighted recordings, such as the major record labels, has
filed a direct case proposing a rate increasing from 10% of adjusted gross revenues for the first year of the license increasing
each year to over 23% during the final year of the license term; their requested guaranteed minimums could result in a rate in
excess of the foregoing percentages. The Company is also participating in a concurrent proceeding to set the royalty rate
payable by the Company under the statutory license covering its performance of sound recordings over XM channels
transmitted over the DIRECTV satellite television system. The Company anticipates that hearings in these matters will 1ake
place in early 2007, and that the CRB will render its decision by the end of 2007. There can be no assurance regarding the
ultimate outcome of these matters, or their significance to the Company’s business, consolidated resuits of operations or
financial position.

Satellite Insurance Settlement Update — In July 2004, the Company reached agreement with insurers covering 80% of the
aggregate sum insured in connection with the progressive solar array power degradation issue that is common to the first six
Boeing 702 class satellites put in orbit (XM-2 and XM-1 were the fifth and sixth Boeing 702s Iaunched). The settlement was
at a rate equal to 44.5% of the proportionate amount covered by each of these insurers, representing a total recovery of
approximately $142 million from these insurers. The Company was notified that it was not successful in its arbitration claim
against the remaining insurers, and will not receive any further insurance proceeds with regard to this issue. The result of this
arbitration did not affect the July 2004 agreements with respect to the 80% of the aggregate sum insured.

Regulatory Matters and Inquiries
Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”)

FCC Receiver Matter — As the Company has previously disclosed, it has received inquiries from, and responded to, the
Federal Communications Commission regarding FM modulator wireless transmitters in various XM radios not in compliance
with permissible emission limits. No health or safety issues have been involved with these wireless XM radios.

The Company has implemented a series of design and installation modifications, and through October 2006, the Company
obtained new certifications for six models of modified XM radios using its new SureConnect technology. In addition, the
Company has implemented a regulatory compliance plan, including the appointment of an FCC regulatory compliance
officer, to menitor FCC regulatory compliance, specifically with reference to the design, verification/certification, and
production of XM radio receivers.
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The Company has been submitting documents to the FCC and is in discussions with the FCC to resolve this matter. The
Company cannot predict at this time the extent of any further actions thai it will need to undertake or any financial
obligations it may incur.

There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to the Company’s business,
consolidated results of operations or financial position.

FCC Repeater Network Matter — The Company has recently filed for both a 30-day Special Temporary Authority (STA)
and a 180-day STA with respect to its terresirial repeater network. The Company is seeking authority to continue to operate
its entire repeater network despite the fact that the characteristics of certain repeaters, as built, differ from the submitted data
in the original STAs granted for its repeater network. These differences include some repeaters not being built in the exact
locations, or with the same antenna heights, power levels, or antenna characteristics than set forth in the earlier STAs. Prior
to making these recent filings, the Company reduced the power or discontinued operation of certain repeaters. As a result, the
Company believes that service quality in portions of the affected metro areas has been somewhat reduced, includiag in terms
of more frequent interruptions and/or occasional outages 10 the service. There has been no impact on the satellite signal. The
Company has recently held meetings with the staff of the FCC regarding these matters. In February 2007, the Company
received a letter of inquiry from the FCC relating to these matters. This proceeding may result in the imposition of financial
penalties against the Company or adverse changes to the Company’s repeater network resulting from having repeaters turned
off or otherwise modified in a manner that would reduce service quality in the affected areas. There can be no assurance
regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or its significance to the Company’s business, consolidated results of
operations or financial position.

These recent STA requests are distinct from (and if granted would modify) the STAs originally granted by the FCC relating
to the Company’s commencing and continuing operation of the repeater network. As the Company has been disclosing for
many years, the FCC has not yet issued final rules permitting the Company (or SIRIUS) to deploy terrestrial repeaters, and
the Company has been deploying and operating its repeater network based on those early STAs and requests th: Company
has filed previously to extend the time periods of those STAs, which have expired. The Company (and SIRIUS) and others
have been requesting that the FCC establish final rules for repeater deployment.

Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”™) :

FTC Inquiry — On April 25, 2006, the Company received a letter from the Federal Trade Commission stating that they are
conducting an inquiry into whether its activities are in compliance with various acts, including the FTC Act, the
Telemarketing Sales Rule, the Truth in Lending Act and the CAN-SPAM Act. This letter requests information about a
variety of the Company’s marketing activities, including free trial periods, rebates, telemarketing activities, billing and
customer complaints.

The Company has been submiiting documents to the agency in response to the letter and is cooperating fully with this
inquiry. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of this matter, or the significance, if any, to the
Company’s business, consolidated results of operations or financial position.

Securities and Exchange Commission {“SEC”)

SEC Inquiry — As previously disclosed, by letter dated August 31, 2006 and subsequent follow-up letters, the Staff of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) requested that the Company voluntarily provide documents to the Staff,
including information relating to its subscriber targets, costs associated with attempting to reach those targets during the third
and fourth quarters of 2005, the departure of Mr. Roberts from its board of directors, its historic practices regarding stock
options and certain other matters. In this connection, the Company retained outside counsel, who engaged an independent
accounting advisor, to conduct a review of its stock option practices. The inquiry did not reveal the existence of material
errors in any prior financial statements.
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The Company has been submitting documents to the SEC in response to their requests and is cooperating fully with this
inquiry. There can be no assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of these SEC matters, or the significance, if any, to the
Company’s business, consolidated resvlts of operations or financial position.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution Agreements

The Company has entered into various joint sales, marketing and distribution agreements. Under the terms of these
agreements, the Company is obligated to provide incentives, subsidies and commissions to other entities that may include
fixed payments, per-unit radio and subscriber amounts and revenue sharing arrangements. The amount of the operational,
promotional, subscriber acquisition, joint development, and manufacturing costs retated to these agreements cannot be
estimated, but future costs are expected to be substantial, During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the
Company incurred expenses of $176.4 million, $198.8 million, and $94.5 million respectively, in relation to these
agreements, excluding the GM distribution agreement.

Programming Agreements

The Company has entered into various programming agreements. Under the terms of these agreements, the Company is
obligated to provide payments to other entities that may include fixed payments, advertising commitments and revenue
sharing arrangements. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2003, and 2004, the Company incurred expenses of
$158.0 million, $90.8 million and $26.5 million, respectively, in relation to these agreements, The amount of these costs will
vary in future years, but is expected to increase in the next year as the number of subscribers and advertising revenue
increase.

The Company has a multi-year agreement with Major League Baseball® to broadcast MLLB games live nationwide, The
Company paid $30 million for the 2005 season, $60 million (which included $10 million paid in October 2004) for the 2006
season and will pay $60 million per year thereafter through 2012. MLB has the option to extend the agreement for the 2013,
2014 and 2015 seasons at the same $60 million annual compensation rate. The Company will also make incentive payments
ta MLB for XM subscribers obtained through MLB and basebatl club verifiable promotional programs. No stock or warrants
were included in this agreement. The agreement requires the Company to deposit $120 million into escrow or furnish other
credit support in such amount. In July 2006, the Company furnished a $120 million surety bond to MLB as part of an
amendment to the agreement with MLB that permitted the Company to provide various types of credit support in lieu of its
$120 million escrow deposit requirement.

Royalty Agreements

The Company has entered into fixed and variable revenue share payment agreements with performance rights organizations
that generally expired at the end of 2006. The Company is participating in a Copyright Royalty Board proceeding in order to
set the royalty rate payable by the Company under the statutory license covering our performance of sound recordings over
the XM system for the six year period starting in January 2007. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
the Company incurred expenses of $37.5 million, $22.0 millicn and $13.7 millien, respectively, in relation to these
agreements.

Joint Development Agreement

Under the terms of a joint development agreement with SIRIUS Radio, the other holder of an FCC satellite radio license,
each party is obligated to fund one half of the development cost for a common receiver platform for satellite radios. Pursuant
to the joint development agreement, in November of 2003, XM and SIRIUS formed a limited liability company for this
purpose. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company incurred costs of $1.0 million, $1.3
million and $0.9 million, respectively, in relation to this agreement, These costs are being expensed as incurred in research
and development.
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Leases

The Company has noncancelable operating leases for terrestrial repeater sites, office space, and software, and noncancelable .
capital leases for equipment that expire over the next fifteen years, Additionally, the Company owns several buildings and .
leases a portion of the space to other entities. The future minimum lease payments and rentals under noncancelable Jeases as

of December 31, 2006 are (in thousands):
Capital Operating

Lease Lease Rerita)
Years ending December 31, Payments Payments Income
L2007 el T T T 15973 s1g6t4 B 1559 ‘
2008 12,071 16,507 1,520 ,
- T e T S S e ; ey
L 2000 - e L e 5147 16427 1,469 |
2010 3,079 13618 1,467 1
™ — = = y A o 1
T A S S S USSP . 3,622~ 1,467 '
Thereafter — 4,512 10,634 ‘
T el e e e LT 31855 $73300 SIENlG
Less amount representing interest (4,144) :
e 3T 3 M . inliseaainin A hnrerhdin et e ""‘“—"‘""‘——“"’""} |
Present value of net minimum lease payments _ « -~ - " 7 o T Ti 33,711
: T L LR ‘
(13,882)

Less current maturities

g e e e e g e

Long:term obligations,, -+, 5. Lol T L e 319829 |

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $23.2 million, $19.9 million, and $17.8 million, ‘

respectively.
i

Customer Service Providers

The Company has entered into agreements with service providers for customer care functions to subscribers of its service.'
Employees of these service providers have access to the Company's customer care systems to establish customer accounts,
activate radios, update program and account information and respond to general inquires from subscribers. The Company
pays its service provider an hourly rate for each customer care representative supporting its subscribers. During the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company incurred $50.7 million, $29.7 million and $21.5 million,
respectively, in relation to services provided for customer care functions. ) l

(18) Quarterly Data

{

2006
1st 2nd 3rd 4th

{Unaudited, in thousands except per share amounis) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenues -~ - .o . - T T S 207.066 -5 227,886 . $240444 S 257,121 |
Operating loss (100,796)  (101,656) (60,760) (139,886)
NetLoss -~ . . - ToeeE L e e (149221 (229,109) (83,819, 256,723}

(231,678)  (85453) (263,191)

Net Joss attributable to common stockholders (151,370)
’ 8. o3, (oo

Net 16ss per common share — basic and diluted” ~. © - " - . C(0.60)
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2005
1st 2nd 3rd dth

{Unaudited, in thousands except per share amounts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenues | N G $102,565  $ 125454 $ 153,112 $ 177,135 |
Operating loss (105,280)  (127,095)  (109,533) (213,627
| o T - T . b T N
Net Loss L (119.902) _ (146,619)  (131,869) (268,325)]
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (122,051) (148,769) (134,018) (270,474)
[ . : ¥ - . .
Net loss per common’share — basic and diluted ; (0.58) - (0.70) (0.60) (I.QE

(19) Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

The Company has certain series of debt securities outstanding that are guaranteed by Holdings and two of the Company’s
subsidiaries, XM Equipment Leasing LL.C, which owns certain terrestrial repeaters, and XM Radio Inc. These guarantees are
full and unconditional and joint and several. Inc. is owned 100% by Holdings, while XM Equipment Leasing LL.C and XM
Radio Inc. are owned 100% by Inc. Accordingly, the Company provides the following condensed consolidating financial

information.
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XM SATELLITE RADIO HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(20) Subsequent Events

Sale-leaseback Transaction

On February 13, 2007, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to the transponders on the XM-4
satellite, which was launched in October 2006 and placed into service during December 2006. The Company received net
proceeds of $288.5 million from the transaction, of which $44 millior (inclusive of interest) was used to retire outstanding
mortgages on real property and the remainder of which provides additional liquidity available for working capital and general
Corporate purposes.

Summary af the Transaction. Under the sale-leaseback arrangement, the Company sold the XM-4 transponders to a trust
owned by Satellite Leasing (702-4) LLC for $288.5 million, representing the fair market value based on an appraisal
performed by satellite consulting and lease appraisal firms. A portion of the purchase price for the XM-4 transponders was
financed by the equity owner of the sale-leaseback transaction, or owner participant.

XM Satellite Radio Inc., is leasing the transponders for a term of nine years with an early buy-out option in year five and a
buy-out option at the end of the term. The lease will be recorded as a capital lease. These lease payment obligations, which
are unconditional and guaranteed by XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc., are senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in
right of payment with existing and future senior unsecured obligations.

Throughout the term of the lease, at any time when the Company is not investment grade, the Company will provide to the
owner participant credit support sufficient to cover the stipulated loss value of the equity at that time. To provide this credit
support, the Company retired the existing mortgages on its headquarters and data center properties in Washington, D.C. and
put into place new mortgage liens on those properties in favor of the owner participant,

The Company will have full operational control over the transponders for the lease term, absent default. The Company will
continue to own the XM-4 satellite itself, subject to an obligation to sell the satellite to the lessor for a nominal sum in the
gvent that the Company does not repurchase the transponders at the end of the term.

The Company has an early buyout option in year five and a buy-out right at the end of the lease term, each at prices
representing the fair market value based on an appraisal performed by satellite consulting and lease appraisal firms. The
Company has other rights to purchase the transponders or the equity interest in the lessor. The Company also has rights to
cause the lessor to effect a refinancing of the notes, and any interest savings from the refinancing would result in reduced
lease payments.

The Company can be required to repurchase the transponders upon the occurrence of specified events, including an event of
loss of the satellite (subject to the right to substitute another satellite meeting equivalent or better valve and functionality
tests), changes in law that impose a material regulatory burden on the owner participant, changes of coatrol and events
resulting in the absence of another holder (other than the Company and its affiliates) of FCC satellite radio licenses in the
frequency bands that can be served by the XM-4 satellite. The Company has agreed to provide indemnities in the event the
owner participant shall lose or not be able to take certain tax positions relating 1o the transaction.

Planned Merger with Sirius Satellite Radio

On February 19, 2007, the Company and Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. (“SIRIUS™) entered into an Agreement and Plan of
Merger (the “Merger Agreement™), pursuant to which the Company and SIRIUS will combine their businesses through a
merger of the Company and a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of SIRIUS (the “Merger”),

Each of the Company and SIRIUS has made customary representations and warranties and covenants in the Merger
Agreement. The completion of the Merger is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of the
Company’s and SIRIUS’s stockholders and receiving certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (including from the Federal
Communications Commission and under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended).
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Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Charged to  Charged (o Write-offs/
(in thousands) Balance Costs and Other Payments/ ‘Balance
Description January 1, Expenses Accounts Other December 31,
2004 o
. Allowance for doubtfulaccounts .~ § 796 8 3218 % — $ (2463) $__ 1551
Deferred tax assets — valuation allowance 533,078 210,453 53,416 — 796,947
2005 e
" Allowance for doubtful accounts _ st sms — _(6M5) . 3722
Deferred tax assets — valuation allowance 796,947 236,767 10,240 — 1,043,954
2006 - e
. Allowance for doubtful accounts . 3,722 15223  — . (13999) 4948
Deferred tax assets — valuation allowance 1,043,954 237455 (6,953) — 1,274,456 '
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